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I. STATEMENTS BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS   

(according to article 4 par. 2 of L. 3556/2007) 

 

We 

1. George Peristeris, Chairman of the Board of Directors & Chief Executive Officer  

2. Apostolos Tamvakakis, Vice Chairman, Independent bƻƴπŜȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜ Member of the Board of 

Directors  

3. Constantinos Vavaletskos, Vice Chairman, Executive member of the Board of Directors  

 

STATE THAT 

To the best of our knowledge:  

a. The attached separate and consolidated Financial Statements of GEK TERNA SOCIETE ANONYME 

HOLDINGS REAL ESTATE CONSTRUCTIONS for the period from January 1st 2020 to December 31st 2020, 

prepared in accordance with the effective International Financial Reporting Standards reflect in true 

manner the Assets and Liabilities, the {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ 9ǉǳƛǘȅ  and the Total Comprehensive Income  of the 

Company, as well as of the companies included in the consolidation in aggregate,  and  

 

b. The Board ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ presents in true manner the developments, the performance and the 

position of the Company, as well as of the companies included in the consolidation in aggregate, 

including the description of main risks and uncertainties they are facing.  

 

Athens, April 27th 2021 

 

 Chairman of the BoD & 
Chief Executive Officer   

 

 

Georgios Peristeris  
 

            Vice Chairman                        Vice Chairman  

    Apostolos Tamvakakis                 Constantinos Vavaletskos  
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II. ANNUAL MANAGEMENT REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE FY 2020 ON THE 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS     

 

Dear Shareholders,  

Pursuant to the provisions of Law 4548/2018 as well as Law 3556/2007 article 4 paragraph 2c, 6,7 & 8 

of the decisions issued thereon 8/754/14.04.2019 of the Board of Directors of the Hellenic Capital 

aŀǊƪŜǘ /ƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǿŜ ŀǊŜ ƘŜǊŜōȅ ǎǳōƳƛǘǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ȅƻǳ ǘƘŜ 

Annual Report of the Board of Directors for the closing year from 01.01.2020 to 31.12.2020.   

¢Ƙƛǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ Ŏƻƴǘŀƛƴǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀƴŘ ƴƻƴπŦƛƴŀncial information regarding GEK TERNA Group, for 2020 and 

describes the most significant events that took place during as well as after the reporting period of the 

financial statements. Moreover, the report outlines the key risks and uncertainties the Group may face 

in 2021 and records significant transactions between the Company and its related parties.    

 

 

A. Financial Developments and Performance in FY 2020  

 

As a result of the rapid spread oŦ /h±L5πмф ŦǊƻƳ ƳƛŘπCŜōǊǳŀǊȅ нлнлΣ ƛƴ aŀǊŎƘ нлнлΣ ǘƘŜ ²ƻǊƭŘ IŜŀƭǘƘ 

Organization (WHO) declared the pandemic. In the context of public health protection, a lot of 

countries have adopted extraordinary, temporary and costly restrictive measures and - at the same 

time - many countries have required that companies should limit or even suspend their regular  

business operations.   

In particular, the Greek Government, in an effort to restrict disease cases and death rates low to the 

point, where a large percentage of the population could be vaccinated, has taken stricter measures 

than in other European countries, taking repeated restrictive measures in the segments of tourism, 

trade, catering and entertainment.    

Taking these restrictive measures to address the pandemic, has led to a significant decline in the 

domestic economic activity. In order to support the employees and the affected companies, the Greek 

Government applied fiscal measures through combined actions to safeguard employment and  

suspension of payments, i.e. measures that reduced the adverse impact on the real economy. All these 

restricted measures resulted in a recession in the Greek Economy of 8.2% for 2020, according to the 

Bank of Greece, while at the Eurozone level the economy recorded decrease by 6.6%. 

The global impact of the pandemic has resulted in the European Union being forced to approve Euro 

1,824 billion in funding to help its members deal with the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the 

European economy.  Greece is expected to raise Euro 72 billion, Euro 31 billion through Recovery and 

Resilience Facility (Euro 18 billion in the form of grants  and Euro 13 billion in the form of  loans) and  

Euro 40 billion through the Cohesion Fund NSRF for the period 2021-2027.   
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Section D, "Risks and Uncertainties" and in particular, the subsection (2) "Public Health Crisis caused 

by Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID-19) έ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ƴƴǳŀƭ wŜǇƻǊǘ, analytically present the effects of the 

/h±L5πмф ƘŜŀƭǘƘ ŎǊƛǎƛǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƳŀƧƻǊ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ǎŜƎƳŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΦ  

Despite the unfavourable environment, GEK TERNA Group, following its intense investment activity 

during the multi-year financial crisis, implemented its investment program seamlessly (mainly in the 

segments of Renewable Energy Sources and Concessions), as its capital structure remains strong, while 

its presence outside Greece remains significant (South East Europe, Middle East and USA).   

The main consolidated Financial Data for 2020 in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards compared to the corresponding financial data of 2019, are as follows:   

Turnover to third parties from continuing operations amounted to Euro 971 million, compared to Euro 

1,156 million in 2019, recording a decrease of 16% mainly due to the decline in Turnover in the 

Construction and Concessions Segment. 

EBITDA including non-cash items (adjusted EBITDA), amounted to Euro 306.3 million in 2020 and Euro 

285.1 million in 2019, recording an increase of 7.4%. 

Earnings before taxes from continuing operations amounted to Euro 71.4 million, compared to Euro 

77.8 million in 2019, decreased by 8.2%, adversely affected by increased financial expenses and 

changes in the valuations of financial instruments. 

Earnings after taxes and non-controlling interests amounted to Euro 12.5 million, compared to Euro 

23.5 million in 2019.  

!ǎ ŀǘ омΦмнΦнлнлΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ bŜǘ 5Ŝōǘ όŎŀǎƘ ŀƴŘ ŎŀǎƘ ŜǉǳƛǾŀƭŜƴǘǎ  ƭŜǎǎ ƭƻŀƴ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎύ ŀƳƻǳƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ 

approximately minus Euro 1,317 million, compared to minus Euro 1,437 million on 31.12.2019. This 

change is mainly due to the reduction in loan obligations of the Energy Operating Segment. 

!ǎ ŀǘ омΦмнΦнлнлΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ¢ƻǘŀƭ !ǎǎŜǘǎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ Euro 4,636 million, compared to Euro 4,309 

million on 31.12.2019. 

Section "B. Significant Events for the period 01.01  π  31.12.2020" analytically presents the significant 

events occurred within the period as well as the key financial performance of the operating segments.   

 

B. Significant events in FY 2020  

 

The following significant events took place in 2020:        

¶ In January 2020, the subsidiary TERNA S.A. received financing from banking institutions, totaling 

Euro 42 million, Euro 39 million of which has been allocated to the increase in the share capital of 

the affiliated company INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT OF HERAKLION CRETE S.A. based on the terms 

of the Concession Agreement. 

¶ GEK TERNA SA, as a member of INSPIRE ATHENS, was disclosed the decision of the independent 

ŀŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƛǾŜ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ άIŜƭƭŜƴƛŎ DŀƳƛƴƎ /ƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ όID/ύέΣ ŀƭƻƴƎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ aƛƴǳǘŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 
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Tender Committee for tƘŜ ŎƻƴŎŜǎǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀ ǿƛŘŜπǊŀƴƎŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ /ŀǎƛƴƻ hǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ [ƛŎŜƴǎŜ ό9Y!½ύ 

ƛƴ ǘƘŜ IŜƭƭƛƴƛƪƻƴ π !Ǝƛƻǎ YƻǎƳŀǎ aŜǘǊƻǇƻƭƛǘŀƴ tƻƭŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ŘŜŎƛǎƛƻƴ ǇŜǊǘŀƛƴǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

evaluation phase of the Bidders' Entry Documents. Under the aforementioned decisions, (as 

announced in the official Press Release of the HGC issued on 20.01.2020), the Bid submitted by 

SHRE/SHRI,  LLC, has been rejected and the Bid, submitted by INSPIRE ATHENS, comprising "MGE 

Hellinikon BV", "Mohegan Gaming Advisors, LLC" and "GEK TERNA SA" has been accepted.  

Following the aforementioned decision, on 30.01.2020, the company "SHRE/SHRI LLC" filed 

preliminary appeal to the Authority for the Examination of Preliminary Appeals(hereinafter, 

"AEPP"). The preliminary appeal of the applicant was rejected following no. 10/2020 decision of 

AEPP. "SHRE / SHRI LLC" protested against the above decision to the Council of State,  under  no. 

69/2020 application for suspension of execution and issuance of a temporary order for suspension 

of execution, which was rejected under no. 72/2020 decision of the Committee of Suspensions of 

the CoS (Plenary Session). SHRE / SHRI LLC also filed an appeal against the above decision of AEPP 

before the CoS (Plenary Session), which was heard on 03.07.2020. On 24.09.2020, the decision of 

the CoS No. 1819/2020 was published, according to which the appeal of SHRE / SHRI against the 

decision No. 10/2020 of the AEEP was rejected and is therefore now permanently excluded.  

¶ On 06.02.2020, following the completion of the Prerequisites of the Concession Agreement, the 

Greek State issued the "License for Establishment and Construction of the New International 

Airport of Heraklion, Crete" to the company INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT OF HERAKLION CRETE S.A. 

The above date is hereinafter the date of commencement of the concession. The project will be 

constructed entirely by the subsidiary TERNA SA. The contractual duration of the concession 

ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ƛǎ ǎŜǘ ŀǘ ǘƘƛǊǘȅπŦƛǾŜ όорύ ȅŜŀǊǎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ŘŀǘŜ ƻŦ ŎƻƳƳŜƴŎŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴŎŜǎǎƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ 

ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ŀ ŦƛǾŜπȅŜŀǊ ŘŜǎƛƎƴπŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ ǇŜǊƛƻŘΦ Lǘ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ƴƻǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳƳŜƴŎŜƳŜƴǘ 

date and according with the provisions of the Concession Agreement, the participation 

percentages in share capital are formed as follows: TERNA S.A. 32.46%, GMR Airports Limited 

21.64%, and Greek State 45.9%. ʆhe aforementioned percentages are in force since  06.02.2020.   

¶ On 10.02.2020, the Group through the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY announced the donation of Euro 

3.5 million to Hellenic Armed Forces.   

The subsidiary will fully cover the cost of study, design, and construction of all required works  for 

the purposes of:     

(a) Turning 115 Military Airport (Souda) into a Net Zero Carbon Emissions facility.      

(b) Meeting the needs for electricity, heating and cooling facilities at the 115 Military Airport in 

Souda, 100% from Net Zero Energy Airport and 'electrify' transfers within the Airport.      

The 115 Military Airport in Souda will be one of the first installations in the world to receive the 

relevant certifications, while the annual benefit of fully discharging the Unit from the cost of 

electricity supply and heating needs, will exceed Euro 400 k. This way, the 115 Military Airport will 

make a significant contribution to addressing climate change and will be equipped with ǎǘŀǘŜπƻŦπ 

ǘƘŜπŀǊǘ intelligent energy management systems, without reducing its operational capacity.     
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For the implementation of the necessary works, the subsidiary will cooperate with the specialized 

company Easy Power.         

The budget of the proposal exceeds Euro 3.5 million, while the time required for completion of 

the project is estimated to be approximately fifteen (15) months from the day of signing the 

relevant Donation Agreement with Hellenic Air Force (HAF) and its approval by a joint ministerial 

decision (KYA) of the Ministers of National Defense and Finance. 

¶ On 10.02.2020, the subsidiary TERNA S.A. and the company "Development of Frangoklisia SA", 

signed an agreement on the development of a single office building in Frangoklisia, Attica. The 

contractual object amounted to Euro 3.5 million, which after the signing of a supplementary 

agreement  on 29.09.2020 amounted to Euro 12.9 million and the duration of construction works 

is 14 months.   

¶ On 26.02.2020, the Board of Directors of GEK TERNA S.A. decided to issue a 7 year maturity term 

common bond loan, amounting up to five hundred million Euro (Euro 500,000,000). The bonds 

were made available to the public in Greece and were listed in the fixed income securities category 

ƻŦ !¢I9· ǊŜƎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ όǘƘŜ άLǎǎǳŀƴŎŜέύΦ  

Through this Issuance and in the context of implementing its business plan during the following 

years, the Company seeks to finance further development of its Group, making a significant 

contribution to development and stimulation of the Greek ŜŎƻƴƻƳȅ ŀƴŘ ƎǊƻǿǘƘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳƴǘǊȅΩǎ 

GDP. In particular, the funds raised from the Issuance (after deducting the Expenditure) will be 

mostly used to finance (through share capital increase and/or borrowings) existing and/or in 

progress and/or new investments of the Group in the operations related to concessions, 

infrastructure, and energy.    

¶ On 12.03.2020, GEK TERNA S.A. informed the investors that treasury shares held by the Company 

directly, surpassed the threshold of 5%. The number of treasury shares held on 31.12.2020 

amounted to 5,245,229, i.e. 5.0716% of the share capital. It is to be noted that the subsidiary 

TERNA S.A. owns 688,205 treasury shares, i.e. 0.6654% of the share capital and the subsidiary 

ILIOCHORA S.A. owns 616,835 shares, i.e. 0.5964% of the share capital and, therefore, the total 

number of treasury shares directly and indirectly held on 31.12.2020 stands at 6,550,229, i.e. 

6.3335% of the share capital.   

¶ On 19.03.2020, the Repeat Bondholders Assembly took place, according to the Invitation of the 

Bondholders of GEK TERNA CBL 2018 to Meeting dated 06.03.2020, pursuant to the Common 

Bond Loan Programme of an amount up to Euro 120,000,000 and Agreement on Appointment of 

ǘƘŜ .ƻƴŘƘƻƭŘŜǊ !ƎŜƴǘΣ ŘŀǘŜŘ ннΦлоΦнлму όά/.[ нлму tǊƻƎǊŀƳƳŜέύΦ ¢ƘŜ wŜǇŜat Assembly 

approved the relative amendments to the CBL 2018 Programme, subject to the issuance by GEK 

TERNA of the Common Bond Loan up to five hundred million Euro (Euro 500,000,000), the bonds 

of which will be made available to the public in Greece and will be listed in the fixed income 

ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ŎŀǘŜƎƻǊȅ ƻŦ !¢I9· ǊŜƎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ όǘƘŜ ά[ƻŀƴέύΦ ¢ƘŜ wŜǇŜŀǘŜŘ .ƻƴŘƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ Assembly 

authorized the Bondholders Representative to sign the amendment agreement regarding the 

terms of the CBL 2018 Programme.   
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¶ In compliance with Law 3556/2007, on 24.03.2020, GEK TERNA, following the announcement 

dated as at 19.04.2019, informed the investors that it had received notification from the 

shareholder REGGEBORGH INVEST B.V. that on 20.03.2020 the date of exercising the option of 

the financial instrument it held had expired, which could result in acquisition of 7,909,588 shares 

ŀƴŘ ǾƻǘƛƴƎ ǊƛƎƘǘǎΣ ƛΦŜΦ ŀ ǇŜǊŎŜƴǘŀƎŜ ƻŦ тΦсптт҈ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǘƻǘŀƭ ǾƻǘƛƴƎ ǊƛƎƘǘǎΦ ¢ƘŜǊŜŦƻǊŜΣ 

the number of shares and an equal number of voting rights, once the aforementioned deadline 

ƘŀŘ ŜȄǇƛǊŜŘΣ ǎǘƻƻŘ ŀǘ нрΣфсуΣллр ǎƘŀǊŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǾƻǘƛƴƎ ǊƛƎƘǘǎΣ ƛΦŜΦ нрΦмлуп҈ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǘƻǘŀƭ 

voting rights, standing at 103,423,291.   

In compliance with Law 3556/2007, on 26.03.2020, GEK TERNA informed the investors that on 

that day, it had received notification from the shareholder REGGEBORGH INVEST B.V. that on 

24.03.2020 a change (an increase) was performed in the voting rights of the aforementioned 

shareholder, following which, REGGEBORGH INVEST B.V. holds a percentage of 30.2562% of GEK 

TERNA S.A. total voting rights.    

¶ On 30.03.2020, the subsidiary TERNA S.A. announced that in joint venture with SIEMENS 

(association of companies SIEMENS  π  TERNA was awarded the contract of the project "Design, 

Supply and Installation of Two Converter Stations and one Substation  for the Direct Current 

9ƭŜŎǘǊƛŎŀƭ LƴǘŜǊŎƻƴƴŜŎǘƛƻƴ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ /ǊŜǘŜ ŀƴŘ !ǘǘƛŎŀέΦ   As announced by "Ariadne 

Interconnection", a subsidiary of the IPTO Group and project operator, the total budget of the 

project amounts to Euro 370 million. Of this amount, the amount of Euro 358.6 million relates to 

the construction of conversion stations and Euro 11.4 million to their maintenance. The contract 

was signed on 29.05.2020 and has a duration of 36 months. The contractual object that will be 

executed by TERNA, amounts to approximately Euro 113.0 million.   

¶ In March 2020, GEK TERNA Group and the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY decided to proceed with the 

purchase of machinery and materials necessary to facilitate the activities of the Ministry of Health 

and Hospital Administrations in various areas of the country. In this context, GEK TERNA Group 

and the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY purchased:      

- Full equipment for the operation of eight (8) ICU (intensive care unit) beds at ά!ǘǘƛƪƻƴέ 

Hospital, to meet the needs of the Intensive Care Unit of the University Hospital. The 

equipment includes eight (8) respirators (one of which is portable for ICU flexibility and 

transportation), nine (9) ǎǘŀǘŜπƻŦπǘƘŜπŀǊǘ monitors (one of which is portable for ICU flexibility 

and transportation), one central monitoring station (for up to 16 monitors), and 18 syringe 

infusion pumps.    

- Uniforms, masks, antiseptics etc., and other essential supplies for ά9ǾŀƴƎŜƭƛǎƳƻǎ IƻǎǇƛǘŀƭέ 

for the protection of the medical and nursing staff of the hospital.     

- Respirators, medical equipment, consumables, and kiosks (first reception areas for possible 

medical occurrences) in regional hospitals(Ioannina, Serres, and "Bodosakeio" Ptolemaida).  
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¶ On 23.04.2020, the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY S.A. signed an Agreement for  Sale and Transfer of 

Shares, with the objective of acquiring 100% of the share capital of "RF Energy Omalies MAE". The 

acquired company owns a cluster consisting of 11 wind farms of total capacity 213 MW in Evia, 

namely the W/F OMALIES 30 MW, W/F OMALIES II 15 MW, W/F KORAKOVRACHOS 21 MW, W/F 

KORAKOVRACHOS II 6 MW, W/F KALAMAKI 12 MW, W/F KALAMAKI II 18 MW, W/F MILZA 18 MW, 

W/F MOLIZEZA I 18 MW, W/F DEXAMENES II 15 MW, W/F PRARO 36 MW and W/F MEGALI PETRA 

24 MW, with a final date of connection to the National network and electrifying as that of 

30.12.2022, in order to receive feed in premium sale price of electricity. 

At this stage, the construction of wind farms of total capacity over 180 MW is projected, and as a 

result, the total capacity of the new wind farms launched in the Greek RES market by the TERNA 

ENERGY Group, exceeds 400 MW and the total investment value stands at Euro 550 million.   

¶ In addition to the above new investments in wind farms in Evia, the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY has 

already launched investments in clean energy storage projects, such as the Amari hybrid station 

in Crete and the pumping and storage project in Amfilochia, which are two most significant 

investments of Euro 800 million, necessary to balance transmission networks and move to a 

carbon-free economy.  

¶ On 29.05.2020, the Company announced that the revaluation of its creditworthiness by the 

company ICAP A.E. ǊŜπǊŀǘŜŘ it in rating A. A rating indicates very low credit risk and is attributed 

to companies that are capable to meet their obligations even under adverse economic 

circumstances and therefore their creditworthiness remains consistently high. Entities with A 

rating are characterized by their significant financial sizes, upward trend and their significant 

position in the market.    

¶ On 23.06.2020, GEK TERNA announced that made available to the investors, the Prospectus, as 

approved by the meeting of Board of Directors of the Hellenic Capital Markets Commission dated 

22.06.2020, in relation to the issuance by the Company of a common bond loan of a total amount 

of up to Euro 500,000,000, with a duration of seven (7) years, divided into up to 500,000 

dematerialized, common, bearer bonds, each of a nominal value of Euro 1,000.     

¶ On 03.07.2020, the results of the public offer were announced in respect of the Issue of a Common 

Bond Loan of Euro 500 million and the admission of the /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ bonds for trading in the 

category of Fixed Income Securities of the Regulated Market of the Athens Stock Exchange. In 

particular, 500,000 common, bearer bonds of the Company with a nominal value of Euro 1,000 

each (the ά.ƻƴŘǎέύ have been allocated and as a result capital of an amount of Euro 500,000,000 

has been raised. The final yield of the Bonds has been set at 2.75%, the Bonds interest rate at 

2.75% and the offer price of the Bonds at Euro 1,000 each, namely 100% of its nominal value. On 

06.07.2020, the trading of 500.000 bonds of the Company as initiated in the category of Fixed 

Income Securities of the Regulated Market of the Athens Stock Exchange.   

¶ On 03.07.2020, GEK TERNA announced that the amendments to the Common Bond Loan 

Programme of an amount up to Euro 120,000,000 and Agreement on Appointment of the 

Bondholder Agent, dated 22.03.2018 όά/.[ 2018 tǊƻƎǊŀƳƳŜέύ that were resolved by the Repeat 
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Assembly of the Bondholders of the CBL 2018, that took place on 19 March 2020, enter into force  

on 3 July 2020. It is reminded that the above amendments were subject to the issuance by the 

Company of a Common Bond Loan up to five hundred million Euro (Euro 500,000,000), whose 

bonds were publicly offered in Greece and shall be listed under the category of ŦƛȄŜŘπƛƴŎƻƳŜ 

securities on the ATHEX regulated market.   

The CBL 2018 Programme, as in force following the amendments that were resolved by the 

Assembly of the Bondholders of the CBL 2018, is available in electronic form on the /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

website (http:// www.gekterna.com/el/ investor-relations/corporatebond/ ).  

¶ The Regular General Assembly of GEK TERNA held on 08.07.2020 approved,  following the 

explanations and the proposal of the Company Nominations and Remuneration Committee, to 

the Board of Directors, the Remuneration program under article 112 of law 4548/2018 for the 

fiscal year 2019. Furthermore, the Regular General Assembly approved the purchase of treasury 

shares until the completion of the percentage 10 % of the total shares of the Company, with a 

minimum purchase price of Euro 0.30 and a maximum price of Euro 30.00, which will take place 

within a period of ǘǿŜƴǘȅπŦƻǳǊ months, i.e. no later than July 7, 2022. The Regular General 

Assembly assigned the Board of Directors of the Company for the observance of all the relevant 

formalities related to its above approval.      

¶ On 15.07.2020  GEK TERNA GROUP through TERNA ENERGY sub-Group sold the 138 MW 

Mountain Air wind farm in IDAHO, USA, to Innergex Renewable Energy Inc. It is worth noting that 

the contribution of the Wind Farm to the operating profit before tax, interest, depreciation and 

amortization (EBITDA), in the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for 2019 

amounted to 11,065 ($ 12,387 thousand). The disposal resulted to profit of 27,453 ($ 31,342 

thousand). The total net debt of TERNA ENERGY Group decreased by 136,005 ($ 155,644 

thousand) while the Equity securities attributed to financial liabilities decreased by 41,243 ($ 

47,198 thousand).  

¶ On 28.08.2020, the Competitor INSPIRE ATHENS was disclosed the decision number 504/1/ 

30.07.2020 of HGC on: "Validation of the results of the evaluation stage of the File" Technical Offer 

"of the International Public Tender for the Granting of a Casino Operating License (EKAZ) for a 

wide range of activities in the Metropolitan Pole of Hellinikon π Agios Kosmas", as well as a copy 

of the Minutes of the Tender Committee, establishing that the Technical offer contained no 

shortcomings and the bidder continues to participate in the next phase of the Tendering Process.. 

On 08.09.2020, SHRE /  SHRI filed the preliminary appeal to AEPP against the above decision, which 

was rejected with its nr 21/2020 decision. On 24.09.2020, the Council of State decision num. 

1819/2020 was issued, rejecting the appeal for cancellation filed by SHRE/SHRI against no. 

10/2020 decision of AEPP  and is therefore now permanently excluded. 

On 07.10.2020, the EEEP proceeded with unsealing the Financial offer of the INSPIRE ATHENS 

Association of Persons, and following its evaluation and relevant rating by the Tender Committee, 

the association was declared a Temporary Contractor for the Granting of a Casino Operating 

License (EKAZ) in the Hellinikon π Agios Kosmas Metropolitan Pole was then invited to submit 

supporting documents of a temporary contractor.   

http://www.gekterna.com/el/investor-relations/corporatebond/
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¶ On 31.08.2020, Joint Venture of the companies AVAX - INTRAKAT - MYTILINEOS - TERNA and the 

Ministry of Immigration Policy signed an agreement on "Construction of a new, upgrading - 

repairing of the existing Artificial Barrier and accompanying constructions, along the border line 

of the Greek-Turkish Border in Evros Prefecture" of total contractual object Euro 50.8 million and 

duration 8 months. The corresponding contractual object for the subsidiary TERNA S.A. stood at 

Euro 12.7 million.  

¶ On 07.09.2020, the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY informed the investors that the Share Capital 

Increase, by cash payment and elimination of the preπemptive right of the current shareholders 

and the disposal of the new shares through private placement, that has been decided by the 

Extraordinary General Assembly of the Shareholders (EGA) of the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY dated 

01.09.2020, has been successfully completed and totally subscribed, by raising proceeds of a total 

amount of Euro 68,523,642 through the disposal of the new 6,229,422 shares at the discretion of 

the Board of Directors(as authorized by the EGA of the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY Shareholders) 

to funds managed by the following international investors and/or companies affiliated with 

them:  Blackrock Inc., Anavio Capital Partners LLP, Kayne Anderson Capital Advisors LP, and Impax 

Asset Management.   In view of the above, the final subscription rate of the Share Capital Increase 

amounted  to 100% and the total amount of the funds raised to Euro 68,523,642. On 11.09.2020, 

the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY pursuant to the provisions of articles 9 par. 5 and 21 of Law 

3556/2007 and in conjunction with the Decision No. 1/434/ 03.07.2007 of the BoD of the Hellenic 

Capital Market Commission, informed the investors that following the completion and total 

subscription of the increase of its share capital by cash payment and issue of new shares, which 

has been decided by the Extraordinary General Assembly of the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY 

Shareholders dated 01.09.2020 and the commencement of trading of the new common registered 

shares of the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY on 11.09.2020, resulting from the above increase of its 

ǎƘŀǊŜ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭΣ ǘƘŜ ǇŀƛŘπǳǇ ǎƘŀǊŜ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅ ¢9wb! 9b9wD¸ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘƭȅ ŀƳƻǳƴǘǎ ǘƻ 

Euro 36,044,507.40, and is divided into 120,148,358 common registered shares with a nominal 

value of Euro 0.30 each, while the total number of voting rights on the common registered shares 

of the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY amounts to 120,148,358. The total funds raised through the said 

increase of the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY share capital amounting to Euro 68,523,642, will be 

allocated for the financing of new investments of the Company which will add further value to the 

subsidiary TERNA ENERGY and its shareholders, and in particular the development of the Wind 

Parks of Kafireas with a capacity of 330 MW, of Taratsa with a capacity of 30 MW and of Evrytania 

with a capacity of 67 MW. Following the aforementioned increase, the participating interest of 

GEK TERNA in the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY decreased from 37.932% to 35.695% and, after the 

completion of the cancellation of 4,293,268 owned treasury shares according to the decision of 

the Board of Directors, which was approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders on 

01.09.2020, will amount to a participation rate of 37.298%.    

¶ On 15.09.2020, the subsidiary TERNA SA (contractor) and the companies "ILIAKA PARKA DYTIKIS 

MAKEDONIAS DYO SA " and "ILIAKO VELOS ENA SA" ǎƛƎƴŜŘ ŀƴ ŀƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ ά5ŜǎƛƎƴΣ 

civil engineering works, supply, transport, installation and commissioning of a 14.99 MW 

photovoltaic station at Xiropotamos in the Municipality of Eordea and a Substation 33 KV / 150 

KV outdoor type ", of total contract value of Euro 11.5 million and contract period of 14 months.   
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¶ Pursuant to the decisions of the Board of Directors of the Company dated 28.09.2018 and 

08.07.2020 and within the framework of the approved Corporate Transformation, on 22.10.2020 

was concluded the transfer of the subordinated loans and the Company's participations to the 

motorway concession companies NEA ODOS and  ODOS CENTRAL GREECE MOTORWAYS ("the 

Transaction").  

The above were realized with the disbursement, from CBL of GEK TERNA MOTORWAYS, issued on 

04.08.2020, total amount of Euro 270 million and in accordance with the terms of the CBL, based 

on which Euro 250 million from the proceeds  of the Transaction (which in total is equal to the fair 

value of the shares of ODOS CENTRAL GREECE and the nominal value of the subordinated loans 

of NEA ODOS and ODOS CENTRAL GREECE) were used by the Company exclusively for the full 

repayment of existing  Banks BL issued or guaranteed by the  Company.    

The whole Transaction was implemented in accordance with the Corporate Transformation - 

which as the Company had already informed in its Prospectus of the CBL  Loan- aims (a) to 

optimize the operational return, (b) to increase the efficiency of investment decisions, (c) in the 

optimization of administrative and business decisions, (d) in ensuring greater transparency and 

efficiency in corporate governance, and (e) in the optimization of control and supervision of the 

financing capacity of the company and the Group.  

The companies GEK TERNA MOTORWAYS SMSA, ODOS CENTRAL GREECE and NEA ODOS, are 

affiliated companies of the Company, subsidiaries by 100%. Therefore the whole transaction is a 

transaction between companies that are under joint control, and in the content of an  internal 

intragroup restructuring  has no effect on the Financial Results and the Financial Position of the 

Group. Furthermore,  cash collection from the sale of shares between companies of the same 

Group (in a parent-100% subsidiary relationship),  was carried out exclusively in the context of the 

aforementioned financial restructuring, in order to repay existing loans issued and/or 

guaranteed  by the Company and the further strengthening of the aforementioned positive 

prospects. Thus , both the purpose and the result of the aforementioned financial restructuring 

and the  subsequent actions carried out  did not intent  to create profitability for the Company, 

but to improve its financial situation within the scope  to proceed with its business activity  and in 

new investments that will procure profitability. 

It is noted that the completion of the Transaction was an indirect obligation of the Company 

according to a) the Company's negotiable CBL amounting to Euro 120 million, and b) from  the 

19.06.2020  Company's listed  e CBL amounting to Euro 500 million.   

¶ On 27.10.2020, by decision of the Minister of Infrastructure, in the framework of the Concession 

Agreement of the project "Design, Construction, Financing, Operation, Maintenance and 

Exploitation of the IONIA ODOS Motorway", was assigned to the Concessionaire subsidiary  

CENTRAL GREECE MOTORWAY SA the execution of additional works for flood protection of the 

highway, with a total object of Euro 105 million, including the corresponding VAT.   

¶ Similarly, on 27.10.2020, by decision of the Minister of Infrastructure, in the framework of the 

Concession Agreement of the project "Design Construction, Financing, Operation, Maintenance 
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and Exploitation of the Central Greece Highway E65", was assigned to the Concessionaire 

Subsidiary Company Central Greece Motorway S.A., the execution of additional works for flood 

protection of the highway, with a total object of Euro 70 million, including the corresponding VAT.  

¶ On 22.12.2020, the subsidiary TERNA SA and DESFA signed an agreement for the "Detailed 

Engineering, Procurement and Construction of the Nea Mesimvria Compressor Station Upgrade", 

with a contract value of Euro 15.6 million and contract period of 27 months.  

¶ In 2020, the subsidiary TERNA SA signed various small object contracts as well as additional 

agreements and extensions of existing agreements  in previous years, amounting to Euro 135 

million.  

¶ For the resolution on controversial claims , arising from the execution of the project "Megalopolis 

Power Plant - Study, Supply, Transport, Installation and Operation of Unit No. 5 Combined Cycle, 

of Net Power at Reference Conditions 811 MW, with Natural Gas Fuel /  DSCTW-11072251", whose 

contractor is the Joint Venture METKA SA - TERNA SA, the BoD of PPC, under no. 137 /  15.12.2020 

decision, approved  the Amicable Settlement between PPC and the above contractor, namely: a) 

payment to the Contractor Joint Venture of an amount of 15,074,787 interest-free, in full and 

unconditional repayment of all types of claims from the Contractor Joint Venture, b) approval for 

collection by PPC of all delivered and non-invoiced spare parts which the Contractor offered 

without consideration and c) return by PPC of all the letters of guarantee pertaining to  this 

agreement. 

It is to be noted that this amount had already been invoiced to PPC and as till  the date of 

preparation of the financial statements has been fully collected.  

Key Financial Performance of the operating segments in 2020  

The financial analysis of the operating segments mentioned below records the performance of these 

segments, before performing the intersegmental elimination, which are accounted for in accordance 

with the provisions of IFRS.  

 

Construction Segment   

Revenues from our construction operations remain significant, while the backlog of construction 

objects is maintained at high levels, amounting to approximately Euro 1.6 billion on 31.12.2020 and at 

the date of preparation of the financial statements with the new agreements signed or to be signed 

standing at  Euro 2.2 billion. 

TERNA SA, representing the construction segment, 100% subsidiary of GEK TERNA Group, is one of the 

strongest Greek construction companies, specializing in complex and demanding infrastructure 

projects, a partner chosen for collaboration by international groups. TERNA SA holds extensive 

experience in Greece and abroad and has developed significant synergies with the other segments of 

the Group ς namely, those regarding concessions and energy. 

Turnover from construction operations amounted to Euro 525.9 million compared to Euro 739.1 

million in 2019, decreased by 28.9%. The decrease in Turnover is due to a) temporary suspension of 
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operations in specific construction sites during the period of the initial restrictions due to COVID-19, b) 

slowdown in the execution of operations on specific projects in Greece and abroad, due to problems 

created by the restrictions on staff movements due to the COVID-19 pandemic.   

EBITDA including non-cash items (adjusted EBITDA), amounted to Euro 19 million compared to Euro 

16.2 million in the corresponding period in 2019, increased by 17.3%. At the same time, the Operating 

Results before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to Euro 6.9 million compared to Euro 3.6 million in 

the corresponding period in 2019.  

Turnover of the Construction Segment arises from a) operations in Greece and Cyprus at a rate of 88%, 

b) operations in the Balkan countries at a rate of 6% and c) operations in the countries of the Middle 

East at a rate of 6%.  

Debt amounted to Euro 117 million compared to Euro 136.2 million in 2019, while Net Debt Position 

of the Construction Segment (cash and cash equivalents less loan liabilities) amounted to 

approximately Euro 158.3 million, compared to Euro 67.4 million on 31.12.2019. 

The experience in implementing  big-scale construction works in respect of motorways, buildings, ports 

and construction of large energy projects, as well as the established presence of TERNA in the markets 

of Balkans and Middle East, give grounds to further improvement of the financial and other sizes of 

this segment for the Group.   

 

Energy Production Segment  

GEK TERNA Group, operating in the energy segment since the mid - 1990s, is one of the leading players 

in the Renewable Energy Segment (RES) through  TERNA ENERGY SA Group, as well as in thermo-

ǇǊƻŘǳŎŜŘ ŜƴŜǊƎȅΣ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ϦI9whb ¢ƘŜǊƳƻŜƭŜŎǘǊƛŎ {!Ϧ ŀƴŘ άI9whb LLέΦ   

a) Electricity production from Renewable Energy Sources     

The shift into the Renewable Energy Sources (RES) is evidenced at the global level, with the segment 

standing out as one of the top investment choices over the following years. In this context, the Group 

continues the development of selected RES projects in Greece, at the same time, capitalizing  its own 

experience and know how, intensifies its efforts aiming at a stronger presence in the USA, Poland and 

Bulgaria.  

¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǘƻǘŀƭ ƛƴǎǘŀƭƭŜŘ ŎŀǇŀŎƛǘȅ ƻŦ w9{ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎ ƛǎ ŜȄǇŜŎǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘƭȅ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜ ƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ 

following years, given the maturity of the investments that would have been implemented.  

On 31.12.2020, TERNA ENERGY Group had facilities over 1,800 MW in operation, under construction 

ƻǊ ǊŜŀŘȅ ŦƻǊ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ DǊŜŜŎŜΣ ¦{!Σ /ŜƴǘǊŀƭ ŀƴŘ 9ŀǎǘŜǊƴ 9ǳǊƻǇŜΦ {ǇŜŎƛŦƛŎŀƭƭȅΣ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǘŀƭ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

installed capacity in Greece and abroad amounts to 1,363 MW, while it also holds RES facilities under 

construction or ready for construction of total capacity 430 MW in Greece. Moreover, the Group 

develops additional projects of total capacity 1.200 MW in Greece, which will be ready for construction 

within the next period and will allow the achievement of the goal of 3,000 MW by 2025. It is worth 
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noting that the Group promotes two (2) large pumping storage projects, as well as a significant number 

of photovoltaic parks in Greece, which could further strengthen the aforementioned target.  

In 2020, an extraordinary contribution for the Feed-in tariff regime was imposed on electricity 

producers on Renewable Energy Sources (RES) stations, which have been put into regular or trial 

operation until December 31, 2015 (Government Gazette 245/09.12.2020). This extraordinary 

contribution amounted to 6% of electricity sales for 2020. For TERNA ENERGY Group, the relevant 

extraordinary contribution amounted to Euro 5,252 thousand and was included in the item "Other 

income/(expenses)" of the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Turnover from energy production from renewable sources amounted to Euro 273.4 million, compared 

to Euro 237.3 million in 2019, recording an increase of 15.2 %. This increase is mainly attributed to the 

start of production of eight (8) new wind farms in the Municipalities of Karystos and Kymi - Aliveri in 

Evia, of total capacity 113.4 MW as well as two new wind farms in the USA. 

EBITDA including non-cash items (adjusted EBITDA) amounted to Euro 193.9 million, compared to Euro 

176.9 million in 2019, increased by 9.6%. At the same time, Operating Results before interest and taxes  

(EBIT) amounted to Euro 127.5 million compared to Euro 119.7 million in 2019.  

TERNA ENERGY Group investments amounted to Euro 113.4 million in 2020Φ ¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻƴƎƻƛƴƎ 

investment activity strengthens the conditions for increased inflows and profitability on a stable long-

term basis.  

 

b) Electric energy production from Thermal Energy Sources ς Electric Energy Sales    

In 2020, in the electric energy production segment from thermal energy sources, the Thermoelectric 

Unit of capacity 435 MW, as well as the smaller unit of capacity 147 MW in Viotia continued to 

operate.   

Under the provisions of IFRS 11, the companies HERON THERMOELECTRIC SA and HERON II SA have 

been recognized as jointly controlled entities and, therefore, financial sizes are incorporated under 

Equity method.     

In the current period, Profit after taxes which was incorporated, amounted to minus Euro 0.1 million, 

compared to minus Euro 6.7 million in the corresponding period in 2019, adversely affected by 

approximately Euro 3 million related to the proportion in Group through the participation in the 

company HERON THERMOELECTRIC SA, due to the extraordinary contribution for the Feed-in tariff 

regime, amounting to 6% on electric energy sales for the year 2020 pertaining to the increase of the 

ELAPE revenues. 

Turnover of the electric energy sales segment amounted to Euro 37.4 million compared to Euro 37.0 

million in the corresponding period in 2019, recording an increase of 1.2 % compared to 2019. EBITDA 

including non-cash items (adjusted EBITDA) amounted to Euro 0.9 million, compared to Euro 2.3 million 

in 2019 decreased by 62.2%.  

Total Profit after taxes amounted to Euro 0.4 million, compared to minus Euro 5.8 million in the 

corresponding period in 2019.  
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Concessions ς Self or Jointly Financed Projects Segment  

The motorway companies (NEA ODOS CONCESSIONS SA and CENTRAL GREECE MOTORWAY SA 

CONCESSIONS) are included in the operating segment of the Concessions, and Group owns 100% of its 

shares  as well as the concession for the airport in Kastelli (INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT OF HERAKLION 

CRETE SOCIETE ANONYME CONCESSION) in  which the Group holds 32.46% of shares. 

The Group also participates with a percentage of 70% in the Electronic Ticket Service Company SA - 

HELLAS SMARTICKET SA, which undertook the Partnership Agreement for the Study, Financing, 

Installation, Operation Support, Maintenance Technical Management of a Unified, Automatic Fare 

Collection System from the Athens Urban Transport Organization SA  for OASA Group companies with 

PPP. The concession duration is 10 years after the construction period.   

The Group also participates through the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY in EPIRUS AEIFORIKI MAEX, a 100% 

subsidiary, in the operation of the Epirus Waste Treatment Plant with a maximum annual capacity of 

105.000tn, the operation of which started on 27.03.2019. The Concession duration is 27 years. 

Finally, in 2020, the Group continued its operations in the Management and Operation of Car Stations, 

and the total number of parking places regarding the Group amounts to 2,171. 

Turnover of the Concessions Segment amounted to Euro 151.3 million, compared to Euro 187.1 million 

in the corresponding period in 2019. This decrease is mainly due to the reduction of revenues from 

tolls on highways, as a result of measures against the spread of COVID- 19, namely traffic restrictive 

measures and travel restrictions in the country and abroad.  

Pursuant to respective Concession agreements, in cases involving Public intervention, Events of Force 

Majeure, Events of Public Liability, the Group submitted the respective claims for indemnity. The 

amounts of compensation for loss of income due to the COVID-мф ǇŀƴŘŜƳƛŎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ !Ω ŀƴŘ .Ω ǎŜƳŜǎǘŜǊǎ 

of 2020 amounted to a total of Euro 33.7 million, have recorded in the results of the year and have 

been recognized out of turnover, in the item "Other income/(expenses) έƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘŜŘ 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. Of the aforementioned amount, an amount of Euro 15.1 million 

has been collected until the approval date of the financial statements.  

EBITDA including non-cash items (adjusted EBITDA), amounted to Euro 105.3 million, compared to 

Euro 103.1 million in the corresponding period in 2019, increased by 2.1%. 

It is to be noted that the above amounts do not include provisions for increased maintenance of 

motorways, which in 2020 amounted to Euro 17 million, compared to Euro 7 million in the 

corresponding period in 2019.   

Operating Results before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to Euro 44.1 million compared to Euro 52 

million in the corresponding period, decreased of Euro 8 million, which is mainly due to increased 

provisions for heavy maintenance of motorways. 
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Real Estate Segment 

The Group continues to hold a conservative approach towards investment activities in the domestic 

real estate market. Taking into consideration the current economic conditions, the Group has decided 

to disinvest regarding specific real estate items. At the same time, the Group is considering alternative 

scenarios of exploitation of a part of its investments and wherever deemed necessary, to continue its 

investments. 

Real Estate segment Turnover amounted to Euro 4.2 million, compared to Euro 5.2 million in the 

corresponding period in 2019. 

EBITDA including non-cash items (adjusted EBITDA), amounted to Euro 0.3 million, compared to Euro 

0.2 million in 2019. 

EBIT amounted to minus Euro 0.9 million, compared to Euro 0.4 million in the corresponding period in 

2019, adversely affected by the negative asset valuation and the COVID-19 effect. The ratio of Debt to 

Total Assets of the segment, amounted to 73%, a fairly safe rate, given the financial conditions. 

Industry/ Quarry Operating Segment  

The Group, mainly through its subsidiary TERNA LEFKOLITHI SA, (through mining licenses and 

concessions it holds), operates in mining and processing of whitewash, as well as in industrial 

processing for  production of Caustic Calcined Magnesia (CCM) and Dead Burned Magnesia (DMB) 

products of various qualities and chemical characteristics, mostly sold  to foreign customers.   

¢ƘŜ ǎŜƎƳŜƴǘΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘȅ Ƙŀd significantly decreased as a result of the  problems caused by the COVID-19 

pandemic in transportation of goods. The subsidiary TERNA LEFKOLITHOI temporarily stopped its 

production, in the period April - September 2020, awaiting for the normalization of the market, 

burdening the current year with additional costs of inactivity of personnel and machinery by the 

amount of Euro 2.2 million.  

Finally, it  redesigned the production process to facilitate the optimal use of the existing inventory of 

whitewash and existing equipment. In this context, it re-evaluated the existing inventories, burdening 

the results of the year by the amount of Euro 4.3 million. 

As a result of the above, Turnover of the operating segment "Quarries/Industry" amounted to Euro 7.1 

million in 2020, compared to Euro 9.9 million in the corresponding period in 2019. 

EBITDA including non-cash items (adjusted EBITDA), amounted to minus Euro 4.1 million in 2020, 

compared to minus Euro 4.2 million in the corresponding period in 2019.  

EBIT amounted to minus Euro 13.2 million, compared to minus Euro 10.8 million in the corresponding 

period in 2019. 
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Holding Operating Segment   

In 2020, EBITDA including non-cash items (adjusted EBITDA), amounted to minus Euro 8.7 million, 

compared to minus Euro 6 million in the corresponding period in 2019, adversely affected by additional 

costs of securing rights arising of the optional stock option plan to beneficiaries, amounted to Euro 2.8 

million. 

In 2020, earnings after taxes stood at minus Euro 13.6 million, compared to minus Euro 5.8 million in 

the corresponding period in 2019, adversely affected,  a) from the  additional cost of Euro 2.8 million 

of securing rights arising of the optional stock option plan to beneficiaries, b) from the increased 

interest costs of Euro 2 million  and c) from the loss in holdings, securities and other investments 

amounting to minus Euro 1.8 million.   

Intersegmental Transactions  

In 2020, Turnover of intersegmental transactions amounted to Euro 28.2 million, compared to Euro 

60.1 million in 2019.   

Earnings after taxes amounted to Euro 3.5 million compared to minus Euro 2.4 million in 2019 

(analytical details in bƻǘŜ с άhǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ {ŜƎƳŜƴǘǎέ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ƴƴǳŀƭ CƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ wŜǇƻǊǘ).  

 

C. Significant Events after the end of the period 01.01 ς 31.12.2020  

The following significant events took place as from 01.01.2021 until the date of approval of the 

accompanying financial statements: 

¶ On 08.01.2021, the Hellenic Competition Commission, taking into consideration article 11 of Law 

3959/2011 on regulatory intervention in sectors of economy, decided ex officio to initiate the 

relevant procedure in the construction segment and sent out relevant questionnaires to ensure 

provision of information from construction companies. On 07.04.2021, the Hellenic Competition 

Commission published its preliminary views on the aforementioned matter regarding the 

competition conditions in the construction segment, requesting all the interested parties to 

contribute to the public consultation on the published text. The consultation period lasts from 

08.04.2021 until 07.05.2021 and the Group considers its active participation in the procedure, 

aiming, among others, at pointing out any incorrect data identified in the text published by the 

Hellenic Competition Commission.    

¶ On 18.01.2021, the European Commission approved the financing, by the Greek State  of the 

construction of the northern part of the E65 motorway, amounting to Euro 442 million. The 

project is part of the   Central Greece Motorway (E65), which has been granted with a Concession 

Agreement to the subsidiary CENTRAL GREECE MOTORWAY SA, and will be executed by the 

construction joint venture CENTRAL GREECE MOTORWAY (E65). The approval was given following 

the notification submitted by the Greek State of a state aid measure to the General Department 

for Competition of the European Commission, by which the Greek State activated its rights and 
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expressed interest in fully financing the construction of Deferred Section B or "ATB", which 

includes the subdivisions M/W Trikala ς M/W Grevena (32,450km) and M/W Grevena ς M/W 

Egnatia "(30,610km). The Amendment of the Concession Agreement is expected to be signed and 

approved by the Parliament, so that the construction works to be initiated within 2021.    

¶ On 19.01.2021, the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY SA announced the expansion of  its activities in the 

segment of floating photovoltaic parks. In this context, the company submitted to RAE 

applications for the issuance of a producer certificate for (3) three floating photovoltaic park 

installations in an equal number of artificial reservoirs of total capacity amounting to 265 MW. 

More specifically, the applications for the development of projects of this innovative clean energy 

production technology concern the installation of Artificial Reservoirs, 120 MW in the Kastraki 

Artificial Reservoir, 103 MW in the Pournari Artificial Reservoir and 42 MW in the Stratos Artificial 

Reservoir. The total amount of investment for the development of the three RES facilities will 

exceed Euro 170 million. 

¶ On 29.01.2021, the Public Private Sector Partnership (PPP) project "Integrated Waste 

Management of the Peloponnese Prefecture" was launched, between the Environmental 

Peloponnese, a company of the TERNA ENERGY Group, and the Peloponnese Prefecture. The 

agreement of the project "Integrated Waste Management of Peloponnese Prefecture" provides 

for the construction and operation of three (3) Waste Treatment Units (WWUs) and an equal 

number of Landfills in Arkadia, Messinia and Laconia as well as (2) Waste Transfer Stations in 

Corinth and Argolida. The total duration of the agreement is 28 years and includes a two-year 

construction period and a 26-year operating period.. The amount of the investment amounts to 

Euro 152 million, of which Euro 62.5 million arise from an NSRF grant. The project is expected to 

create 600 jobs during the construction period, 200 permanent jobs during the operating period 

and a large number of parallel jobs. Integrated waste management ensures compliance with 

existing and European legislation, strengthens environmental protection and improves the quality 

of life and health conditions of citizens. The implementation of the project with the use of state-

of-the-art technology solves the environmental problem of the Peloponnese Prefecture, with 

obvious benefits in Tourism, Education and the new quality Agriculture, which is a strategic goal 

for the country.   

¶ On 25.02.2021, the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY signed the agreement for the project ζ5ƛƎƛǘŀƭ 

Transformation, Telematics and Unified Automatic Fare Collection System for the Transport 

Authority of Thessaloniki  ό¢ƘŜ¢!ύηΦ Contractor of the project is the joint venture TERNA ENERGY 

(70%) ς INDIGITAL (15%) ς AMCO (15%). The total budget amounts to Euro 30 million plus VAT 

while installation works are scheduled to begin by 2nd three month of 2021. The project concerns 

the complete digital transformation of the Transport Authority of Thessaloniki, according to the 

standards of good practice of other transport operators in Europe. The agreement provides for 

the construction period (12 months) and the provision of maintenance and operation support 

services for five (5) years from completion, while the Contracting Authority reserves the right to 

extend the maintenance and operation support period for another five (5) years.  

¶ On 02.03.3021, the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY and OCEAN WINDS (a Joint Venture between EDP 

Renewables and ENGIE) have signed a collaboration agreement to co-develop floating offshore 

wind projects in the Greek seas of capacity over 1,5 GW, which will be developed the next decade. 
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OCEAN WINDS has a wide portfolio of fixed and floating offshore wind farms under development, 

construction and operation in various markets throughout Europe, North America and Asia 

composed of 1.5 GW under construction and 4 GW under development, and 5 to 10 GW in the 

advanced development stages by 2025.  

¶ Following the catastrophic earthquake of 03.03.2021 that hit the municipality of Tyrnavos, which 

resulted in irreparable damage to the school in Damasi Tyrnavos,  subsidiary TERNA SA applied to 

make a donation for the construction of a new school, replacing the old one.  

¶ On 05.03.2021, following the approval of the Greek State, the Operation and Maintenance 

Contracts (the "O&M Contracts") were signed between GEK TERNA SA, which is the parent 

company of the GEK Group TERNA (the "Operator"), and the Concession companies Nea Odos SA 

and Odos Central Greece SA (the "Concessionaires"). The O&M Contracts provide for the 

contracting assignment of the operation and maintenance of the Concession Projects to GEK 

TERNA SA.  

The O&M Contracts are expected to enter into force within May 2021 and according to them, GEK 

TERNA SA, as the Operator, will undertake to provide until the end of the Concession Period all 

the services of operation and maintenance of the Concession Projects,  that today are performed 

by the Concessionaires, in a regime of absolute correspondence (back to back).  

The Operation & Maintenance Services of the Concession Projects undertaken by the Operator  

concern the daily operation and maintenance of the Concession Works, including the execution 

of all the obligations of the Concessionaires ,under the respective Concession Contracts related to 

the operation and maintenance of the projects.  

The Operation and Maintenance Contracts will expire at the end of the Concession Period in 

accordance with the Concession Contracts of the projects, subject to the provisions for early 

termination. Estimated expiration time is 2037 and if the Concession Period is extended in 

accordance with the provisions of the Concession Agreements. 

 In order to enable the execution of the project of the Operator, according to a relevant term of 

each O&M Contract, the Concessionaires undertook to transfer to the Operator all the staff 

involved in the maintenance and operation of the Project, the contracts with subcontractors and 

suppliers, the vehicles used for the maintenance and operation of the projects as well as the 

relevant consumables and spare parts. 

¶ On 08.03.2021 the subsidiary TERNA SA signed with the company SEGER GREECE SA, an 

agreement for the execution of the project "Renovation and reuse of MIRAMARE Hotel unit in 

Moraitika, Corfu", with a contractual object of Euro 7.8 million and duration  5 months.  

¶ On 23.03.2021 the subsidiary TERNA SA signed with the National Railway Infrastructure Company 

of Bulgaria (NRIC) for the construction of the project "Construction of railway infrastructure and 

electrification of the Petrarch - Dragoman department and study, construction and supervision by 

the road signs and telecommunication project manager of the Voluiak ς Dragoman part", with a 

contractual object of Euro 154.7 million and duration of 48 months.  
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¶ On 30.03.2021, the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY,  signed agreement for the project "Hybrid system 

for the production of electricity and heat from RES on the island of Ag. Efstratios". The project 

pertains to study, supply, installation and operation of:  

-  a Hybrid Station (YVS) for generating power from Renewable Energy Sources (RES) on Ag. 

Efstratios island, comprising a wind turbine (A/G), a photovoltaic station (PV), storage 

accumulators and an Energy Management and Monitoring System. 

-  an integrated system of remote heating  of the Ai Stratis community, including building 

facilities. Thermal energy produced, will suffice for covering heating and hot water needs of 

all houses at the entire Ag. Efstratios settlement.    

The contractor will also  undertake the operation and maintenance of the project for twelve (12) 

years. Total budget of the project (construction of the hybrid system and operation and 

maintenance service fees for 12 years) stands at  Euro 7,712,800 (inclusive of VAT). Construction 

period is 25 months.    

¶ On 07.04.2021, the Company announced that the reassessment of its creditworthiness by the 

company ICAP S.A. reclassified it into ά!έ rating.  The A rating implies a very low credit risk and is 

attributed to companies that are able to meet their obligations even in adverse economic 

conditions and, therefore, their credit rating remains consistently high. A-rated companies are 

characterized by their significant financial sizes, their upward course of development and their 

significant market position.   

¶ According to Law 3556/2007, GEK TERNA SA informed Investors that in 11.03.2021, received a 

notification from shareholder REGGEBORGH INVEST B.V. that they have decided to proceed with 

divestment from the Company and will follow all necessary procedures for the gradual reduction 

of their participation in GEK TERNA SA which at that day amounted at 28.181%. On 20.04.2021 

shareholder REGGEBORGH INVEST B.V. informed the Company that on 16.04.2021 after several 

reductions, which were notified to the competent authorities, there was a change (reduction) in 

voting rights of the said shareholder, whose rights fell below the 5% threshold. 

¶ According to Law 3556/2007, GEK TERNA SA informs the Investors that in 12.03.2021, received a 

notification from the shareholder LATSCO HELLENIC HOLDINGS S.A.R.L, on the acquisition of its 

voting rights, in 12.03.2021 and specifically that following a share purchase transaction the 

number of shares and an equal number of voting rights amounted to 7,858,571, ie a percentage 

of 7.5985% of the total voting rights of the Company, amounting to 103,423,291. 

¶ During the period from 18.03.2021 until 20.04.2021 the participation percentage, direct and 

indirect, of the shareholder Mr. Georgios Peristeris, after several transactions which were notified 

to the competent authorities, raised from 15.984% to 29.7542% of the Share Capital of the 

Company. Specifically, Mr. Peristeris directly holds 16,576,307 shares and voting rights, ie a 

percentage of 16.0276% of the share capital and indirectly 14,196,428 shares and voting rights, ie 

a percentage of 13.7265% of the share capital. The indirect participation concerns the acquisition 

of shares of GEK TERNA SA, through the related legal entities PERGE LTD, GARDENIA AKTEXE and 

SNAKOS SERVICES LTD in accordance with the notifications that have taken place to the 

competent authorities and to the Company by the shareholder. 



GEK TERNA GROUP 

Annual Financial Report of the fiscal year 1 January 2020 - 31 December 2020 

(Amounts in thousands Euro, unless otherwise stated) 

27 

¶ Unprecedented extreme weather conditions in the US state of Texas in February 2021 and 

impact on the Group's activities 

On 21.02.2021 the unprecedented extreme weather conditions, prevailing in the State of Texas, 

USA (hereinafter referred to as the "Natural Phenomenon") and their impact on the operations of 

the Group (through TERNA ENERGY sub-Group and, in particular, TERNA DEN LLC sub-Group 

(which includes subsidiaries in the USA 1  ǘƘŀǘ ƻǿƴ ŀƴŘ ƻǇŜǊŀǘŜ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ о ¢ŜȄŀǎ ²ƛƴŘ CŀǊƳǎ - 

Fluvanna 1, Fluvanna 2/Gopher Creek and Bearkat I ς of total capacity 510MW), is regarded as a 

non-adjusting event according to the provisions of IAS 10 "Events after the Reporting Period" and, 

therefore, is not recorded in recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities in the annual 

financial statements of the TERNA ENERGY sub-Group and GEK TERNA Group for the year ended 

31.12.2020.   

All the aspects of the aforementioned event are presented in the specific analysis below as 

follows:   

(I) General description of the Natural Phenomenon  

On 11.02.2021, conditions of bad weather of unprecedented intensity and severity hit most areas 

of the State of Texas, affecting all three wind farms of the Group - Fluvanna 1, Fluvanna 2/Copher 

Creek and Bearkat I of total capacity 510MW (hereinafter "the Wind Farms"), as well as a 

significant number of other power plants in Texas (not only renewables, but also gas, coal and 

nuclear power plants). The effects started to hit the State severely and as early as 12.02.2021, 

state of disaster was declared in 254 counties of Texas. Extremely low temperatures down to -

22ˇC were observed, with alternating pattern of snowfall and icy rain, while ice on the wings of 

the Wind Farms engines had already started accumulating, resulting in downtime of their 

operation due to excessive load.  

 

(II) Effects of the Natural Phenomenon on  Energy Consumption, Energy Infrastructure and 

Energy Costs   

Extremely low temperatures resulted in:  

a. an upward increase in gas and electricity consumption (20% higher electricity consumption 

was recorded compared to that projected by the network operator).  

b. shortage of available energy production that could not meet the increased demand. Deep 

cold has greatly affected the electromechanical mechanism in energy infrastructure. The 

electricity transmission and distribution network suffered significant damage. The electricity 

generation capacity was significantly affected due to a combination of the aforementioned 

factors.   

c. in order to avoid a total blackout, the Electric Reliability Council of Texas  (ERCOT) started to 

impose controlled and rolling blackouts in the entire state of Texas in its attempt to decrease the 

electricity energy demand against the (decreased) production available. The productivity in the 

                                                           

1 CƭǳǾŀƴƴŀ ²ƛƴŘ 9ƴŜǊƎȅΣ [[/ όάCƭǳǾŀƴƴŀ мέύΣ CƭǳǾŀƴƴŀ ²ƛƴŘ 9ƴŜǊƎȅ нΣ [[/ όάCƭǳǾŀƴƴŀ нέύ ˁʰʽ Bearkat Wind Energy, LLC 

όά.ŜŀǊƪŀǘέύΦ 
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Texas system was at 50% of what was declared available before the commencement of the 

Natural Phenomenon.    

d.    combined conditions of increased consumption and reduced production led to a dramatic 

increase in energy price, which was increased from a level of $ 20/ MWh to $ 9,000/MWh, which 

is the maximum permitted by ERCOT.    

 

(III) Effects of the Natural Phenomenon on TERNA ENERGY sub-DǊƻǳǇΩǎ operations  

(a) Special energy market operation and financial burden on energy producers  

Due to the generally strong fluctuations in electricity producer prices in Texas, 85% of total 

electricity generation at ERCOT is allocated through tariff risk hedging contracts, which, in practice 

share the risk between producers and their counterparties. In particular, the producers assume 

the obligation and the risk of production according to a promised profile (which is different per 

day, per season, or per hour, depending on the producer), while the counterparty assumes the 

obligation and the risk of purchasing the produced energy according to the agreed energy profile, 

at a specific price. In case the energy production deviates from the contractual profile, the market 

price is used. In this case, as the producers could not produce energy for disposal to their 

counterparties according to the contractual provisions (as happened in the TERNA ENERGY sub-

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ²ƛƴŘ CŀǊƳǎύΣ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳƴǘŜǊǇŀǊǘƛŜǎ  ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜŘ ǘƘƛǎ ŜƴŜǊƎȅ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ŦǊŜŜ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ 

prevailing price of $ 9,000/MWh and invoiced to the producers the difference between the energy 

acquisition price and the respective agreed/contractual price (approximately $ 20/MWh), thus 

causing huge financial burdens on the producers.   

It is to be noted that all three Wind Farms in Texas returned to full operation between 20 and 23 

February 2021.    

(b) Financial burden on the Group as a result of the Natural Phenomenon   

In the case of TERNA ENERGY sub-DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǘƘǊŜŜ ²ƛƴŘ CŀǊƳǎΣ ǘƘŜ particular conditions generated 

an energy shortfall of approximately $ 30 million per day and ultimately amounted to $ 179.4 

million. In particular, the pre-sale contractual counterparties Merrill Lynch Commodities, Inc., 

Morgan Stanley Capital Group Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank respectively (hereinafter referred to as 

"Hedge Providers"), on the basis of the existing hedging contracts effective for the three Wind 

Farms, issued Liquidated Damages invoices, covering the period from 13 to 19 February 2021, 

totally amounting to $ 179,410,942, allocated as follows: Fluvanna 1 $ 32,691,587, Fluvanna 2/ 

Gopher Creek $ 69,656,417 and Bearkat $ 77,062,938.  

These invoices were contested in writing by TERNA ENERGY sub-Group,  as the TERNA ENERGY 

sub-DǊƻǳǇΩǎ aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ƛƴǾƻƪŜǎ ǘƘŜ ƻŎŎǳǊǊŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ ŀ CƻǊŎŜ aŀƧŜǳǊŜ 9ǾŜƴǘΦ 

     

(IV) The TERNA ENERGY sub-DǊƻǳǇΩǎ Management Actions ς Contingent effects on the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

operations and financial position for FY 2021  

Previous risk assessment was implemented with the contribution of the best consultants in the 

market without relevant indications regarding the risk of a corresponding event. At the same time, 

insurance coverage could not cover the event, as such an event was not provided in the risk 

analysis of the insurance companies.   
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TERNA ENERGY sub-DǊƻǳǇΩǎ aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀŎǘŜŘ ǉǳƛŎƪƭȅ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ƳƻƳŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƻŎŎǳǊǊŜƴŎŜ 

of the Natural Phenomenon and proceeded with all the necessary actions, in order to inform the 

Hedge Providers in time for a Force Majeure Event. With this action, the goal of the TERNA 

ENERGY sub-DǊƻǳǇΩǎ aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǿŀǎ ǘƻ ŀŎǘƛǾŀǘŜ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǳŀƭ ǇǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŜȄŜƳǇǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ 

3 Wind Farms from the obligation to provide energy to Hedge Providers due to force majeure. 

The Hedge Providers did not accept the occurrence of a Force Majeure event, as a result, in 

CŜōǊǳŀǊȅ нлнмΣ ǘƘŜȅ  ƛǎǎǳŜŘ  ά[ƛǉǳƛŘŀǘŜŘ 5ŀƳŀƎŜǎ ƛƴǾƻƛŎŜǎέΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŎƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ŦǊƻƳ мо ǘƻ 

19 February 2021. The total amount of these invoices stood at $ 179,410,942 and is allocated  as 

follows: Fluvanna 1 $ 32,691,587, Fluvanna 2/Gopher Creek $ 69,656,417 and Bearkat $ 

77,062,938. Fluvanna 1 and Fluvanna 2 /Gopher Creek Hedge Providers sent event of default 

notifications, and Bearkat I Hedge Provider sent potential event of default notification. For the 

projects Fluvanna 2/ Gopher Greek and Bearkat 1 "Standstill Agreements" have been signed 

(expiring on 21.05.2021 & 30.04.2021 respectively without excluding the possibility of further 

extension). As far as  Fluvanna 1 project is concerned, the period has begun, within which the Tax 

Equity Investor can, if the Tax Equity Investor so desires, exercise the contractual treatment option 

by repaying the amount of the Morgan Stanley Capital Group Inc. invoice, while at the same time 

making efforts aimed at  signing  a similar "Standstill Agreement" if the deadline for exercising the  

treatment option of the Tax Equity Investor expires without any action taken.   

Throughout the period from the beginning of the phenomenon and until the accompanying 

financial statements approval date, the daily discussions with all the stakeholders (Hedge 

Providers, Tax Equity Investors, Lender) and their legal advisors continued with increasing 

intensity in order to minimize the adverse effects for TERNA ENERGY sub-Group. While these 

discussions are ongoing, the TERNA ENERGY sub-DǊƻǳǇΩǎ aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ƛǎ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘǊŜŜ 

potential  actions: (a) applying to the authorized courts and initiating legal action against the 

Hedge Providers; (b) finding a mutually acceptable commercial solution to the dispute with the 

Hedge Providers; and (c) divestment from investing in the USA (Class B interests). No final 

decisions have been made at this time.   

In case, due to objective circumstances, the TERNA ENERGY sub-DǊƻǳǇΩǎ aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŘŜŎƛŘŜǎ ƻƴ 

the third of the aforementioned actions, namely the disinvestment, then the most unfavourable 

version of that choice will be that of disposing the sub-Group TERNA DEN LLC companies  versus 

$ 1  to the one that will ultimately be decided upon to treat  every respective event of hedging 

contracts termination invoked by the Hedge Providers ( it is  clarified that the amount of  $ 1 

mentioned above and in the following sections, is purely symbolic and is used solely for the 

purpose of assessing the impact of the worst case scenario in case of disinvestment on TERNA 

ENERGY sub-Group's financial position).    

As at 31.12.2020, the financial sizes of  sub-Group TERNA DEN LLC stood at total assets of Euro 

565.8 million, i.e. representing 12.21% of the total assets of GEK TERNA Group, while the liabilities 

amounted to Euro 466.6 million, i.e. representing 12.24% of GEK TERNA Group. A potential 

deconsolidation of the companies, constituting  TERNA DEN LLC Sub-Group as a result of their 

disposal for $ 1, would lead to recognition of accounting loss on the consolidated financial results 

that is estimated to amount to approximately $ 115 million (i.e. approximately Euro 97.4 million, 

depending on exchange rate fluctuations). From the aforementioned total loss, an amount of 



GEK TERNA GROUP 

Annual Financial Report of the fiscal year 1 January 2020 - 31 December 2020 

(Amounts in thousands Euro, unless otherwise stated) 

30 

approx. Euro 36.2 million would be attributed to the owners of the parent company, and the 

remaining amount would be distributed to the non-controlling interests of the Group. 

The liabilities of all projects in the USA are non-recourse to the TERNA ENERGY sub-Group. 

Therefore, in case of a potential loss of the above project investments, apart from accounting loss, 

no liquidity or financing issues for TERNA ENERGY sub-Group and the GEK TERNA Group are 

expected to arise for the next 12 months, as the specific event is not expected to have further 

impact on the future cash flows of the TERNA ENERGY sub-Group and the GEK TERNA Group. 

 

The Management of the Group examined in detail all the above events when assessing their 

impact on the 2020 activity, given the events and circumstances at the date of approval of the 

attached financial statements. Furthermore, the consequences of the above events may have a 

significant negative impact on the Group's financial position in 2021. However, the Management 

of the Group has assessed that these consequences do not create uncertainty regarding the 

activity of the Group and the Company being going concern, ie they do not affect the 

appropriateness of the basis of preparation of the consolidated and standalone financial 

statements according to the principle of going concern. 

 

D. Risk Factors and Uncertainties  

 

The Group's operations are subject to various risks and uncertainties, such as the return of 

macroeconomic uncertainty, market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk, wind and weather conditions, 

the uncertainty of the results from the impact of emergency events (COVIDπмфύ which may have a 

prolonged and unforeseen term.  

 

1) Financial Risks  

To address financial risks, the Management has put in place the plan aiming to reduce the adverse 

impact on the financial results of the Group, arising from the inability to project financial markets and 

fluctuations in cost and sales variables.  

 

The financial instruments used by the Group mainly comprise bank deposits, mainly ƭƻƴƎπǘŜǊƳ and 

secondarily ǎƘƻǊǘπǘŜǊƳ loans as well as derivatives, trade debtors and creditors, other accounts 

receivable and payable. The impact of the main risks and uncertainties on the Group's activities is 

analysed below.   

 

 In order to address the effect of the extraordinary event of /h±L5πмфΣ the Group implements a set of 

measures with the main focus on protecting the Group's staff and minimizing the economic 

consequences of the precautionary measures taken by the Greek State.     

 

Credit Risk  

Credit risk entails a possibility that a counterparty will cause financial loss to the Group and the 

Company due tƻ ǘƘŜ ōǊŜŀŎƘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳƴǘŜǊǇŀǊǘȅΩǎ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǳŀƭ ƻōƭƛƎŀǘƛƻƴǎΦ  
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The Group continuously monitors its receivables, either separately or per group and encompasses all 

the arising information into the review of the credit risk. When deemed necessary, external reports or 

analyses related to effective or potential clients are used.   

The Group is not exposed to significant credit risk arising from trade receivables. This is attributed, on 

ƻƴŜ ƘŀƴŘΣ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǇƻƭƛŎȅΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ŦƻŎǳǎŜŘ ƻƴ ŎƻƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǿƛǘƘ ǊŜƭƛŀōƭŜ clients and, on the other 

ƘŀƴŘΣ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƴŀǘǳǊŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΦ         

In particular, total receivables, whether related to the narrow or the broader public sector, or private 

sector clients with significant financial position in Greece and abroad, are under special monitoring and 

the Management constantly assesses the reliability of its customers, their financial sizes regardless of 

whether they are a broader public or private entity, for potential implications, in order to take the 

necessary measures to minimize any adverse effects for the Group.  

The credit risk regarding cash and cash available and other receivables is considered limited given that 

the counterparties are reliable Banks with high quality capital structure, the Greek State and the 

broader public sector and strong Groups of companies.  

The Management assumes that all the financial assets, for which necessary impairment is calculated, 

are of high credit quality.     

Foreign exchange risk     

Foreign exchange risk arises when the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument is subject 

to fluctuations due to changes in exchange rates. This type of risk may arise, for the Group, from foreign 

ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴŎŜǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ Ǿŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴǾŜǊǎƛƻƴ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ ό9ǳro) of financial 

assets, mainly financial receivables and financial liabilities, related to transactions that are carried out 

ƛƴ ŀ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ ƻǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ ǘƘŜ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŜƴǘƛǘƛŜǎΦ ¢ƘŜ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ Ƴŀƛƴƭȅ 

concern purchases of fixed assets and inventories, commercial sales, investments in financial assets, 

loans, as well as net investments in foreign operations.     

The Group operates in Greece, Eastern Europe and the United States, mainly for investments in 

renewable energy and selectively in the undertaking of construction projects, according to historical 

data and therefore may be exposed to foreign exchange risk that may arise from Euro exchange rate 

ǿƛǘƘ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎƛŜǎΦ ¢ƻ ƳŀƴŀƎŜ ǘƘƛǎ Ǌƛǎƪ ŎŀǘŜƎƻǊȅΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ CƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ 5Ŝpartment 

uses financial instruments and offset the Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk on the basis of 

specific policies.    

Regarding the Group's transactions with foreign companies, they are usually performed with European 

Groups where the settlement currency is Euro and regarding the transactions in the USA, the 

settlement currency is dollars, so as to minimize the risk.    

Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk entails the probability that fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.     
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The Group's policy is to minimize its exposure to the interest rate risk of ƭƻƴƎπǘŜǊƳ financing. Under 

this policy, ƳŜŘƛǳƳπǘŜǊƳ loans are mainly in Euro, with fixed spread and a floating base interest rate 

linked to Euribor. In order to reduce the interest rate risk associated with ƭƻƴƎπǘŜǊƳ financing and to 

reduce the consequent volatility of financial expenses, the Group implements specific policies that 

include Interest Rates Swaps.    

 

The biggest component of the Group's ǎƘƻǊǘπǘŜǊƳ debt is in Euro at a floating base interest rate linked 

to Euribor. {ƘƻǊǘπǘŜǊƳ loans are mainly issued either as working capital or for the initial financing of 

the construction of the Group's investments. The Group's policy is to convert these loans into ƭƻƴƎπ 

term fixed spreads linked to Euribor and, where deemed necessary due to repayment time, to 

implement approved interest rate risk management policies through Interest Rate Swaps.    

 

On 31.12.2020, 40.75% of the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ total debt bares fixed interest rate, 34.08% bares floating 

interest rate that have been offset through derivatives, with which future fixed interest rate payments 

are exchanged, against floating receivables, while 25.17%  of the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ loans bare   floating 

rate   based on the Euribor or wibor on a case basis.    

 

These loans are repaid either through collections of trade receivables, or during the collection of the 

relevant state grants or through the operating cash flows from the Group's operations.   

 

Sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk   

The foƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ǘŀōƭŜ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘǎ ǘƘŜ ǎŜƴǎƛǘƛǾƛǘȅ ƻŦ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ƻǊ ƭƻǎǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇǎ ǎƘƻǊǘπ 

term debt and deposits, towards a change in variable ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜǎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ Ҍκπнл҈ όнлмфΥ Ҍκπ

20%). The changes in interest rates are estimated to be logical in relation to the current market 

conditions and until now they have been consistent with the previous year.     

 

 2020 2019 

 20% (20)% 20% (20)% 

Net earnings after income tax (from 
interest bearing liabilities) 

(66) 66 (195) 195 

Net earnings after income tax (from 
interest earning assets) 

49 (49) 84 (84) 

 

The Group is not exposed to other interest rate risks. 

 

Market risk analysis  

The Group is not exposed to market risk regarding its financial assets. 
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Liquidity risk analysis  

Liquidity risk entails the risk that the Group or the Company will be in no position to meet their financial 

obligations when required. The Group maintains its liquidity risk at low level.    

 

The DǊƻǳǇΩǎ liquidity, in particular, is considered satisfactory, as in addition to cash available, the cash 

flows generated by the Concessions of the motorways and the operating wind farms, are ongoing.  

The Group manages liquidity needs by closely monitoring the progress of ƭƻƴƎπǘŜǊƳ financial 

obligations, as well as the payments made daily. Liquidity needs are monitored in different time zones, 

on a daily and weekly basis as well as in a rolling period of 30 days. Liquidity needs for the next 6 

months and next year are determined on a monthly basis.  

The Group maintains cash and cash available in banks to meet liquidity needs for periods of up to 30 

ŘŀȅǎΦ ¢ƘŜ ŦǳƴŘǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŘƛǳƳπǘŜǊƳ ƭƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ ƴŜŜŘǎ ŀǊŜ released from the Group's time deposits.  

   

Risks arising from existing financial conditions prevailing in Greece  

As already mentioned, the Greek economy has been affected by the conditions that have formed in 

the country due to the COVID - 19 pandemic, resulting in a recession for the current year of 8.2%. The 

Greek Government estimates for 2021 that the economic conditions will improve and as a result of this 

improvement, GDP is expected to increase by 4.2%, thus recovering half of the losses of 2020. 

DŜǎǇƛǘŜ ǘƘŜ ƴŜǿ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƘŀǘ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ŦƻǊƳŜŘΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜ ŀǎ ǎƳƻƻǘƘƭȅ ŀǎ 

ǇƻǎǎƛōƭŜΣ ƎƛǾŜƴ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ Ƴŀƛƴ ŀǊŜŀǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ όw9{ ŀƴŘ /ƻƴŎŜǎǎƛƻƴǎύ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ 

defensive characteristics. The Management continuously assesses the conditions and the possible 

effects from the regular operation as well as from extraordinary events, in order to secure that all 

necessary and possible measures and actions are taken in time to minimize any impact on the Group's 

operations. The Group's Management objective is to immediately inform the investors about any 

significant effect that the current conditions may bring.   

 

2) Public Health Crisis caused by Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID-19)      

GEK TERNA Group is one of the most significant Greek business groups, which holds a leading position 

in the sectors of infrastructure, clean energy, electricity generation, and concessions. The Management 

determines that the Group operates in the sectors that are more defensive during the phases of the 

economic cycle and are recognized by the investors as "safe haven" that provides stable repeatable 

cash flows even in times of turmoil and uncertainty, such as the current crisis. Furthermore, during the 

Greek financial crisis, (i.e. the most difficult and longest financial crisis in Europe), the Group has 

already demonstrated its ability to develop and strengthen its position in the market.   

 

At the end of December 2019, the new coronavirus strain SARS-CoV-2, which causes coronavirus 

disease (COVID-19), appeared in China. During the following months, coronavirus disease (COVID-19) 

spread rapidly worldwide and on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the 

coronavirus outbreak (COVID-19) a pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has led to an unprecedented 

crisis in global health and the economy. In Greece, the virus was first detected in late February 2020, 
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leading to a national quarantine. In the beginning of May, a gradual lifting of quarantine restrictions 

started, which lasted until June. During the summer, however, the increase in COVID-19 cases in 

Greece led to the early end of the tourist season and imposition of restrictive measures. Measures of 

limited reopening of stores were implemented during the festive period of Christmas. Throughout the 

pandemic, the Group constantly acts based on the instructions and decisions of all the competent 

institutions, observing the requirements and the action plan adopted by the Greek authorities.  

 

In the context of public health protection, many countries have adopted emergency, temporary and 

costly restraining measures (some countries have required companies to restrict or even suspend their 

usual business activities). The Greek Government, in an effort to keep cases and deaths low to the 

point where a large percentage of the population could be vaccinated, has taken stricter measures 

than in other European countries, imposing repeated restrictive measures in the segments of tourism, 

trade, catering and entertainment. To support employees and businesses, it has taken fiscal measures 

through combined measures to safeguard employment and suspend payments, to measures that have 

reduced the adverse impact on the economy. 

 

According to the Bank of Greece, all these measures resulted in a recession in the Greek economy of 

8.2% for 2020, while at the Eurozone level, the economy decreased by 6.6%.   

 

The global impact of the pandemic has resulted in the European Union being forced to approve Euro 

1,824 billion in funding to help its members deal with the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the 

European economy.  Greece is expected to raise Euro 72 billion, Euro 31 billion through Recovery and 

Durability Fund (Euro 18 billion in the form of grants  and Euro 13 billion in the form of loans) and  Euro 

40 billion through the Cohesion Fund NSRF for the period 2021-2027.   

 

The health crisis caused by coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) has led the global economy to a period 

of uncertainty and instability, whose consequences  are difficult to assess based on the currently 

effective data, since the pandemic is still ongoing.  The economic impact will depend on the term and 

intensity of the recession, as well as the prospects for recovery. To address the health and, 

consequently, economic aspects of the pandemic, governments around the world have already 

launched ongoing mass vaccination programs to cover the entire population and build the required 

immune wall, which will lead to a normality. Based on the fact that the pandemic has not yet been fully 

controlled, in combination with the presence of mutations in the virus altering its transmissibility and 

effectiveness of vaccines, this risk remains one of the main risks faced by the Group.     

 

¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΣ ŀǇǇƭȅƛƴƎ ŀƴ ŜȄǘǊŜƳŜƭȅ ƘƛƎƘ ǎŜƴǎŜ ƻŦ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅΣ ǘƻǿŀǊŘǎ ƛǘǎ Ŏǳǎǘomers, 

employees, suppliers, partners and investors, monitors the developments regarding the coronavirus 

pandemic (COVID-19), studying the possible risk factors that could affect the financial position, 

operations and results of the Group. 

 

  (i) Group Organizational Planning  

CƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ŀƴƴƻǳƴŎŜƳŜƴǘǎΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƘƛƎƘŜǎǘ ǇǊƛƻǊƛǘȅ ƘŜŀƭǘƘ ŀƴŘ 

safety of its employees and associates, acted with speed and determination, designed and immediately 

started implementing a plan of measures and actions, mainly aimed at: creating a safe working 
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environment for all the employees in parallel with the adoption of distance working policies, when 

deemed possible and necessary, securing and utilizing the most modern information technology to 

limit transportation and minimize travel, implementing teleconferencing (video calls), as well as 

modern, flexible ways of working depending on the individual or special needs of groups of employees. 

Extremely strict operating regulations have been introduced at all points of presence and operation of 

the Group in Greece and abroad, in order to constantly confirm the highest possible level of security 

for all.     

At the same time, the Group implemented a program for the safe repatriation of its executives and 

employees from Cyprus in full implementation of the decisions and instructions of the national 

competent authorities. Specifically, on 01.04.2020, TERNA SA (100% subsidiary of GEK TERNA) 

announced the completion of safe repatriation procedures from Cyprus for about 400 employees in its 

subsidiary projects, following the decision of the Cypriot government to proceed with the temporary 

suspension of works in construction sites in country (the relevant decision was revoked on 04.05.2020). 

The repatriation was done for the vast majority of employees, with special flights organized by the 

subsidiary TERNA SA in collaboration with Aegean. For the repatriated employees, all the procedures 

provided by the State and EODY were followed and GEK TERNA Group took care of their safe passage 

to their places of residence, inside and outside Athens.  

(ii) Effects arising from the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) per key operating segment of 
the Group and their mitigation measures   
 

The Group has taken all the necessary measures in order to continue the development of its core 

operations, continuing the exploitation of RES and Concessions and implementation of its investment 

plan in the energy segment, strengthening the efforts aimed at stabilizing the Greek economy and 

improving prospects of employment. More analytically per segment. 

¶ Construction Operating Segment   

In the Construction Operating Segment some delays occurred, despite the fact that none of the existing 

signed contracts was cancelled. In particular, for some projects thŜǊŜ ǿŀǎ ŀ ǎƘƻǊǘπǘŜǊƳ suspension of 

ǿƻǊƪ ŘǳŜ ǘƻ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜǎ ǘƻ ŀǾƻƛŘ ŎŀǎŜǎ ŎŀǳǎŜŘ ōȅ /h±L5πмфΦ 5ǳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǘƛƳŜ ƭƛƳƛǘ in respect of the 

outbreak of the pandemic, construction work resumed, again without achieving the execution rate in 

accordance with the initial plan.   

 

Regarding the current delays that have existed the Group does not ŦŀŎŜ ǘƘŜ Ǌƛǎƪ ƻŦ ƴƻƴπŎƻƳǇƭƛŀƴŎŜ 

with the contractual schedules, as the relevant deadlines are extended respectively. It is to be noted 

that the construction contracts also include relevant terms regarding force majeure events, providing 

an additional conventional level of security regarding the progress of the projects and their 

performance/compensation.   

 

The credit risk, in the context of the coronavirus pandemic, is limited to the possibility that customers 

might not comply with the agreed repayment terms. Significant delays in repayment of invoiced 
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operations were not found in 2020. Within 2021, even in a potentially moderate delay in collections, 

the Management estimates that it could not generate a cash problem in the segment.   

The  Management estimation is based on the following factors: (a) initially, that the Greek State  and 

entities of the broader State are the Employers in most of the construction projects undertaken by the 

Group, and, in most cases, have a constantly uninterrupted flow of resources (e.g. European resources 

or resources ǎŜŎǳǊŜŘ ōȅ ŎƻƴŎŜǎǎƛƻƴ ŎƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘŀǾŜ ŀǎǎƛƎƴŜŘ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎ ǘƻ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊƛŜǎ όōύ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ ǿƛǘƘ ƎǊŜŀǘ financial potential and (c) the support packages for 

the economy of European countries, already expected to be delivered by the European Central Bank 

(ECB) in order to mitigate the economic effects of coronavirus.  

It should be noted that, despite the extraordinary circumstances due to the global public health crisis, 

the Greek State has not currently announced the suspension of any tender procedure, as an initiative 

to support the Greek economy in practice.     

Given the need to boost the economic recovery ŀǎ ŀ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ /h±L5πмф ŎǊƛǎƛǎΣ ǘƘŜ aƛƴƛǎǘŜǊ ƻŦ 

Infrastructure and Transport has stated that starting the major projects constitutes an immediate 

priority for the Greek Government. In particular, the Greek Government intends to alter the 

institutional framework for tender procedures, so as to speed up licensing to include in strategic 

investments the major infrastructure projects, exceeding Euro 13 billion of which a significant part is 

estimated to be executed by the Group.    

 

A significant delay in the implementation of tender procedures due to changing priorities, from the 

Greek State, could procure significant problems to the construction industry, and to that extent to 

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ segment.   

 

The subsidiary TERNA S.A. is in favorable position due to (a) its leading position in the construction 

industry, in combination with the experienced and proven effective management team, and (b) the 

strong financial position of the company, able to support timely completion of all projects it has 

undertaken and or will undertake.     

¶ Electric Energy Operating Segment (Electricity Generation from Renewable Energy Sources 

[RES]):  

In the segment of electricity from RES, in Greece there was no interruption or other adverse 

impact on the activity of the Group's facilities that are in operation. As far as the RES facilities 

under construction are concerned, until today no delays have been caused due to the coronavirus 

pandemic (COVID-19) and the estimated time of completion and launching of the projects has not 

changed.  

In 2020, an extraordinary contribution for the Feed-in tariff regime was imposed on electricity 

producers from Renewable Energy Sources (RES) stations, which have been put into regular or 

trial operation until December 31, 2015 (Government Gazette 245/09.12.2020). This 

extraordinary contribution amounted to 6% of electricity sales for the year 2020. For the Group, 

the relevant extraordinary contribution amounted to Euro 5,252 thousand and was included in 

the item "Other income/(expenses)" of the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The  total estimated increase in ELAPE revenues from the above contribution stood at  Euro 110 

million.  
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Regarding the collections of the Group's revenues, no delays occurred in 2020. The Management 

estimates that 1) any delay in collecting the Group's revenues from DAPEEP does not currently 

seem to exceed the production value of six months, as happened in the past. Within the next year, 

a delay in collecting of six months will create, albeit temporarily, a cash issue of special attention 

of approximately 118 million Euro. This risk is general, applies to all RES producers and does not 

only concern TERNA ENERGY. Cash liquidity in the  Department of Energy Production of the 

Group's RES, allows the Management to manage any potential cash problem with relative ease, 

without interrupting the pace of implementation of the investment plan. In case the delay exceeds 

сπу months of production, the Management will reschedule its investment plan, business and cash 

planning so as to meet the increased cash needs and reduce the adverse consequences to a 

minimum. Orderly easing of the pace of deceleration and/or, where appropriate, cancellation of 

planned investments will prove inevitable, if the delay in recovery exceeds the reasonable limits 

and market operating practices. Even so, even in such a case, the Group, due to its size, ability, 

experience and determined strategy, is estimated to maintain its leading position in the market. 

¶ Real Estate Operating Segment  

The Group continues to maintain a conservative approach towards investment activities in the 

domestic real estate market. Taking into account the current financial conditions, the Group has 

decided to disinvest regarding particular properties. At the same time, it is considering alternative 

scenarios for the exploitation of a part of its investments and   it will continue its investments when 

deemed appropriate.  

¶ Concession Operating Segment ς Self/co-financed projects   

Concession operating segment mainly includes motorways concessions companies (NEA ODOS 

CONCESSION S.A. and CENTRAL GREECE MOTORWAY CONCESSION S.A.) and Kastelli airport concession 

(INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT OF HERAKLION CRETE CONCESSION S.A. ). 

Lƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ ƭƛƳƛǘ ǘƘŜ ǎǇǊŜŀŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /h±L5πмф ǇŀƴŘŜƳƛŎΣ ǎƛƴŎŜ CŜbruary 2020, the Greek State  has taken 

extraordinary measures, i.e. a number of Legislative Content Acts (PNP), as well as joint ministerial 

decisions (K.Y.A.), measures which directly affected the traffic in the Projects of the Motorway 

Concession Companies. In particular, restrictive measures were imposed on specific periods of traffic 

with a universal ban on movement within the territory, as well as with foreign countries. The ban on 

the movement of the population within the territory was not substantially normalized in its entirety 

by 2020, despite the fact that in some periods, transfers were  permitted.   

During 2020 and especially due to the implemented travel restrictive measures, the turnover of the 

ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊƛŜǎ Ϧb9! h5h{ /hb/9{{Lhb {Φ!Φέ ŀƴŘ ά/9b¢w![ Dw99/9 ah¢hw²!¸ /hb/9{{Lhb {Φ!Φέ 

όƘŜǊŜƛƴŀŦǘŜǊ ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ŀǎ άaƻǘƻǊǿŀȅ /ƻƴŎŜǎǎƛƻƴ /ƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎέ ) significantly decreased compared to 

2019.  

As a result of the above, the Motorway Concession Companies proceeded with notifications provided 

for in the relevant Concession Agreements and submitted claims for compensation for loss of income 

to the Greek State, pursuant to the relevant terms of the concession agreements. In particular, 
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pursuant to Articles 20 (Public intervention), 22 (Force Majeure Event) and 26 (Public Liability Event) 

of the Concession Agreements (hereinafter "the CA"), the above legal bases create a right to 

compensation of the Motorway Concession Companies for the loss of revenue they are subject to 

during 2020 due to COVID 19. The State has acknowledged that the traffic restriction measures it has 

taken constitute Authorized State Intervention, which adversely affect the operation and exploitation 

of the MCCs  and in accordance with the relevant articles of the Concession Agreements implemented 

the respective contractual clauses. The calculation of the compensation is determined on the basis of 

the concession agreements with an amount equal to the difference between the Revenues realized in 

the semester, when this event took place or in any subsequent semester, during which the relevant 

event or its consequences continue, and the Provision for Revenue of the Updated Approved Financial 

Models for the same period.    

Pursuant to the above provisions of the Concession Agreements, the aforementioned companies of 

the Group submitted to the State claims for compensation for the loss of income suffered in 2020 

amounting to Euro 33.7 million. The loss of income suffered were recognized in the consolidated 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the annual period ended 31.12.2020 and included in the item 

"Other income/(expenses)". From the above amount, an amount of Euro 15.1 million has been 

collected until the approval date of the accompanying financial statements.  

Regarding the concession company of the New International Airport of Heraklion in Crete, after the 

start date of the concession in February 2020, the study-construction period of the Project has started 

(five years) which continues according to the concession agreement. In addition, as during the first 

period of the construction period, the project is in the process of completing technical studies for a 

period of at least six (6) additional months, no impact is expected. 

In addition, it is worth noting that the concession agreement of the project in Kastelli, is structured to 

protect the Concessionaire from force majeure events - such as COVID-19 - providing an additional 

conventional level of security in respect of the development of the project and its performance.  

¶ Quarry /  Industry Operating Segment     

The segment's activity in extracting and processing whitewash and subsequent production of 

magnesium products, which are almost entirely exported to various countries, has decreased 

ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘƭȅ ŘǳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /h±L5πмф ǇŀƴŘŜƳƛŎΣ ŀǎ ŀ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ ǘƘe problems created in the transportation 

of goods to the customers' countries.  

Consequently, the subsidiary TERNA LEFKOLITHI has decreased the production waiting for 

normalization of the market, while at the same time rescheduling the operation of the production 

procedures for the optimal use of existing inventory of whitewash and existing equipment.    

 

Summary  

¢ƘŜ ŎƻǊƻƴŀǾƛǊǳǎ ǇŀƴŘŜƳƛŎ ό/h±L5πмфύ Ƙŀǎ ƭŜŘ ǘƘŜ Ǝƭƻōŀƭ ŜŎƻƴƻƳȅ ǘƻ ŀ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ƻŦ ǳƴŎŜǊǘŀƛƴǘȅ ŀƴŘ 

instability, the consequences of which are difficult to assess based on the currently available data, since 
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the situation is evolving. The economic impact will depend on the term and intensity of the recession 

as well as the emerging recovery prospects. The management of the Group estimates that the 

operation, financial performance, cash flows and financial position of the Group will not be significantly 

affected. In any case the management of the Group ensures the preservation of orderly operation both 

in Greece and in other countries where the Group operates, applying procedures for continuous 

identification and evaluation of all risks that may arise in the near future. The Management in direct, 

continuous and systematic cooperation with the Risk Managers and the executives of the Group, plans 

and implements measures to deal with any identified risk in order to limit its negative effects to the 

minimum possible. The organizational efficiency of the Group and the continuous foster of the 

Management to use its managers by project and specific topic, depending on the required ability and 

experience have created a proven capable, flexible and effective mechanism for dealing with any 

possible crisis in any company of the Group and if it appears. Due to the existence of this basic principle, 

stems the immediate reaction of the Management and the above mechanism for dealing with the 

epidemic crisis with prudence, calm and strategic perspective. 

 

3) Other risks and uncertainties  

 

Backlog of the construction contracts   

The backlog of the construction contracts does not necessarily constitute an indication of future 

revenues from the Group's operations in this segment. Although the backlog of these contracts 

represents the projects that are considered certain, no guarantee can be given that cancellations or 

adjustments will not be performed. The backlog of the Group's construction contracts may fluctuate 

in connection with the delays in the projects implementation and/or receivables or inability to fulfil 

contractual obligations.       

 

Tender procedures   

Law 4782/2021, published on 09.03.2021, reformed the existing regulatory framework for public 

procurement under Law 4412/2016, which incorporates in the Greek Legislation Directives 2014/24 

/EU (L 94/65) and 2014/25/ EU (L 94/243) as well as Laws 3433/2006 ό!Ω 20), 3883/2010 ό!Ω 167) and 

3978/2011 (A '137) which regulate the issues of public procurement in defense and security sectors.  

According to the explanatory memorandum, Part A' reforms provisions of Law 4412/2016 that 

constitutes the existing regulatory framework for issues of public procurements, services and projects 

in order to simplify and clarify the legal provisions, reduce bureaucracy, increase the effectiveness of 

public procurement and projects implementation, expand the use of electronic means (e-

procurement), increase participation of small and medium-sized enterprises in public procurement 

procedures and address irregularities, such as the issue of excessively low bids and  excessive 

attachment to formality to the substance of the bids. Law 4412/2016 presented a number of problems 

that contracting authorities as well as the economic operators had identified. The attempt to address 

such irregularities was fragmented and, quite often, insufficient. It is symptomatic that  the provisions 

of Law 4412/2016 had been amended more than 300 times. However, the current economic conditions 

have generated the need to increase the efficiency of the procedures for  preparation, assignment and 

implementation of public procurements  in order to speed up the relevant procedures, while improving 
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the quality of goods, services and projects supplied by the State without jeopardizing the issues of 

transparency and integrity. Moreover, the effectiveness of the public procurement system is expected 

to reinforce the capacity of the Greek State in public investments, as well as in faster absorption and 

utilization of EU funds and financial facilities, in particular, in view of  NSRF 2021-2027 program period 

and the Recovery of and Resilience Fund (RRF) aimed at  supporting reorganization and improving 

resilience to crises of the economies of the European Union Member States. Realization of the above 

objectives will be evident through the implementation of the above institutional framework.   

Furthermore, on 08.01.2021,  the Hellenic Competition Commission, taking into consideration article 

11 of Law 3959/2011 on regulatory intervention in sectors of economy, decided ex officio to initiate 

the relevant procedure in the construction segment and sent out relevant questions to ensure 

provision of information from construction segment companies. On 07.04.2021, the Hellenic 

Competition Commission published its preliminary views on the aforementioned matter regarding the 

competition conditions in the construction segment, asking all the interested parties to contribute to 

the public consultation on the published text. The consultations last from 08.04.2021 until 07.05.2021 

and the Group considers its active participation in the procedure, aiming, among other things, at 

pointing out any incorrect data identified in the text published by the Hellenic Competition 

Commission.   

 

 

E. Projected course and Development 

GEK TERNA ς the parent company of the Group (www.gekterna.com) is listed on Athens Stock 

Exchange (FTSE/Athex Large Cap) and is one of the largest business groups in Greece, also holding 

operations in Central and Southeastern Europe, the USA and Middle East.   

The Group operates in the fields of infrastructure, energy production, supply and trade, concessions, 

waste management, mining and real estate development & management.   

The Group occupies  over 3,400 employees (directly 2,500 and in its proportion through joint ventures 

900) worldwide, while its total investments in recent years have exceeded Euro 2.3 billion, thus actively 

supporting the Greek economy and the country's banking system, constantly maintaining all the 

Group's money resources in the Greek banks.    

¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǇƛǇŜƭƛƴŜ ƛƴ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŘŀǘŜ ƻŦ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ CƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ {ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘŜŘ 

to Euro 2.2 billion including the signed and to be signed new contracts, while the total installed capacity 

of the energy units owned or in which the Group participates exceeds 1,945 MW. At the same time, 

the implemented Concessions and PPP projects are in full operation. 

In the beginning of 2020, Greek economy was on a growing course according to confirmed estimates 

by competent bodies, which they predicted the acceleration of the growth rate. 

The ongoing growth of both Greek and global economies has been challenged again by the emergence 

and spread of COVID-19, the impact of which on economic activity cannot be accurately assessed at 

this stage, as it is not yet known the duration and extent of the spread of this phenomenon, despite 
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the fact that the discovery of vaccines against COVID-19 has given a new perspective for the second 

half of 2021 and for the coming years.  

However, it is to be noted that strengthening of investment activity in the segments, where GEK TERNA 

Group operates (RES, Concessions, Infrastructure Constructions) constitutes a matter of high priority 

of both the Greek state and the European Union in the attempt to facilitate economic recovery and 

addressing  the financial consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic. Recently, the Greek State 

introduced a new framework for accelerating the implementation of investments in RES, while at the 

same time in the segment of infrastructure construction there is a willingness to accelerate tenders for 

new concession projects and PPPs. Given the multiplier effect, the infrastructure projects significantly 

contribute to GDP growth and boost employment. In this context, GEK TERNA Group as a member of 

INSPIRE ATHENS has become a temporary Contractor in the project Integrated Casino Resort in 

Hellinikon and at the same time participates in the tender procedure of concession projects such as 

Egnatia Odos, North Road Axis of Crete, underwater coupling of Salamina - Perama etc.  

In 2021, GEK TERNA Group will continue to implement its strategy for continuing growth in the Greek 

and international markets in RES, Concessions and Construction segments. The objective is to maintain 

its leading position in the Greek market and pursue its sustainable development in the overseas 

markets in order to achieve a satisfactory diversification of business risk and maintain a satisfactory 

return on its capital. Prospects for achieving the objectives set for 2021 are positive given that:   

 

In the Construction Operating Segment:  

The Group, mainly through its 100% subsidiary TERNA SA, has been operating in the construction 

segment for almost half a century, both π in the Middle East and Southeast Europe π implementing a 

ǿƛŘŜ ǊŀƴƎŜ ƻŦ ƭŀǊƎŜ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƳǇƭŜȄ ǇǳōƭƛŎ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƛǾŀǘŜ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎΣ ƻŦ ƘƛƎƘ ōǳŘƎŜǘǎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƳǇƭŜȄ ƪƴƻǿπƘƻǿΣ 

such as construction of motorways and rail networks, buildings, hospitals, museums, industrial 

facilities, hydroelectric projects, dams, industrial facilities, power plants, etc.       

The prospects for the coming years are in favor of improving the economic sizes of the segment,  while 

the backlog of construction objects is maintained at high levels, amounting to approximately Euro 1.6 

billion on 31.12.2020 and at the date of preparation of the financial statements with the new 

agreements signed or to be signed standing at  Euro 2.2 billion, according to the statements of the 

competent Minister, the Greek Government intends to change the institutional framework regarding 

the    tender procedures, in order to speed up licensing so that the major infrastructure projects, which 

exceed Euro 13 billion, could be incorporated in the investment strategy legislation.     

At the same time, the existence of synergies that will arise from the implementation of new 

investments within the Group, will assist in improving the financial sizes of the segment.   It is to be 

noted that the implementation of the above projects will have significant positive multiplier effects on 

the Greek economy.     

The Group, in the context of consistency and high sense of corporate social responsibility that 

distinguishes it, will remain a pioneer in the domain of construction, generating satisfactory profits for 
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its shareholders in line with its strategic planning, despite the adverse conditions, arising in the 

ōŜƎƛƴƴƛƴƎ ƻŦ нлнлΣ ŜȄŀŎŜǊōŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ /h±L5πмф ǇŀƴŘŜƳƛŎΦ       

In the Energy Operating Segment:  

 

a) Electricity production from RES     

Not only in the international but also in the Greek economic environment, political leaders have 

recently reaffirmed their interest in developing Renewable Energy Sources and the fastest possible 

replacement of traditional, thermal (lignite, coal, etc.) sources by wind, photovoltaic etc. in order to 

effectively address the increasing burden of the natural environment.  

In this context, the Group, through its subsidiary TERNA ENERGY SA, is justified regarding its strategic 

decision to drastically invest  in the field of renewable energy sources, obtaining in operation, on 

31.12.2020, 606 MW in Greece, 510 MW in the USA, 102 MW in Poland and 30 MW in Bulgaria, thus 

contributing to combating environmental pollution, while generating satisfactory profits to its 

shareholders.   

Particularly in Greece, significant developments are expected  following  a series of 

Governmental decisions, such as replacing lignite as fuel for the purposes of the country's 

electrification, privatization of DEPA Commerce (the Group participating in the tender in progress) and 

DEPA Infrastructure, as well as privatization of D.E.D.D.I.E. and further disposal of 49% of ADMIE (The 

Independent Power Transmission Operator), will bring about significant developments, when rapid 

adaptation will become a critical factor for  restructuring the market and  redistribution of the role and 

share of the main competitors within it.       

Through its subsidiary TERNA ENERGY, making the best possible use of its dominant position and ƪƴƻǿπ 

how in RES and appreciating the favorable environment in this domain, the Group continues the 

implementation of its investment plan in Greece, proceeding with new investments in the production 

of net energy of approximately total budget of Euro 550 million.    

The construction of new wind farms in Evia has already begun, as the acquisition of the portfolio of 

licensed and under licensing wind farms of 270 MW capacity of the company "RF Omalies MAE" by "RF 

ENERGY SA" has been completed.     

In addition to the aforementioned new investments in wind farms, the Group through its subsidiary 

TERNA ENERGY, has already launched additional investments totaling over Euro 1 billion, which relate 

to new wind farms in various areas of Greece, environmental and waste management projects and 

clean energy projects, such as the Amari Hybrid Station in Crete and the pumping project in Amfilochia. 

Those are two extremely significant investments of approximately Euro 800 million, required to 

balance transmission networks and transition to a ŎŀǊōƻƴπŦǊŜŜ economy. Already launched 

investments in conjunction with the new wind farms in Evia raise the Group's total investment plan 
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through the subsidiary TERNA ENERGY to approximately Euro 1.7 billion, so that the total installed 

capacity of the Company could reach 3,000 MW within the next five years.    

The Group, in the context of consistency and high sense of corporate social responsibility that 

distinguishes it, will remain a pioneer in the field of investment and will strive to maintain the Group's 

pace of growth, generating satisfactory profits for its shareholders, according to its strategic planning,   

despite the adverse conditions, arising from the beginning of 2020, exacerbated by the /h±L5πмф 

pandemic and are maintained until 2021, as well as by the effects of the natural phenomenon in Texas, 

USA in early 2021. 

 

b) Electricity production from thermal energy sources ς Trade of electricity    

GEK TERNA GROUP is also involved in thermal energy production through its participation 

in    THERMOELECTRIC STATION OF VIOTIA SA (HERON II S.A.) having partnered with two international 

leading energy players, ENGIE (former GDF Suez) and Qatar Petroleum, joining forces also in the 

company THERMOELECTRIC S.A. (HERON I S.A.) (www.heron.gr), in which ENGIE (former GDF Suez) 

participates, owning two thermal power plants with an installed capacity of 147 MW and 435 MW 

(HERON I and HERON II respectively), in Viotia, operating in the fields of production, supply and trade 

of electricity.      

The expected effect of the government's decisions to replace lignite as fuel for the country's 

electrification confirms the Group's strategic decision to heavily invest in construction and operation 

of a new natural gas unit of a combined nominal net capacity of 600 MW in Komotini, which requires 

an investment of approximately Euro 300 million, estimating that satisfactory profits will emerge for 

the benefit of the Group's shareholders.   

In the Concession Operating Segment  - Self/co-financed projects:  

The Group displays an impressive dynamic through its involvement in financing, management and 

commercial exploitation of concession projects.  

The Group controls the companies NEA ODOS and CENTRAL MOTORWAY by 100%, and its participation 

in OLYMPIA ODOS stands at a percentage of 17% of its share capital, while it also participates in 

construction and operation of parking stations.       

Moreover, through its subsidiary TERNA ENERGY, the Group participates in projects through PPPs, such 

as a) the Epirus Waste Management Unit, launched on 27.03.2019 and has exploitation capacity for 25 

years, b) Peloponnese Region Waste Management Unit, whose construction started on 29.01.2021, 2 

years construction term and operating period of 26 years. 

It participates with 70% investment in the Electronic Ticket Service Company SA - HELLAS SMARTICKET 

SA, which has undertaken the operation of the automatic fare collection system for urban transport in 

Athens. The term of the concession will be 10 years after the construction period.     

http://www.heron.gr/
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It participates in the Joint Venture TERNA ENERGY (70%) - INDIGITAL (15%) - AMCO (15%), which 

undertook the construction of the project ά5ƛƎƛǘŀƭ Transformation, Telematics and Unified 

Automatic Fare Collection System for the Transport Authority of Thessaloniki  (TheTA)", whose 

total budget amounted to Euro 30 million plus VAT. The agreement provides for the construction 

period (12 months) and provision of maintenance and operation support services for five (5) years 

from completion, while the Contracting Authority reserves the right to extend the maintenance 

and operation support period for another five (5) years.  

At the same time, the Management continues to investigate new investments for the expansion of the 

Group's activity in Greece and abroad, constantly monitoring the developments in the Greek economy, 

collaborating with financial agents and expert analysts of international markets.  

To this end, in search and launch of new investments in the form of Concession and PPP contracts, GEK 

TERNA SA, as a member of INSPIRE ATHENS, was notified about the decision of the independent 

ŀŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƛǾŜ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ άIŜƭƭŜƴƛŎ DŀƳƛƴƎ /ƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ όID/ύέΣ ƛƴ ƭƛƴŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ aƛƴǳǘŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

CƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴŎŜǎǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀ ǿƛŘŜπǊŀƴƎŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ /ŀǎƛƴƻ hǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ [ƛŎŜƴǎŜ ό9Y!½ύ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 

Hellinikon π Agios Kosmas Metropolitan Pole. The decision pertains to the results of the evaluation 

phase of the Bidders' Entry Documents. Under the aforementioned decisions, (as announced in the 

official Press Release of the HGC issued on 20.01.2020), the Bid submitted by SHRE/SHRI,  LLC, has been 

rejected and the Bid, submitted by INSPIRE ATHENS, comprising "MGE Hellinikon BV", "Mohegan 

Gaming Advisors, LLC" and "GEK TERNA SA" has been accepted. As at 30.01.2020, the company 

"SHRE/SHRI LLC" filed preliminary appeal to the Authority for the Examination of Preliminary Appeals 

(hereinafter, "AEPP"). The preliminary appeal of the applicant was rejected following no. 10/2020 

decision of AEPP. "SHRE / SHRI LLC" protested against the above decision to the Council of State, under 

no. 69/2020 application for suspension of execution and issuance of a temporary order for suspension 

of execution, which was rejected under no. 72/2020 decision of the Committee of Suspensions of the 

CoC (Plenary Session). Furthermore, SHRE/SHRI LLC filed an application to the CoC (Plenary Session) 

for annulment against the above decision of the AEPP which was heard on 03.07.2020. On 24.09.2020, 

the decision of the CoC No. 1819/2020 was published, rejecting the application for annulment of 

SHRE/SHRI against the decision no. 10/2020 of the AEPP decision and, therefore, the application is now 

permanently excluded.  

On 28.08.2020, the Competitor INSPIRE ATHENS was disclosed the decision number 504/1/ 30.07.2020 

of HGC on: "Validation of the results of the evaluation stage of the File" Technical Offer "of the 

International Public Tender for the Granting of a Casino Operating License (EKAZ) for a wide range of 

activities in the Metropolitan Pole of Hellinikon π Agios Kosmas", as well as a copy of Conduct of the 

Competition, establishing that the Technical offer contained no shortcomings and the competitor 

continues to participate in the next phase of the Competition. On 08.09.2020, SHRE / SHRI filed the 

preliminary appeal to AEPP against the above decision, which was rejected with its nr 21/2020 

decision. On 24.09.2020, the Council of State decision num. 1819/2020 was issued, rejecting the appeal 

for cancellation filed by SHRE/SHRI against no. 10/2020 decision of AEPP  and is therefore now 

permanently excluded. 
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On 07.10.2020, the EEEP proceeded with unsealing the Financial offer of the INSPIRE ATHENS 

Association of Persons, and following its evaluation and relevant rating by the Tender Committee, the 

association was declared a Temporary Contractor for the Granting of a Casino Operating License (EKAZ) 

ƛƴ ǘƘŜ IŜƭƭƛƴƛƪƻƴ π !Ǝƛƻǎ YƻǎƳŀǎ aŜǘǊƻǇƻƭƛǘŀƴ tƻƭŜ ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜƴ ƛƴǾƛǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǎǳōƳƛǘ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘǎ 

of a temporary contractor.   

The exploitation of the Motorway Concessions, the exploitation of the Waste Management Units, the 

Operation of the Automatic Fare Collection System and the future operation of Kastelli Airport after 

the completion of the construction, are expected to bring significant improved results in the future, 

according to existing estimates, not substantially affected by the temporary adverse conditions created 

in early 2020 by the outbreak of the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic, due to the nature of existing 

contracts.  

The Group confirms its strategic decision to invest dynamically in the segment of PPPs, while creating 

satisfactory profits for the benefit of its shareholders.  

 

In the Real Estate Operating Segment:  

GEK TERNA Group is also engaged in real estate development and management with a broad portfolio 

in Greece, Bulgaria, and Romania, including business centers, industrial parks, entertainment parks, 

residential properties, hotels, etc.  and at the same time examines alternative scenarios for the 

exploitation of a part of the investments and where it deems appropriate, it will continue its 

investments.     

 

In the Quarry/Industry Operating Segment:    

The Group is also involved in extracting and processing whitewash and subsequent production of 

magnesium products through subsidiary TERNA LEFKOLITHOI SA, mainly focusing on export 

(www.ternamag.com).    

 

Despite the negative results recorded in the current year in the industry segment, the company is 

already rescheduling its operating activities, in order to reduce the cost of its products, estimating that 

the industry segment will return to profitability in the future.    

 

 

F. Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) 

 

Lƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǘŜȄǘ ƻŦ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ DǳƛŘŜƭƛƴŜǎ ƻƴ ά!ƭǘŜǊƴŀǘƛǾŜ tŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ aŜŀǎǳǊŜǎέ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA/2015/1415el) effective as from July 3rd 2016 in 

respect of Alternative Performance Measures (APMs).  

The Group applies Alternative Performance Measures under decision making regarding its financial, 

operational and strategic planning as well as when evaluating and recording its performance. APMs 

facilitate better understanding of financial and operating results of the Group and its financial position. 
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APMs should always be taken into account in conjunction with the financial results recorded under 

IFRSs and should under no circumstances replace them.    

It is to be noted that within the current year, the Group decided to redefine the way of presenting  the 

financial reporting per operating segment. This decision of the Management was based on its 

assessment that this change leads to providing more relevant information regarding the financial 

performance and the evaluation of the performance of the individual operating segments of the Group. 

In particular, from the current year onwards, the operating segments will be presented before the 

eliminations made between the different operating segments for the purposes of the consolidated 

financial statements, in contrast to the presentation up to the previous year where the operating 

segments' results were presented after the eliminations between different segments. The 

Intersegment eliminations (which during the presentation of the individual operating segments carried 

out within them) are now presented separately in a separate column "Intersegment eliminations".    

The following ratios are used to describe the GroupΩs performance per operating segment:     

 

άNet Debt / (Surplusύέ   

Lǘ ƛǎ ŀ ǊŀǘƛƻΣ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀǎǎŜǎǎŜǎ ǘƘŜ ŎŀǎƘ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ of an operating 

segment at any given time. The ratio is defined as total loan liabilities and bank leases less cash 

available. If restricted deposits are excluded from the aforementioned ratio, (Note 20) and grants to 

be repaid (Note 31) are added, then the item of "Net Debt/(Surplus)" less restricted deposits and grants 

ǘƻ ōŜ ǊŜǘǳǊƴŜŘέ ǿƛƭƭ ŀǊƛǎŜΦ     

The ratio is recorded as follows in 2020 and 2019:  

 

 GROUP 

 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Long-term loans (Note 24) 2,198,693 1,788,773 

Liabilities from bank leases (Note 25) 526 6,848 

Short-term loans (Note 24) 116,505 130,598 

Long-term liabilities payable during the next financial year 
(Note 17) 

109,958 105,123 

Total bank debt 2,425,682 2,031,342 

   
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 23) (1,108,417) (594,671) 

Net Debt / (Surplus) (Note 6) 1,317,265 1,436,671 

Less: Blocked bank deposit accounts (Note 20) (106,008) (51,547) 

Add: Approved and collected grants to be returned (Note 
31) 

3,024 3,024 

Net Debt / (Surplus) after restricted deposits and Grants to 
be repaid 

1,214,281 1,388,148 
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ά.ŀƴƪ 5Ŝōǘ ǘƻ ¢ƻǘŀƭ /ŀǇƛǘŀƭ 9ƳǇƭƻȅŜŘέ    

It is a ratio, based on which the Management assesses the Group's financial leverage. ά¢ƻǘŀƭ ōŀƴƪ 

ŘŜōǘέ is defined as the sum of Short Term Loans, Long Term Loans, Bank lease liabilities and Long term 

liabilities payable during the next financial year. The ά¢ƻǘŀƭ /ŀǇƛǘŀƭ 9ƳǇƭƻȅŜŘέ is defined as the sum 

of Total Equity, Total bank debt and Equity investments equivalent to financial liabilities (Note 26), the 

repayment of which follows the repayment of primary debt of the corresponding Wind Farms and is 

performed only to the extent that the required return from their operation is met, the state grants 

minus the amount of cash and cash equivalents which are not subject to any limitation in use or to any 

commitment.        

The ratio is recorded as follows in 2020 and 2019:    

 GROUP 

 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Total bank debt (Note 6) (a) 2,425,682 2,031,342 

Total equity 823,868 766,875 
Equity investments equivalent to financial liabilities (Note 
26) 

281,263 375,772 

Grants 102,266 154,699 

Sub total (b) 3,633,079 3,328,688 

Less:    

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 23) (1,108,417) (594,671) 

Blocked bank deposit accounts (Note 20) (106,008) (51,547) 

Approved and collected grants to be returned (Note 31) 3,024 3,024 

Sub total (c) (1,211,401) (643,194) 

   
Total Capital Employed (b+c)=(d) 2,421,678 2,685,494 

   
Total Bank Debt / Total Capital Employed (a)/(d) 100.17% 75.64% 

 

EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest Taxes Depreciation & Amortization) 

It is a ratio, based on which the Management of the Group assesses the operational performance of 

ab operating segment. "EBITDA" is defined as Earnings Before Interest& Taxes (EBIT), plus depreciation 

ŀƴŘ ŀƳƻǊǘƛȊŀǘƛƻƴΣ ƭŜǎǎ ŀƴȅ ŜǉǳƛǘȅπōŀǎŜŘ ƎǊŀƴǘǎ as presented in the accompanying financial 

statements.    

 

Adjusted EBITDA (Adjusted Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation & Amortization)  

Ϧ!ŘƧǳǎǘŜŘ 9.L¢5!Ϧ ƛǎ ŘŜŦƛƴŜŘ ŀǎ 9.L¢5!Σ Ǉƭǳǎ ŀƴȅ ƴƻƴπŎŀǎƘ ƛǘŜƳǎΦ    
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(EBIT ςEarnings Before Interest and Taxes) 

EBIT is defined as the Gross Profit less Administrative and Distribution Expenses, less Research and 

Development Expenses, plus/less Other Revenues/(Expenses) EBIT determinants. Other Revenues/ 

(expenses) EBIT determinants  are defined as Other Revenues/(Expenses) apart from the items of 

Foreign Currency Translation  Payment and Valuation Differences and Impairments/(Reversals of 

Impairments) of fixed assets as presented in Note 39. 

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA ratios in 2020 and 2019 per operating segment and as a total are 

presented below as follows:    
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Business segments 31.12.2020 Constructions 
Electricity from 

RES 

Electricity 
from thermal 
energy and 
HP trading 

Real Estate 
Mining / 
Industry 

Concessions Holdings 
Intersegment 
Eliminations  

Consolidated 
Total 

          

Gross profit 35,406 141,660 515 (68) (985) 35,556 (647) 3,392 214,829 

Administrative and distribution 
expenses 

(31,184) (21,529) (366) (604) (4,155) (10,897) (11,714) 960 (79,489) 

Research and development expenses (1,145) (2,716) 0 0 (160) (479) (16) 0 (4,516) 

Other income/(expenses) attributable 
ǘƻ 9ɰɹʆ  

3,868 10,036 625 (272) (7,908) 19,933 650 (957) 25,975 

Results (EBIT) 6,945 127,451 774 (944) (13,208) 44,113 (11,727) 3,395 156,799 

          

Net depreciation 11,048 66,483 18 612 2,702 44,000 145 (3,628) 121,380 

EBITDA 17,993 193,934 792 (332) (10,506) 88,113 (11,582) (233) 278,179 

          
Non cash results 1,038 (37) 61 585 6,420 17,179 2,871 0 28,117 

Adjusted EBITDA 19,031 193,897 853 253 (4,086) 105,292 (8,711) (233) 306,296 
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Business segments 31.12.2019 Constructions 
Electricity 
from RES 

Electricity from 
thermal energy 
and HP trading 

Real Estate 
Mining / 
Industry 

Concessions Holdings 
Intersegment 
Eliminations 

Consolidated 
Total 

          

Gross profit 40,036 120,837 2,227 560 (1,080) 77,545 268 (3,917) 236,476 

Administrative and distribution 
expenses 

(33,975) (20,538) (316) (926) (4,736) (9,563) (6,338) 734 (75,658) 

Research and development expenses (1,082) (1,456) 0 0 (304) (1,088) 0 0 (3,930) 

Other income/(expenses) attributable 
ǘƻ 9ɰɹʆ  

(1,332) 20,820 306 813 (4,671) (15,233) (40) (291) 372 

Results (EBIT) 3,647 119,663 2,217 447 (10,791) 51,661 (6,110) (3,474) 157,260 

          
Net depreciation 11,266 56,192 41 606 2,191 44,201 131 0 114,628 

EBITDA 14,913 175,855 2,258 1,053 (8,600) 95,862 (5,979) (3,474) 271,888 

          
Non cash results 1,261 1,077 0 (837) 4,483 7,261 16 0 13,261 

Adjusted EBITDA 16,174 176,932 2,258 216 (4,117) 103,123 (5,963) (3,474) 285,149 

 

 

Adjustments to non-cash results for 2020 relate to provisions for staff compensation 2,762, an expense recognized from the grant of stock options 3,257, impairments of 

investment properties 530, provisions for heavy maintenance 16,544, Impairments of receivables and inventories, other provisions and  earnings from elimination of 

liabilities amount 5,024.  
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G. Payment Report to Governments  

In accordance with the provisions of article 6 of Law 3556/2007 as effective, the Group, due to the 

mining activity of quarry products of its subsidiary TERNA LEFKOLITHI, paid to the Greek Government 

during the year ended 31.12.2020, an amount of Euro 56,419.  

 

H. Non-Financial Information Report 2020 

 

Introduction 

¢Ƙƛǎ bƻƴπCƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜƭŀǘŜǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǎŎŀƭ ȅŜŀǊ ŜƴŘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ омst of December 2020. The 

Statement has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Law 4403/2016 and includes 

information on the performance of the GEK Terna Group of Companies related to the following areas, 

ŀǎ ƻǳǘƭƛƴŜŘ ƛƴ {ŜŎǘƛƻƴ т άbƻƴπCƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ {ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘέ ƻŦ /ƛǊŎǳƭŀǊ снтупκнлмтΣ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ [ŀǿ 

4403/2016 of the Ministry ̌ f Economy and Development (today Ministry of Development and 

Investments): 

Á Business model/main non-financial risks 
Á !ƴǘƛπŎƻǊǊǳǇǘƛƻƴ ƛǎǎǳŜǎ  
Á Supply chain issues  
Á Respect for human rights  
Á Social and labor issues  
Á Environmental and energy issues  

   
The statement presents information on the main risks related to the above areas and the Group's 
activities, the due diligence policies as well as other policies applied by the Group for each of the above 
areas. For a better understanding of the Group's performance, the results of these policies are 
ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜŘ ŀƴŘ ǊŜƭŜǾŀƴǘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀƴŘ ƴƻƴπŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǇŜǊŦƻrmance indicators are listed. In addition, a 
brief description of the Group's business model is provided.    
 

The content of this Non-Financial statement has been prepared taking into consideration the GRI 
{ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎΣ ǘƘŜ {!{. {ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘ ά9ƴƎƛƴŜŜǊƛƴƎ ϧ /ƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ {ŜǊǾƛŎŜǎΣ нлмуέ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ Athens Stock 
Exchange ESG Reporting Guide (2019).  

In addition, in this statement and according to the Letter of the Hellenic Capital Market Commission 
ŘŀǘŜŘ рκммκнлнлΣ ǘƘŜ ǘƘŜƳŀǘƛŎ ŀǎǇŜŎǘ άLƳǇŀŎǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /h±L5-19 pandemic on non-ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƛǎǎǳŜǎέ ƛǎ 
included. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.athexgroup.gr/documents/10180/5665122/ENG-ESG+REPORTING+GUIDE/28a9a0e5-f72c-4084-9047-503717f2f3ff
https://www.athexgroup.gr/documents/10180/5665122/ENG-ESG+REPORTING+GUIDE/28a9a0e5-f72c-4084-9047-503717f2f3ff


GEK TERNA GROUP 

Annual Financial Report of the fiscal year 1 January 2020 - 31 December 2020 

(Amounts in thousands Euro, unless otherwise stated) 

52 

Business Model  

Group Business Model  

Inputs Business activities and processes 

Outputs ï The value we create 

Impacts on the Economy, Society and the 
Environment Our contribution to the Sustainable Development Goals 

FINANCIAL CAPITAL  
- Equity and debt  
 

OUR VALUES:  
Respect for human rights and the natural environment.  
Value creation for employees, business partners, customers 
and shareholders. 
Honesty and reliability. 
Contribution to society through targeted actions. 

 
 
OUR PROCESSES:  
ω {ǳǎǘŀƛƴŀōƭŜ 5ŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ {ǘǊŀǘŜƎȅ 
ω /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ 9ǘƘƛŎǎ ŀƴŘ /ƻƴŘǳŎǘ  
ω /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ /ƻŘŜ  
ω Responsible Supply Chain Management 
ω tŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ 5ŀǘŀ tƻƭƛŎȅ  

 
 
OUR BUSINESS ACTIVITIES:  
ω LƴŦǊŀǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜ  
ω /ƻƴŎŜǎǎƛƻƴǎ 
ω /ƭŜŀƴ 9ƴŜǊƎȅ  
ω ¢ƘŜǊƳŀƭ 9ƴŜǊƎȅ  
ω ²ŀǎǘŜ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ  
ω aƛƴƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘȅ  
ω Real Estate  
ω hǘƘŜǊ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ 

¶ Creation and distribution of 
economic value 

 

¶ Ensuring Health and Safety at 
Work 

 

¶ Continuous Talent 
Development and Retention  

 

¶ Protection of Human and 
Labor Rights 

 

¶ Environmental Compliance 
 
 

¶ Responsible Energy 
Management 

 
 
 

¶ Tackling Climate Change 
 

¶ Protecting and Preserving 
Biodiversity 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HUMAN CAPITAL  
- 3,358 employees  
- Knowledge, skills and 
abilities  
- Ethics  
NATURAL CAPITAL  
- Air  
- Water  
- Sun 
- Land use  
- Raw and other materials  
 
MANUFACTURED 
CAPITAL  
ς Industrial units  
 
INTELLECTUAL 
CAPITAL 
- Patents  
- Intellectual property  
- Protocols, Procedures  
 

SOCIAL CAPITAL and SUPPLIERS 
- 6,393 suppliers in 19(*) countries and 4 
continents 
 
*19 countries with over 1million euros 
procurement costs, 51 in total   
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¶ Ensuring Business Ethics and 
Regulation  

 

¶ Ensuring Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing at Work  

  
¶ Engagement with Local 

Communities and Social 
Investment 
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GEK TERNA GROUP is one of the largest business Groups in Greece and operates in Central 

and Southeastern Europe, the USA and the Middle East.  

The Group has a leading position in the fields of infrastructure, energy production, supply and 

trade from thermal sources and RES, concessions, waste management and real estate 

development & management. 

GEK TERNA is listed on the Athens Stock Exchange (FTSE / Athex Large Cap) with a turnover of 

Euro 971 million while the backlog of construction work is maintained at high levels, 

amounting to approximately Euro 1.6 billion on 31.12.2020 and at the date of preparation of 

the financial statements with the new agreements signed or to be signed standing at  Euro 2,2 

billion. Moreover, the total capacity of the energy plants that the Group owns or participates 

in, reaches 2,400 MW.  

Indicator C-G1: Sustainability oversight 

As a socially responsible Group, its business activity evolves hand in hand with a long-term 

value creation, giving priority to the individual, the environment and the society. To this end, 

ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ Ǝƻŀƭ ŦƻǊ нлнм ƛǎ ǘƻ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ ǘƘŜ ǎǳǎǘŀƛƴŀōƭŜ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ǘƻǇƛŎǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ .ƻ5Ωǎ  

agenda in order to discuss them during the meetings. 

Throughout its history, the Group has built relationships of trust with all its stakeholders, 

remaining true to the principles governing its business operations and activities: 

¶ Respect for people and the natural environment. 

¶ Value creation for its employees, partners, customers and shareholders. 

¶ Honesty and credibility. 

¶ Targeted social contribution. 

 

Indicator SS-E7: Backlog cancellations 

There were no project cancellations but there was temporary cessation of operations on 

specific (2) construction sites during 2020 due to COVID ς 19 pandemic. 
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The presence and activities of the Group 

Infrastructure 

Countries: Greece, Bulgaria, Serbia, Romania, Qatar, Bahrain, Cyprus, Albania, UAE, Saudi 

Arabia, Iraq  

GEK TERNA Group, has been actively involved in the construction segment for almost half a 

century, through its 100% subsidiary TERNA S.A. TERNA S.A (www.terna.gr) was founded in 

1972 and is one of the leading Greek construction companies specializing in complex and 

demanding infrastructure projects, a partner of international Groups with experience in 

Greece and abroada and with significant synergies with the other activities of the Group in 

concessions and energy. 

The proven experience of TERNA S.A. in the execution of large construction projects of 

motorways, buildings, ports and large energy projects, as well as its established presence in 

the markets where it operates, makes it one of the most recognized technical companies.  

Concessions/Co-financed projects 

Country: Greece 

The Group has a dynamic presence in the construction, management and commercial 

operation of concession projects.  

¶ Controls the concession projects of Nea Odos and Kentriki Odos with a percentage of 

100% and participates with a percentage of 17% in the share capital of Olympia Odos. 

¶ Participates with a percentage of 70% in the Hellas Smarticket Electronic Ticket Service 

Company, which undertook through the PPP contract, the implementation of a Unified 

Cash Collection System for the companies of the OASA Group. 

¶ Through its PPP partnership contract, it undertook the construction of the Epirus Waste 

Management Unit in March 2019 with a concession duration of 27 years. 

¶ tŀǊǘƛŎƛǇŀǘŜǎΣ ǿƛǘƘ ŀ ǇŜǊŎŜƴǘŀƎŜ ƻŦ онΣпс҈Σ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴŎŜǎǎƛƻƴ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ ζIŜǊŀƪƭƛƻƴ 

LƴǘŜǊƴŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ !ƛǊǇƻǊǘ ƻŦ /ǊŜǘŜέ ǘƘŀǘ Ƙŀǎ ǳƴŘŜǊǘŀƪŜƴ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŘŜǎƛƎƴΣ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ 

and operation of the New Heraklion Airport with a concession period of 35 years 

(including a 5 year construction period).  

¶ Continues to be active in the Management and Operation of Car Stations sector, 

participating in the construction and operation of ten (10) car stations in our country. 

 

Energy producers 

GEK TERNA Group has been active in the field of energy since the mid-1990s and is one of the 

leaders , both in the market of Renewable Energy Sources through the TERNA ENERGY Group, 

and in thermal energy produced through the HERON Group. 

 

 

http://www.terna.gr/
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ω /ƭŜŀƴ ŜƴŜǊƎȅ 

Countries: Greece, USA, Bulgaria, Poland 

TERNA ENERGY S.A. is one of the largest Greek Groups in the field of Renewable Energy 

Sources (RES) as well as one of the largest Greek investors in RES abroad, with activity in the 

development, construction, financing and operation of RES projects in 7 countries but also 

waste management and energy and is listed on the Athens Stock Exchange (FTSE / Athex Large 

Cap). 

The Group's activity includes a wide range of RES technologies such as construction and 

operation of wind farms, hydroelectric projects, pumping storage projects, hybrid stations, 

and photovoltaics, as well as the undertaking of integrated projects for waste management, 

production of biofuels and other materials. During the year 2020, its activity, including 

electricity trading, developed in the following countries: Greece, the United States of America, 

Bulgaria, Northern Macedonia, Poland, Serbia and Albania. 

By the end of 2020 it had in operation (maximum delivered), power of 1,335 MW and installed 

capacity of 1,363.7 MW in Greece and abroad. Specifically, it had installed 721.7 MW in 

Greece, 510.1 MW in the US and 132 MW in Central and Eastern Europe. In addition, it has 

RES facilities under construction or ready for construction with a total capacity of 427.2 MW 

in Greece. 

 

ω ¢ƘŜǊƳŀƭ ŜƴŜǊƎȅ 

Country: Greece 

GEK TERNA Group is active in the fields of electricity production from natural gas and 

electricity trading through its participation in "THERMOELECTRIC SA" - HɳRON I - together with 

Engie as well as in "THERMOELECTRIC STATION SA" HɳRON II, in the share capital of which 

ENGIE and Qatar Petroleum also participate. The two thermal power plants of the Group of 

power 147 MW and 435 MW, are respectively located in Viotia. 

 

Real estate development 

Countries: Greece, Bulgaria, Romania, Netherlands 

GEK TERNA is also engaged in real estate development and management with a broad 

portfolio in Greece, Bulgaria, Romania and the Netherlands including business centers, logistic 

centers, industrial parks, entertainment parks, residential properties, commercial properties, 

hotels, etc.   

 

Industrial segment 

Country: Greece 

The Group also has mining activity primarily through TERNA MAG S.A. (www.ternamag.com), 

which specializes in the mining of pumice and magnesia products and has almost exclusive 

export activity. 
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Main non-financial risks 

 

Sustainable Development 
PIllars  

Identified risks DǊƻǳǇΩǎ aƛǘƛƎŀǘƛƻƴ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ 

Fight against corruption and 
bribery issues 

¶ Incidents of corruption, bribery, extortion 

¶ Implements Code of Conduct. 

¶ Monitors the proper implementation of the Code of Conduct on a daily basis. 

¶ Organizes pertinent trainings and briefings on the Code of Conduct for all employees. 

¶ Facilitates reporting of any concern or diǎŎǊŜǇŀƴŎȅ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻŘŜΩǎ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴΦ 

¶ Assesses any deviation and takes all necessary legal actions. 

Supply chain issues 

¶ Cases of violation of international 
standards or legislation related to the 
practices of its suppliers but also cases of 
suppliers who may not adopt common 
policies and values of the Group. 

¶ Risk of corruption in the supply chain. 

¶ Risks of non-support of local and 
domestic suppliers (e.g. loss of social 
cohesion, loss of social/local support and 
consequent reduction of economic 
development and prosperity of these 
areas). 

¶ Complies with relevant insurance and labor legislation. 

¶ Implements the regulatory framework related to Health and Safety at work. 

¶ Adopts the principles of protection of human rights. 

¶ Implements internal policies, procedures, standards and certified Management Systems.  
 

Respect for human rights 

¶ Risk of human rights violations, beyond its 
supply chain and within the limits of its 
own activities. 

¶ Risks arising from non-compliance with 
the current regulatory framework on 
human rights, such as a possible crisis of 
social solidarity and prosperity. 

¶ Applies international standards and human rights principles. 

¶ Implements control mechanisms through the Human Resources Department. 

Social and labor issues 

¶ Risk of non-equal opportunities, fair pay 
and adequate health and safety 
conditions. 

¶ Potential health and safety risks for each 
job. 

¶ Potential social and environmental risks 
involved in the execution of its activities 

¶ Increases its socǐ π ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ŦƻƻǘǇǊƛƴǘΦ 

¶ Implements the Payroll and Benefits Policy approved by the shareholders. 

¶ Enhances diversity. 

¶ Provides equal training and education opportunities. 

¶ Implements its Health and Safety Policy. 

¶ Implements a Privacy Policy and the use of cookies 
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for the local communities in which it 
operates. 

¶ Potential economic and social impacts 
associated with the reduction of 
employment in the country (e.g. 
unemployment) and the negative indirect 
economic impacts it may cause. 

Environmental and energy issues 

¶ Environmental risks associated with the 
activities of its companies and which may 
cause adverse impacts both on 
stakeholders (e.g. local communities) and 
on the wider natural environment (e.g. 
impact on land, water, air and ecosystems 
in general). 

¶ Potential impacts of non-protection of 
biodiversity could be water and air 
pollution. 

¶ Threat to human health and food security. 

¶ Risk of bankruptcy. 

¶ Risks associated with the phenomenon of 
Climate Change. 

¶ Compliance with applicable legal and other requirements. 

¶ Identification and evaluation of environmental aspects that are related to the company's 
activities. 

¶ Defining environmental and energy goals and achieving them through approved programs. 

¶ Ensuring adequate resources to achieve environmental and energy goals. 

¶ Implementation of Environmental and Energy Management Systems. 

¶ Responsible Energy Management. 

¶ Tackling Climate Change.  

¶ Biodiversity protection and conservation. 
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Fighting corruption and bribery issues 

Due diligence and other policies 

Indicator C-G2: Business ethics policy 

IF-EN-510a.3: Description of policies and practices for prevention of (1) bribery and 

corruption, and (2) anti-competitive behavior in the project bidding processes 

Combating corruption is a key pillar of the Group's operation, which has been committed to 

demonstrating zero tolerance for such incidents, by promoting transparency, ensuring 

business ethics and regulatory compliance that are diffused across the range of activities and 

affect the professional behavior of its people. To this end, the Group acts through the 

establishment of policies and procedures, but also through the creation of control 

mechanisms and compliance with these policies. In particular, the Group: 

¶ Implements a Code of Conduct. 

¶ Monitors the proper implementation of the Code of Conduct on a daily basis. 

Organizes targeted trainings and briefings, in person or online (e-learnings), on the Code 

of Conduct, Corruption and Bribery Control for employees. 

¶ 9ƴǎǳǊŜǎ ǘƘŜ Ǉƻǎǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ƻŦ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ŀƴȅ ŘƛǎŎǊŜǇŀƴŎƛŜǎ ƻǊ ŎƻƴŎŜǊƴǎ ƛƴ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻŘŜΩǎ 

implementation to the Board of Directors. 

¶ Assesses any discrepancies and takes all necessary legal actions. 

 

Code of Conduct 

¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ /ƻƴŘǳŎǘ ƛǎ ŀ ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜ Ǉƻƛƴǘ ŦƻǊ ŀƭƭ ƛǘǎ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘŜǎ 

(suppliers, subcontractors), serving as the basic framework of values and principles that 

ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ŎƘŀǊŀŎǘŜǊƛȊŜ ǘƘŜƛǊ ǇǊƻŦŜǎǎƛƻƴŀƭ ōŜƘŀǾƛƻǊΦ ¢ƘŜ /ƻŘŜ ǊŜŦƭŜŎǘǎ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŦǳƴŘŀƳŜƴǘŀƭ 

principles, beliefs, corporate culture, business ethics and voluntary ethical commitments. 

Issues related to the fight against corruption and bribery are at the heart of the Code. The 

content of the Code is in accordance with the general principles set out in the International 

Regulations and Conventions as well as the international standards ISO 9001, ISO14001, ISO 

45001, ISO 39001, ISO 1фсллΣ L{h отллмΣ L{h рлллм ŀƴŘ {! улллΦ ¢ƘŜ /ƻŘŜΩǎ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ 

extends to all companies and subsidiaries of the Group at a national and international level, 

applies to all activity areas and is taken into consideration in the partnerships as well as 

consortia in which it participates. 

The Regulatory Compliance Committee, which reports directly to the Board of Directors, 

monitors the implementation of the Code of Conduct. Additionally, the Group maintains a 

program of internal inspections by the Head of Regulatory Compliance, aiming at monitoring 

the implementation of the Code. 

The Group ensures the organization of trainings and targeted briefings of the staff, on an 

annual basis, aimed at raising awareness while continuously informing them about corruption 

incidents and ways to combat them. From the very first day of recruitment, all employees are 
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informed about the contents of the Code and agree to abide with their signature on the 

employment contract. 

The Group employees are obliged to inform any discrepancies or concerns in relation to the 

/ƻŘŜΩǎ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŎƻƳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŀǘǘŜƴǘƛƻƴΣ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ŀƴ ŀƴƻƴȅƳƻǳǎΣ ǇǊƛƴǘŜŘ ƭŜǘǘŜǊ 

to the Head of Regulatory Compliance. The aim of the Group is to strengthen and improve the 

prevention and control procedures of potential corruption risks, to comply with relevant 

legislation and intensify relevant controls. 

The Head of Regulatory Compliance is responsible for the investigation and evaluation of any 

complaint received, and thereafter, takes all the necessary corrective actions in the context of 

applicable law and the Group's policies.  

Lƴ ŎŀǎŜ ƻŦ ŘƛǎŎǊŜǇŀƴŎƛŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻŘŜΩǎ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜ ƭŜƎŀƭ ŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ 

current institutional framework and the Labor Code may include the cessation of cooperation, 

the imposition of a fine and / or criminal clause as well as the activation of civil and criminal 

proceedings. 

 

Results of the above policies and non-financial performance indicators  

ISO 37001: 2016 and ISO 19600: 2014 certification 

The Group follows the standards ISO 37001 for the fight against corruption and ISO 19600 for 

regulatory compliance and certification is expected within May 2021. It is noted that the 

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊƛŜǎ ¢9wb! ŀƴŘ ¢9wb! 9b9wD¸ ŀǊŜ ŎŜǊǘƛŦƛŜŘ ŀŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ōƻǘƘ ǎǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎΦ  

 

GRI 20рπоΥ /ƻƴŦƛǊƳŜŘ ƛƴŎƛŘŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ ŎƻǊǊǳǇǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ ǘŀƪŜƴ  

Indicator SS-G1: Business ethics violations 

IF-EN-510a. 2: Total amount of monetary losses as a result of legal proceedings associated 

with charges of (1) bribery or corruption and (2) anticompetitive practices4 

In 2020, there were no confirmed corruption incidents that came to the attention of the 

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΣ ŜƛǘƘŜǊ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ŎƻƳǇƭŀƛƴǘǎ ƻǊ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜ ŀǳŘƛǘǎ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ 

Group itself in the context of preventing and combating any corruption incidents. 

In addition, there were no monetary loses as a result of business ethics violations.  
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Supply chain issues  

 

Due diligence and other policies  

 

¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŀŎǊƻǎǎ ƛǘǎ ǎǳǇǇƭȅ ŎƘŀƛƴΣ ŀǊŜ ŎŀǊǊƛŜŘ ƻǳǘ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ 

potential environmental, social and economic impacts have been evaluated for the 

maximization of positive impacts. To address the new challenges related to the supply chain 

issues, the Group incorporates new criteria into the supply chain's management processes, 

such as the new terms of cooperation with suppliers and the preference given to domestic 

suppliers. 

CƛǊǎǘ ŀƴŘ ŦƻǊŜƳƻǎǘΣ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǇŜǊ ǎǳǇǇƭȅ ŎƘŀƛƴ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǎǘŀǊǘǎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜ 

attitude towards all its stakeholders. To this end, the Group adopts and implements the 

necessary policies and actions: 

¶ All the relevant insurance and labor laws. 

¶ ʆhe regulatory framework relating to Occupational Health and Safety. 

¶ The principles of human rights protection. 

¶ Its internal policies, procedures, standards and management systems.  

 

Terms of cooperation with suppliers 

 

Indicator C-S7: Supplier assessment 

¢ƘŜ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜ ǎǳǇǇƭȅ ŎƘŀƛƴ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ƛǎ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƳŀƧƻǊ ŜŦŦƻǊǘǎ ǘƻ ƭƻƴƎ-term 

value creation through its business operations but also through forming responsible business 

relations with its suppliers and partners. The Group recognizes that the responsible 

management of the supply chain presupposes responsible collaborations with mutual 

contribution and open dialogue among all parties involved. 

 

In this regard, the Group communicates the minimum requirements for cooperation and 

ensures that its suppliers comply with environmental and social criteria, such as their 

certification to international standards, e.g. ISO 14001 and ISO 50001, to implement policies 

and procedures for the protection of the environment and society as a whole, to have 

materials and equipment that, in addition to their suitability and usability and the least 

possible risk to the user and the environment, are environmentally friendly and belong to a 

high energy class with low energy consumption. Necessary requirements for cooperation with 

any supplier are the full compliance with the regulatory framework relating to Occupational 

IŜŀƭǘƘ ŀƴŘ {ŀŦŜǘȅ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ŎƻƳǇƭƛŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ Code of Conduct. 

 

The Code of Conduct constitutes the basic framework of principles and values that must 

ŎƘŀǊŀŎǘŜǊƛȊŜΣ ŀƳƻƴƎ ƻǘƘŜǊǎΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǎǳǇǇƭƛŜǊǎΣ ǎǳōŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘƻǊǎ ŀƴŘ ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘŜǎ ƛƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ 

maintain transparent and responsible business relations. 
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Prioritizing domestic suppliers 

To date, the Group has expanded its activities to 18 countries and 4 continents, with a 

constantly growing business and a strong potential of expanding into new markets. Despite 

its strong extroversion, the Group firmly chooses to cooperate with local suppliers. In this way, 

the Group enhances its direct and indirect socio-economic footprint across the supply chain, 

by supporting the surrounding areas and stimulating local economies. Besides its direct 

activity, choosing local suppliers creates positive effects in creating new indirect jobs while 

contributing to the enhancement of social cohesion and prosperity. 

 

Results of the above policies and non-financial performance indicators 

In 2020, the value of procurements from Greek suppliers (approximately 4,098 suppliers) for 

all Group activities amounted to approximately Euro 465 million. 

Moreover, the categorization of suppliers by range is as follows:  

 

/ŀǘŜƎƻǊƛȊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 
suppliers by range 

Procurement cost in 
thousandǎ ƻŦ ϵ 

Percentage of the 
total 

Number of suppliers  
Percentage of the 

total 

National suppliers 540,964  77.2% 5,722  89.5% 

International suppliers 149,775  21.4% 632  9.9% 

Affiliated Companies 10,218  1.5% 39  0.6% 

Total 700,957  100.0% 6,393  100.0% 

 

Categorization of suppliers 
based in Greece, by range 

Procurement cost in 
ǘƘƻǳǎŀƴŘǎ ƻŦ ϵ 

Percentage of the 
total 

Number of suppliers  
Percentage of the 

total 

National suppliers 403,180  76.6% 3,907  89.2% 

International suppliers 113,417  21.5% 436  10.0% 

Affiliated Companies 9,944  1.9% 37  0.8% 

Total 526,541  10.0% 4,380  100/ 0% 

 

Respect for human rights 

 

Due diligence and other policies 

Indicator C-S5: Human rights policy 

 

The Group has developed its framework of principles and values based on fundamental 

human rights. Respecting all its employees and partners, it ensures the prevention of incidents 

of violation of their rights, through the adoption of policies, actions and control mechanisms, 

which apply to all its activities, for all its subsidiaries and for all projects. 

ʆ ̌this end, the Group: 

ω LƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ ǎǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇƭŜǎ ƻŦ IǳƳŀƴ wƛƎƘǘǎΦ 

ω LƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƳƻƴƛǘƻǊƛƴƎ ƳŜŎƘŀƴƛǎƳǎ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜ IǳƳŀƴ wŜǎƻǳǊŎŜǎ 5ŜǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘΦ 
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Respect for international standards and principles 

The Group applies and respects the international Human Rights principles and standards. The 

Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and 

Rights at Work, the UN Global Compact, the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human 

Rights as well as the high corporate values that the Group stands for, form a strict operational 

framework with respect for human rights across all its business activities. The Group is 

committed to the timely prevention and detection of any action that does not comply with its 

operating framework for the protection of Human Rights. It protects the right of every person 

to education and freedom of speech, to the freedom of association and any other human 

rights that may be infringed as a result of or as part of its business activities and therefore 

applies control procedures that ensure that no violation of fundamental human rights. The 

Group does not currently have a human rights policy but is in the process of establishing one. 

  

Monitoring mechanisms 

The Human Resources Department of the Group ensures legality regarding the age limits of 

the employees it employs, in overtime work, in the minimum wages, in the protection of 

diversity in its wider scope of action and observes the provisions so that no violation is noted.  

In particular, the Recruitment Policy with the relevant procedures ensures diversity and 

establishes the basis for the recruitment process to be based on objective criteria such as 

professional profile, skills and skills of employees. The decisions made by the Group regarding 

recruitment are not related to any kind of discrimination regarding gender, nationality, 

language, religion, political beliefs, disabilities, employee sexual orientation or other elements 

of diversity. 

 

Results oŦ ǘƘŜ ŀōƻǾŜ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ƴƻƴπŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘƻǊǎ 

DwL плсπмΥ Incidents of discrimination and corrective actions taken 

 

In 2020, no cases of violation and/or infringement of human rights and no incidents of 

discrimination based on race, religion, sex, age, disability, nationality, political beliefs, etc., have 

ōŜŜƴ ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ƛƴŎƛŘŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ ƘŀǊŀǎǎƳŜƴǘΣ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΦ 
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Social and labor issues 

 

Due diligence and other policies 

Through the adoption of responsible policies aimed at creating shared value for all its 

stakeholders, the GEK TERNA Group stands shoulder to shoulder with the local communities 

where it operates though its operation as well as through continuous consultation and efforts 

to identify and address the real needs of the people. 

The GEK TERNA Group actively participates, supports and regards as a highest priority the 

investment in its people, providing the necessary resources for the promotion of the 

continuous improvement of the working environment. 

The Group, for the management of social and labor issues: 

¶ Increases its socio-economic footprint. 

¶ Implements Payroll and Benefits Policy. 

¶ Enhances diversity. 

¶ Provides equal opportunities for training and education. 

¶ Implements the Health and Safety Policy. 

¶ Implements the General Data Protection Regulation  

 

Direct and indirect social impacts 

The Group ensures the continuous improvement of its direct and indirect socio-economic 

impacts. The multiplier benefits from the its business activity translate into thousands of new 

jobs, boosting the national economy while increasing the GDP, through tax payments and 

insurance contributions, to the strengthening of local communities through collaborations 

with local suppliers and service providers and the implementation of Corporate Social 

wŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ŀŎǘƛƻƴǎΦ aƻǊŜƻǾŜǊΣ ƛǘ ǇǊƻƳƻǘŜǎ DǊŜŜŎŜΩǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǾŀƭǳŜ ǇǊƻǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ŀōǊƻŀŘ 

as well as to institutional investors. 

The indirect positive impacts of the Group's activities on the local community in the fields of 

infrastructure, waste management, clean energy production and real estate development and 

management, are associated with transportation safety, upgrading of the urban 

infrastructures, access to places of art and culture, the overall improvement of citizens quality 

of life and the preservation and protection of the natural environment. 

 

Fair compensation and benefits 

The Group ensures that the human resources issues are managed in an impartial manner and 

that every employee is treated fairly and without any kind of discrimination. 

The Nominations and Remunerations Committee is responsible for the Group's internal 

compensation and benefits policy. Within this framework, the Group operates with 

transparency and meritocracy regarding the allocation of fees and benefits, by applying 

objective criteria and evaluation indicators depending on the importance of the position, the 

duties and responsibilities of each position, the educational background, experience, skills, 

ability to achieve goals and level of performance and efficiency of employees. 
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The Group, having examined the cost of living in the countries where it operates, offers higher 

compensation than the minimum set by the respective legal framework. Most of the 

employees of the Group are remunerated with salaries that exceed the minimum legal wage 

provided. In addition, the Group offers additional benefits, such as corporate vehicle, laptop, 

corporate mobile connection, etc., depending on the needs and requirements of the job. 

More specifically, the Group's policy imposes equal pay between men and women for the 

same position and leaves no room for discrimination or privileged treatment regarding pay,  

benefits or other employee characteristics. 

 

Enhancing diversity 

Due to the nature of the Group's activity, its workforce mainly comprises of men. However, 

the Group has a well-established policy to increase the representation of women in its 

companies. One step in this direction is to record and monitor the distribution of women by 

geographical area of activity, by age and by occupation. This way, the increase of the 

percentage of women in the total number of employees is sought. 

Education policy 

The human capital of the Group constitutes its main force, as it is responsible for the planning 

and implementation of its business activities. For this reason, it is vital to continuously improve 

the scientific and technical knowledge that employees possess as a means of ensuring their 

professionalism and improving their productivity. 

In this context, the Group has established an Education Policy to ensure full participation of 

its employees in educational activities, based on the principle of equal opportunity, to 

promote a clear and understandable framework for education planning, implementation and 

evaluation processes and over the long-term to achieve the development of skills & the 

enhancement of productivity of its Human Resources through the cooperation of the Human 

Resources Department with all the Directorates, Departments, Construction sites and the 

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŦŀŎƛƭƛǘƛŜǎΦ 

 

Health and Safety policy 

The GEK TERNA Group strategy includes the non-negotiable principle of ensuring occupational 

health and safety. This principle is a prerequisite for any business activity and equally applies 

to all employees, subcontractors and network of partners. 

Maintaining Health and Safety is a priority for the Group that is constantly improving the 

strategic framework within which issues related to the protection of Health and Safety of all 

its stakeholders is managed. 

The Group complies with the provisions of applicable national, European and international 

law and through a strict Health and Safety Management System it adheres to, aims at the early 

detection and minimization of risks related to all its activities. The Health and Safety Policy 

applies to the entire Group and all those who, indirectly or directly, are related to its business 

operations. 
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Strengthening Health and Safety Policy and ensuring zero accidents is a function of goals 

related to: 

¶ the implementation of an internationally certified Health and Safety Management 

System, 

¶ the formation of a corporate culture governed by the principles of Health and Safety, 

¶ the full compliance with legal and other national, European and international 

requirements, directives and provisions relating to the field of Health and Safety, 

¶ the implementation, monitoring, evaluation and improvement of Health and Safety 

activities, 

¶ the identification of occupational risks and development of a comprehensive prevention 

methodology, 

¶ the prevention of injuries, diseases and adverse health and safety incidents, 

¶ providing proper, adequate health and safety information and training to all employees, 

suppliers, partners and visitors, 

¶ the compliance and unwavering adherence to H&A procedures by all stakeholders, 

¶ the immediatŜ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƛƎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀƴȅ ŀŎŎƛŘŜƴǘ κ ƛƴŎƛŘŜƴǘΣ ǘƘŜ ŦŀŎǘƻǊǎΩ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ǘŀƪƛƴƎ 

precautionary measures, 

¶ the integration of technologies, good practices and operating procedures that guarantee 

safety conditions for employees, subcontractors and third parties. 

 

Personal Data Policy and use of cookies 

Indicator C-G3: Data security policy 

 

For GEK TERNA Group, the protection of the personal data of individuals who trade in any way 

with its companies is of paramount importance. For the purposes of conducting business 

activities, the Group processes personal data concerning natural persons for whom 

identification data is obtained (such as, for example, the company's customers, suppliers, 

shareholders and investors, as well as ordinary users of the website ), in accordance with the 

European legislation on the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR-GPD 2016/679) and 

Law 4624/2019. 

We take appropriate measures to protect the personal data we process and to ensure that 

their collection and processing is always carried out in accordance with the obligations set by 

the legal framework, both by the company itself and by third parties who process personal 

data on behalf of the company. In addition, the Board during its meetings, is informed on a 

regular basis on data security issues. 

 

Data Protection Principles 

All processing of the Group's personal data must be carried out in accordance with the 

principles of personal data protection as set out in Article 5 of the GDPR, which are as follows: 

Å Personal data must be processed legally, fairly and transparently. 

Å Personal data may only be collected for specific, clear and lawful purposes. 

Å Personal data must be adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary for 

processing. 
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Å Personal data must be accurate and up to date and efforts must be made to delete or 

correct it without delay. 

Å Personal data must be kept in such a way that the data subject can only be identified 

if it is necessary for processing. 

Å Personal data must be processed in a secure manner. 

Å The controller must be able to demonstrate compliance with the other principles of 

the GDPR (Accountability Principle). 

 

Results of the above policies and non-financial performance indicators 

 

The actual commitment of the Group in matters of Health and Safety is proved by the 

implementation of the certified Health and Safety Management System, in accordance with 

the requirements of the international standard ISO 45001. 

In 2020 the Group maintained its partnerships and remained faithful to its vision to stimulate 

local communities. The sponsorships and actions organized by the Group amounted to 1.8 

million and focused mainly on the support of National Healthcare System to address the 

COVID-19 pandemic as well as to infrastructure projects in the areas where we operate while 

continuing to support actions for sport, culture, and education.  
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GREECE 

GRI 102-8: Information on employees and other workers 
Indicator C-S1 

Number of employees by employment contract 
2020 2019 

Men Women Total Men Women Total 

Permanent contract 1,446 562 2,008 1,971 870 2,841 

Fixed term or temporary contract 36 8 44 24 8 32 

Freelancers 408 108 516 407 98 505 

TOTAL 1,890 678 2,568 2,402 974 3,378 

 

Number of employees by employment type 

2020 2019 

Men Women Total Men Women Total 

Full time 1,472 558 2,030 1,995 874 2,869 

Part time 10 12 22 0 4 4 

TOTAL 1,482 570 2,052 1,995 878 2,873 

 

HERON I & II 

GRI 102-8: Information on employees and other workers 
Indicator C-S1 

Number of employees by employment contract 
2020 2019 

Men Women Total Men Women Total 

Permanent contract 113 108 221 113 100 213 

Fixed term or temporary contract 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Freelancers 0 0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 113 108 221 113 101 214 

 

Number of employees by employment type 
2020 2019 

Men Women Total Men Women Total 

Full time 109 103 212 108 92 200 

Part time 4 5 9 5 9 14 

TOTAL 113 108 221 113 101 214 
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ABROAD 

GRI 102-8: Information on employees and other workers 
Indicator C-S1 

Number of employees by employment contract 

2020 2019 

Men Women Total Men Women Total 

Permanent contract 308 51 359 751 142 893 

Fixed term or temporary contract 34 4 38 20 5 25 

Freelancers 0 0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 342 55 397 771 147 918 

 

Number of employees by employment type 

2020 2019 

Men Women Total Men Women Total 

Full time 340 49 389 767 142 909 

Part time 2 6 8 4 5 9 

TOTAL 342 55 397 771 147 918 

 

Note:  ¢ƘŜ άƘŜŀŘ Ŏƻǳƴǘέ ŀǇǇǊƻŀŎƘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ омκмн ƻŦ ŜǾŜǊȅ ȅŜŀǊ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ŀǇǇƭƛŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŎŀƭŎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜ ƴǳƳōŜǊǎ 
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       GRI 403-9 Work-related injuries 

       GRI 403-10 Work-related ill health 

SASB IF-EN-320a.1 
  2020 

Number of hours worked 6,542,239 

Work-related injuries 

Employees 

Number of fatalities as a result of work-related injury 0 

Rate of fatalities as a result of work-related injury 0 

Number of high-consequence workrelated injuries (excluding fatalities) 3 

Rate of high-consequence work-related injuries (IR) (excluding fatalities) 0.09 

Number of recordable work-related injury 32 

Rate of recordable work-related injuries 0.98 

All workers who are not employees but whose work and/or workplace is controlled by the organization 

   

Number of fatalities as a result of work-related injury 0 

Rate of fatalities as a result of work-related injury 0 

Number of high-consequence workrelated injuries (excluding fatalities) 0 

Rate of high-consequence work-related injuries (IR) (excluding fatalities) 0 

Number of recordable work-related injury 60 

Rate of recordable work-related injuries 2.01 

Work-related illmesses 

Employees 

Number of fatalities as a result of work-related ill health 0 

The number of cases of recordable work-related ill health 0 

Work-related ill health 

All workers who are not employees but whose work and/or workplace is controlled by the organization 

   

Number of fatalities as a result of work-related ill health 0 

The number of cases of recordable work-related ill health 0 

 

Notes:  

1. Occupational hazards that may result in injury have been identified and recorded by the safety technician through the 

occupational hazard assessment process. 

2. The index is calculated at a rate of 200,000 ([total number of work-related injuries recorded or total number of fatalities caused 

by work-related injuries or number of very significant work-related injuries / total number working hours of all employees per 

year] x 200,000). The rate of 200,000 indicates the number of hours worked by 100 full-time employees in a year. 
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Environmental and energy issues 

Due diligence and other policies 

IF-EN-160a.2: Discussion of processes to assess and manage environmental risks associated 

with project design, siting, and construction 

Environmental protection is an integral part of the Group's strategy and is expressed through 

its political, strategic and business decisions and actions. The Group acts purposefully and 

takes measures to reduce its negative environmental footprint through the responsible 

energy management and the proper use of natural resources (e.g. water, energy, materials, 

tackling climate change and protecting and conserving biodiversity). 

 

In particular, the Group's environmental and energy strategy includes: 

Å setting environmental and energy goals and achieving them through approved 

programs. 

Å securing adequate resources to achieve environmental and energy objectives. 

Å the implementation of the Environmental and Energy Management System. 

Å responsible energy management processes. 

Å tackling Climate Change. 

Å the protection and preservation of Biodiversity. 

 

Environmental and Energy Management System 

By implementing a modern and comprehensive Environmental and Energy Management 

System, the Group records the environmental impact of its activities and is therefore able to 

take the necessary measures in a timely manner, in order to reduce its environmental and 

energy footprint and continuously improve its environmental performance. The strategy of 

mitigating the environmental impacts is based on the following cycle:  
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GEK TERNA Group conducts annual audits to all of its operations, in order to fulfill the 

requirements arising from external certifications, internal systems and legal and other 

regulatory frameworks. Internal audits aim at the: 

 

Å evaluation of the responsiveness to the requirements of the current legislation, 

Å evaluation of the responsiveness to the Group's customer requirements, 

Å ŜǾŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇ ŎƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎΩ ŎƻƳǇƭƛŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ 9ƴǾƛǊonmental and Energy 

Management system requirements, 

Å evaluation of the responsiveness to the requirements of the international standard 

ISO 14001: 2015 and ISO 50001: 2018 

Å identification of points that need improvement and reinforcement, 

Å improvement of the implementation of the Management Systems and the Risk 

Management Systems. 

 

Responsible energy management 

The Group's activities and especially those in the field of clean energy through the 

development, construction, financing and operation of RES projects, improve energy security 

and efficiency, thereby reducing the adverse effects in the environment (e.g from burning 

fossil fuels). Regarding its business operation, the Group believes that only through the 

systematic recording and monitoring of energy consumption in offices and construction sites 

will it be able to assess its energy needs and proceed with the mitigation of energy 

ŎƻƴǎǳƳǇǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΦ CƻǊ ǘƘƛǎ ǊŜŀǎƻƴΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊƛŜǎ ¢9wb! {Φ!Φ ŀƴŘ ¢9wb! 

ENERGY, proceeded to acquire certification according to the international standard ISO 

50001: 2018 to achieve the above, whilst maintaining most rational energy management of 

their operations. The Group's goal for 2021 is to continue the integration of even more 

facilities in the data collection process, as well as to expand and further deepen the 

methodology it applies regarding the collection of this data. 

 

Infrastructure and low energy footprint equipment 

IF-EN-410a.1: Number of (1) commissioned projects certified to a third-party multiattribute 

sustainability standard and (2) active projects seeking such certification 

 

The existence of infrastructure and equipment with a  low energy footprint is a priority for the 

Group. To this end, the Group implements projects with bioclimatic design and is certified by 

systems that certify that the buildings it constructs are designed based on environmentally 

innovative practices aimed at energy saving, such as the Completion of Construction of a Roof-

Building and Car Station on 115 Kifissias Avenue. This building received the Leed v4 for Core 

& Shell certification at the Platinum level. In addition, the Group invests in the renewal and 

maintenance of its equipment, aiming at improving energy efficiency and increasing their 

useful life. 

 

Employee training on environmental and energy issues 

Cultivating a wider environmental culture is a prerequisite for better energy management and 
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ƛƳǇǊƻǾŜŘ ƻǾŜǊŀƭƭ ŜƴŜǊƎȅ ŦƻƻǘǇǊƛƴǘΦ ¢ƘŜ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎΩ 9ƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘŀƭ hŦŦƛŎŜǊǎ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ Iw 

Management of the Group Headquarters, plan and implement-on an annual basis- trainings, 

both on environmental and social issues, in order to properly inform and systematically train 

its employees. The trainings take into account both needs and requirements of ongoing 

projects, as well as the roles and duties of employees. 

 

Tackling climate change 

The Group focuses on the transition to an economy that is less dependent on fossil fuels and 

ensures sustainable cities and societies for all its stakeholders. GEK TERNA Group possesses 

the know-how and willpower to take advantage of the current challenges of climate change 

for the benefit of sustainable development and green economy. 

Although climate change affects almost all areas of the Group's operations, the business 

opportunities arising can both contribute to the Group's economic growth and mitigate its 

negative effects. 

Through its own activities, the Group responds to the challenges of climate change, by 

designing and implementing a number of projects and planned investments, such as the: 

Å Development and operation of wind farms 

Å Development and operation hydroelectric projects. 

Å Development and operation of waste treatment plants and biogas production. 

Å Development and operation of photovoltaic parks. 

Å Development of hydro-pumped storage projects that will offer security of energy 

supply. 

Å Development of infrastructure projects that minimize their energy footprint. 

Å Development of floating wind farms that will utilize the large wind potential of the 

Aegean. 

 

Monitoring and mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions 

The Group's business model is strategically oriented towards tackling climate change. The 

Group's activity in the production of clean energy through TERNA ENERGY, contributes 

significantly to the prevention of carbon dioxide emissions into the atmosphere. Furthermore, 

through proper waste management, the Group contributes to the prevention of methane 

emissions into the atmosphere, which are equally harmful and contribute significantly to the 

greenhouse effect. 

The Group systematically monitors its greenhouse gas emissions as an integral part of its 

environmental policy and therefore communicates the impact of its activities through its 

electronic and print media (Sustainable Development Report, website, press releases etc.), to 

all its stakeholders. 
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Biodiversity protection and conservation 

Indicator SS-E4: Water management 

The majority of the Group's activities (e.g. Wind farms, infrastructure development, motorway 

construction) take place within areas of high biological value and therefore it is necessary to 

initiate policies related to the protection and conservation of biodiversity. 

To this end, the Group implements certified systems, conducts trainings for its employees and 

visitors to construction sites regarding the protection of biodiversity, undertakes initiatives to 

promote and protect local ecosystems and constantly strives to operate beyond the 

environmental legislation provisions, using mechanisms to monitor and record its effects on 

the wider natural environment. 

Among other, the Group, both during the construction and operation phases of its projects, 

prepares, in collaboration with specialized scientists and bodies, environmental impact 

studies (EIA) special ecological evaluation studies, special ornithological studies and 

monitoring programs with the aim of acquiring and utilizing the necessary information to 

ensure the protection of local ecosystems, by taking appropriate protection and restoration 

impact measures. 

In particular, in order to ensure biodiversity and mitigate the negative impacts of the projects 

on the environment, the EIA and the relevant approved Environmental Conditions of the 

projects define measures to ensure the protection of ecosystems. Typical examples are the 

construction of uneven passages or tunnels for the free movement of wild fauna, planting 

projects, slope formations from the excess excavation materials of the project, projects to 

ensure the smooth flow of surface water, risk assessment studies for the prevention of 

possible leakage of hazardous liquid waste, elaboration of hydraulic studies that will 

determine the measures for protection against erosion of the natural slopes of the wider 

project area, installation of automatic air pollution and wind measuring stations as well as 

sound protection projects in neighborhooring areas. 

In addition, the construction of waste treatment plants, but also their operation through 

concession schemes, such as "SUSTAINABLE EPIRUS" and "PELOPONNESE ENVIRONMENT", 

helps reduce the pollution of the above ground (lakes, rivers and streams) (aquifer) natural 

environment, improving sanitation for local communities and social groups at risk of pollution 

and enhancing citizens' environmental and ecological awareness. 

In particular, the Group: 

¶ Takes restoration measures of areas and construction sites through its environmental and 

ǊŜǎǘƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǎǘǳŘƛŜǎ ŀƛƳƛƴƎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜ ŀƴŘ ƛƴǘŜƎǊŀǘŜŘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎΩ 

life cycle. 

¶  Adopts the principles of circular economy, reusing materials (e.g. construction and 

demolition materials) in order to meet other needs within the Group.  
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¶ For responsible waste management purposes, plans and undertakes all necessary 

measures while cooperating with licensed bodies for the recovery, processing, reuse and/ 

or disposal of its waste. 

 

Results of the above policies and non-financial performance indicators*  

IF-EN-160a.1: Number of incidents of non-compliance with environmental permits, 

standards, and regulations 

The Group applies the ISO 14001 certified Environmental Management System to most of its 

subsidiaries: TERNA, TERNA ENERGY, TERNA MAG, NEA ODOS, CENTRAL GREECE MOTORWAY, 

HERON, GEK SERVICES, ILIOCHORA. During 2020 there were no incidents of non-compliance 

with environmental permits, standards and regulations. 

Additionally, TERNA ENERGY at the end of 2020 had 1,363.7 MW of clean energy installed and 

4,151,134 MWh generated, preventing the release of 3,006,166tn CO2 into the atmosphere. 

 

 

GRI 302-1: Energy consumption within the organization* 

Indicator C-E3 

Source 
Consumption 

Unit 

2020 

Total energy consumption within the organization 

698,948 GJ 

194,152 MWh 

Total fuel consumption within the organization from  
NON-RENEWABLE SOURCES  

437,459 GJ 

Total electricity consumption 72,636 MWh 

Source 
Consumption 

Unit 

2019 

Total energy consumption within the organization 

767,820 GJ 

213,283 MWh 

Total fuel consumption within the organization from  
NON-RENEWABLE SOURCES (in Joules or multiples) 

510,522  GJ 

Total electricity consumption 71,472 MWh 

 

* Includes: TERNA ENERGY, TERNA MAG, Nea Odos, Central Greece Motorway, Alsos Parking, GEK SERVICES, Icon Borovets, TERNA S.A., 
TERNA OVERSEAS  

 

 



GEK TERNA GROUP 

Annual Financial Report of the fiscal year 1 January 2020 - 31 December 2020 

(Amounts in thousands Euro, unless otherwise stated) 

76 

 

Energy consumption HERON I & II 

GRI 302-1: Energy consumption within the organization 

Indicator C-E3 

Source 
Consumption 

Unit 

2020 

HERON ɹ 

Total energy consumption within the organization 

607,333  GJ 

168,704 MWh 

Total fuel consumption within the organization from  
NON-RENEWABLE SOURCES  

604,690  GJ 

Total electricity consumption 734 MWh 

HERON ɹɹ 

Total energy consumption within the organization 

8,290,378  GJ 

2,302,883 MWh 

Total fuel consumption within the organization from  
NON-RENEWABLE SOURCES (in Joules or multiples) 

8,173,870 GJ 

Total electricity consumption 32,363 MWh 

Source 
Consumption 

Unit 

2019 

ɶEROɿ ɹ 

Total energy consumption within the organization 

23,776  GJ 

6,605 MWh 

Total fuel consumption within the organization from  
NON-RENEWABLE SOURCES  

22,265  GJ 

Total electricity consumption 420 MWh 

ɶEROɿ ɹɹ 

Total energy consumption within the organization 

10,961,815  GJ 

3,044,949 MWh 

Total fuel consumption within the organization from  
NON-RENEWABLE SOURCES 

10,809,475 GJ 

Total electricity consumption 42,317 MWh 
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DwL олрπмΥ 5ƛǊŜŎǘ ό{ŎƻǇŜ мύ DID ŜƳƛǎǎƛƻƴǎϝ 
DwL олрπнΥ 9ƴŜǊƎȅ ƛƴŘƛǊŜŎǘ ό{ŎƻǇŜ нύ DID ŜƳƛǎǎƛƻƴǎϝ 

 Indicator C-E2 

Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 

Gases 2020 2019 

¢ƻǘŀƭ ŘƛǊŜŎǘ όǎŎƻǇŜ мύ DID ŜƳƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ ƻŦ /hіŜ 38,493 88,646 

.ƛƻƎŜƴƛŎ /hн ŜƳƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ ƻŦ /hіŜ 16,790 15,874 

Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 

 2020 2019 

Location-based emissions in ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ ƻŦ /hіŜ 2,430 2,121 

Market-ōŀǎŜŘ ŜƳƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ ƻŦ /hіŜ 2,824 2,465 

²ƘƛŎƘ ƎŀǎŜǎ ǿŜǊŜ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŎŀƭŎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŘƛǊŜŎǘ ŜƳƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ όŜΦƎΦ /hіΣ /IјΣ 

bіhΣ IC/ǎΣ tC/ǎΣ {CњΣ bCїΣ ƻǊ ŀƭƭύΚ 
/hіΣ /Iј /hіΣ /Iј 

Air emissions of pollutants 

 2020 2019 

9Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ bh  όƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ bh ŀƴŘ bhі ŀƴŘ ŜȄŎƭǳŘŜ bіhύ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ 32 164 

9Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ {h  όƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ {hі ŀƴŘ {hїύ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ 33 86 

Emissions of hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) in metric tons 6 5 

 

*Includes: TERNA ENERGY, TERNA MAG 

 

HERON I & II 

Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 

 2020 2019 

HERON ɹ 

¢ƻǘŀƭ ŘƛǊŜŎǘ όǎŎƻǇŜ мύ DID ŜƳƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ ƻŦ /hіŜ 33,543 1,253 

HERON ɹɹ   

¢ƻǘŀƭ ŘƛǊŜŎǘ όǎŎƻǇŜ мύ DID ŜƳƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ ƻŦ /hіŜ 454,197 601,808 

Air emissions of pollutants 

  2020 2019 

HERON ɹ   

9Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ bh  όƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ bh ŀƴŘ bhі ŀƴŘ ŜȄŎƭǳŘŜ bіhύ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ 38 2 

9Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ {h  όƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ {hі ŀƴŘ {hїύ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ 2 0 

HERON ɹɹ   

9Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ bh  όƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ bh ŀƴŘ bhі ŀƴŘ ŜȄŎƭǳŘŜ bіhύ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ 97 139 

Emisǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ {h  όƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ {hі ŀƴŘ {hїύ ƛƴ ƳŜǘǊƛŎ ǘƻƴǎ 0 0 
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GRI 306-3 Waste generated* 
GRI 306-4 Waste diverted from disposal* 

GRI 306-5 Waste directed to disposal* 
Indicator SS-E5 

 2020 2019 
Waste by composition Waste 

generated 

Waste 

diverted 

Waste 

generated Percentage 

Waste 

generated 

Waste 

diverted 

Waste 

generated 
Waste 

generated 

Hazardous waste (t) 

Total 159.61 159.21 0.40 N/A 109.22 109.22 0.00 N/A 

Non-hazardous waste (t) 

Total 127793.63 127748.76 44.87 N/A 14899.66 14741.94 157.72 N/A 

Waste diverted from disposal by recovery operation 

Hazardous waste Onsite Offsite Total Percentage Onsite Offsite Total Percentage 

Preparation for reuse 
t 0.00 83.29 83.29 52.31% 0.00 26.34 26.34 24.12% 

Recycling  
t 0.00 67.68 67.68 42.51% 0.00 78.07 78.07 71.48% 

Fuel materials 
t 0.00 8.24 8.24 5.18% 0.00 4.81 4.81 4.40% 

Total t 0.00 159.21 159.21 100.00% 0.00 109.22 109.22 100.00% 

Non-hazardous waste Onsite Offsite Total Percentage Onsite Offsite Total Percentage 

Preparation for reuse 
t 80288.61 0.00 80288.61 62.85% 3019.33 0.00 3019.33 20.48% 

Recycling  
t 0.00 47460.15 47460.15 37.15% 0.00 11722.61 11722.61 79.52% 

Total t 80288.61 47460.15 127748.76 100.00% 3019.33 11722.61 14741.94 100.00% 

Waste directed to disposal by 
disposal operation 

 
 

Hazardous waste Onsite Offsite Total Percentage Onsite Offsite Total Percentage 

Incineration (with energy 
recovery) t 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 

Incineration (without energy 
recovery) t 

0.00 0.40 0.40 50.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 

Landfilling 
t 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 

Other disposal methods 
 0.00 0.40 0.40 50.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 

Total t 0.00 0.80 0.80 100.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 

Non-hazardous waste Onsite Offsite Total Percentage Onsite Offsite Total Percentage 

Incineration (with energy 
recovery) t 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 81.44 81.44 51.64% 

Incineration (without energy 
recovery) t 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 

Landfilling 
t 0.00 44.87 44.87 100.00% 0.00 76.28 76.28 48.36% 

Total t 0.00 44.87 44.87 100.00% 0.00 157.72 157.72 100.00% 

 

*Includes: GEK TERNA Greece, TERNA ENERGY, HERON I & II, TERNA MAG, TERNA S.A., ILIOXORA, TERNA OVERSEAS 
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Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on non-financial issues 

 

The actions of the GEK TERNA Group during the period of public health crisis 

At a time when the country needs the social face of companies at its side more than ever, GEK 

TERNA Group was again at the forefront taking immediate measures to ensure the health and 

safety of its employees, supporting the National Health System and ensuring its smooth 

operation. 

The complete Business Continuity Plan of the Group 

Demonstrating fast reflexes, GEK TERNA Group immediately implemented the integrated 

Business Continuity Plan, which had already been prepared with the aim of ensuring the 

smooth operation of the Group in cases of crisis, having the health and safety of its people as  

top priority. 

Following closely the developments on the pandemic front and taking into account the 

increase of cases and the instructions of the State, the Group decided to provide free 

diagnostic molecular detection of the virus to all its human resources. The Business Continuity 

Plan of GEK TERNA Group includes strict operating rules in all points of business presence in 

Greece and abroad, while its implementation is monitored daily by a special working group 

set up to deal with the pandemic and in which Group executives and specialized scientific 

collaborators participate. The Plan envisages, inter alia, a program of remote or shift work, 

special care for vulnerable workers, drastic reduction of travel as well as the execution of 

meetings and/or events with a physical presence to the absolutely necessary, making use of 

all the possibilities offered by technology, drafting procedures for the protection of personnel 

at work during the COVID-19 period (Operating Procedures), as well as the supply of sufficient 

quantities of personal protection equipment such as masks, gloves, antiseptics for all staff. 

It is worth noting that from the first instance of the health crisis, in addition to the measures 

proposed by the Authorities which were followed faithfully and with absolute success in all 

facilities around the world, the Group ensured the safe repatriation of hundreds of its 

executives and employees in its projects implemented abroad, even with specially chartered 

flights, where deemed necessary. 

Large donation to the National Health System 

From the beginning of the pandemic crisis, GEK TERNA Group mobilized in the national fight 

against COVID-19, with donations of ICU equipment and materials to reference hospitals and 

health centers, both in the Capital and in the regions of the country where it operates. 

Indicatively, eight ICU beds of the Attica Hospital have been fully equipped, uniforms and 

materials have been purchased for the Evangelismos hospital, lodges for reference hospitals 

of the region and for health centers in Attica, Crete, Ptolemaida, Serres, Ioannina, Evia etc. To 

date, the Group is a supporter of the national effort to address the pandemic with donations 

in excess of Euro 500,000. The donation program continues as the needs remain high. 
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I. Treasury shares   

On 31.12.2019, GEK TERNA directly and indirectly held 6,111,576 treasury shares, i.e. a 

percentage of 5.9093% of the Share Capital.    

Within the year parent company increased the number of treasury shares with the acquiring 

of 438.693 shares. In the context of the aforementioned changes, the treasury shares held by 

the Company amounted to 5,245,229 shares, ie 5.0716% of the share capital. 

 On 31.12.2020, the Company held directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries a total of 

6,550,269 treasury shares, i.e. a percentage of 6.3335% of the share capital. The subsidiary 

TERNA SA holds a total of 688,205 shares, i.e. a percentage of 0.6654% of the share capital 

and the subsidiary ILIOCHORA SA, holds 616,835 treasury shares, i.e. 0.5964% of the share 

capital.   

 

Stock Options:  

The Extraordinary General Meeting of GEK TERNA S.A. held on 09.12.2019 approved the 

Company's Remuneration Policy, in accordance with Articles 110 and 111 of Law 4548/2018. 

In the context of the preparation of the Remuneration Policy, a new plan (abolishing the plan 

approved on 27.06.2018 by the General Meeting) was introduced to provide stock options up 

to the limit of 4,000,000 shares of the Company for the five-year period 2019-2023, which will 

address up to 20 executives. In particular, it was proposed that 50% of the options should be 

allocated to the Chief Executive Officer, 30% to senior executives and members of the Board 

of Directors of the Company and the companies of the Group and 20% to other executives 

holding managerial or general managerial positions or positions of responsibility in the 

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎΦ ¢ƘŜ Ǉƭŀƴ ǿƛƭƭ ōŜ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŜŘΣ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜǎ ǎet by the BoD 

are fulfilled, through the issue of new shares or allocation of treasury shares, in accordance 

with article 113 par. 2 of Law 4548/18. The share distribution price offered to the beneficiaries 

is proposed to stand at Euro 2.00 per share. The Board of Directors has been authorized to 

determine the beneficiaries, the way the option is exercised as well as the other terms of the 

plan and settle all the relevant regulatory issues for the implementation of the decision.     

As of 20.02.2020, during ǘƘŜ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƭŜ ǇǊƛŎŜ ƻŦ 

the shares to the beneficiaries at the amount of Euro 2.00 per share was approved and the 

Board of Directors appointed numerically 16 executives to be included in the Plan, as well as 

defined the specific conditions of the plan, mainly related to meeting the performance 

conditions, not related to the market (e.g. EBITDA of operating segments, distributions in the 

parent company, etc.). On 08.07.2020, at a new meeting, the Board of Directors approved 

further terms of the plan, related to meeting the terms of market performance (share price). 

At the meeting held as of 23.12.2020, the Board of Directors determined the final beneficiaries 

of the plan and the allocation percentage according to the proposal of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee (hereinafter "NRC").   
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Lƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ ǇǊƻŎŜŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ tƭŀƴΩǎ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘΣ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ  ǘƘŜ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ LCw{ н 

Ϧ9ǉǳƛǘȅ ōŀǎŜŘ tŀȅƳŜƴǘǎέΦ 

The data regarding the stock option plan are presented below as follows. 

 

    No. Stock Options 

Year 
Rights Exercise 

Period 
Expiration 

date 
Exercise 

price 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

2020 2019-2023 31.12.2023 н ϵ  ǇŜǊ 
share 

4,000,000 0 

 

No options were exercised within 2020, and therefore, the total of 4,000,000 options remain 

unpaid.  

For  valuation of the shares related to the Company's share price (VWAP), the fair value of the 

options  was calculated using the Monte Carlo Black ς Scholes simulation as the most 

appropriate method in projecting the probability of different results when random variables 

intervene. The entry data in this model are the share price at the announcement date, the 

exercise price, the dividend yield 0%, the discount rate or risk free return (-0.447%) and the 

volatility of the share price  standing at 49.824%. Based on the above, the fair value was 

determined within the range of 3.57 to 3.95.  

For valuation of shares related to other non-market equity (KPIs), the fair value was 

determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The entry data in this model are the 

share price, standing at Euro 6.20 on the announcement date, the exercise price (Euro 2.00), 

the discount rate or risk-free return (-0.447%) and its volatility share price, standing at  

49.824%. Based on the above, the fair value was determined within the range of  4.20 to 4.34. 

The benefits in equity securities recognized in the income statement for the year ended 

31.12.2020, amounted to 3,257 for the Group and 2,777 for the Company.  

 

 

J. Transactions with Related Parties 

 

TƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀƴŘ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ōŀƭŀƴŎŜǎ ǿƛǘƘ ƛǘǎ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǇŀǊǘƛŜǎ  for the period 

лмΦлмπомΦмнΦнл20  are presented below as follows: 
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Sales-Inflows of the Company          

(amounts in euros) Participation type Total 
Revenues from 

Goods/Consulting 
services  

Revenues from 
administration 

support services  
Income from leases  

Income from 
dividends and related 

profits  

Income from 
interest and related 

profit  

Share capital 
reductions  

Received Loans  

ʆɳwɿɮ {! Subsidiary 15,687,244.18 21,780.00 311,531.00 314,668.00 0.00 1,039,265.18 0.00 14,000,000.00 

ʆɳwɿɮ 9b9wD¸ {! Subsidiary 22,568,330.00 0.00 163,519.00 172,249.00 14,886,597,10 0.00 7,345,964.51 0.00 

/ILwhb /ʁɿ/9{{Lhb{ {Φ! Subsidiary 247,120.00 0.00 48,000.00 0.00 199,120.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

IOANNINON S.A. Subsidiary 78,195.00 0.00 48,000.00 0.00 0.00 30,195.00 0.00 0.00 

MONASTIRIOU SA Subsidiary 289,877.77 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 189,877.77 0.00 100,000.00 

GEK SERVICES SA Subsidiary 17,202.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 17,202.00 0.00 0.00 

ILIOHORA SA Subsidiary 38,880.00 0.00 0.00 38,880.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

VIPATHE Subsidiary 123,478.33 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 123,478.33 0.00 0.00 

TERNA MAG SA Subsidiary 10,379.17 6,160.10 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,219.07 0.00 0.00 

NEA ODOS SA Subsidiary 8,714,856.87 1,091,813.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 7,623,043.87 0.00 0.00 

CENTRAL GREECE MOTORWAY SA Subsidiary 3,306,471.25 1,064,081.14 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,242,390.11 0.00 0.00 

GEK TERNA MOTORWAYS SINGLE MEMBER SA Subsidiary 177,871,376.39 256,044.37 0.00 1,200.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 177,614,132.02 

GEK TERNA KASTELI SINGLE MEMBER SA Subsidiary 79,100.00 78,000.00 0.00 1,100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

CONSTRUCTION JOINT VENTURES Subsidiary 115,682.34 0.00 115,682.34 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

J/V CINTRA-GEK-IRIDIUM HELLAS TOLLS Subsidiary 1,200.00 0.00 0.00 1,200.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

HST SA Subsidiary 918,750.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 918,750.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

AG. NIKOLAOS PIRAEUS CAR PARK S.A. Joint Venture 24,000.00 0.00 24,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

PARKING OUIL SA Joint Venture 161,161.02 0.00 0.00 0.00 161,161.02 0.00 0.00 0.00 

THESSALONIKI CAR PARK S.A. Joint Venture 4,495.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,495.00 0.00 0.00 

ELLINIKOU ENTERTAINMENT AND ATHLETIC PARKS S.A. Joint Venture 300.00 0.00 0.00 300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

HERON II THERMOELECTRIC STATION OF VIOTIA SA Joint Venture 37,000.00 37,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

HERON THERMOELECTRIC S.A. Joint Venture 37,000.00 37,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

KEKROPS SA Associate 9,433.34 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,433.34 0.00 0.00 

  230,341,532.66 2,591,878.61 710,732.34 529,597.00 16,165,628.51 11,283,599.67 7,345,964.51 191,714,132.02 
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/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ wŜŎŜƛǾŀōƭŜǎ          

(amounts in euros) Participation type Total From revenue 
From Loans and 

Interest 
From Dividends and 

related earnings 
From share capital 

reductions 
   

ʆɳwɿɮ {! Subsidiary 94,858,635.88 1,358,822.55 93,499,813.33 0.00 0,00    

ʆɳwɿɮ 9b9wD¸ {! Subsidiary 150,153.36 150,153.36 0,00 0.00 0.00    

/ILwhb /ʁɿ/9{{Lhb{ {Φ! Subsidiary 9,920.00 9,920.00 0,00 0.00 0.00    

IOANNINON S.A. Subsidiary 676,847.50 71,920.00 604,927.50 0.00 0.00    

MONASTIRIOU SA Subsidiary 3,946,788.89 0.00 3,946,788.89 0.00 0.00    

GEK SERVICES SA Subsidiary 410,149.00 0.00 410,149.00 0.00 0.00    

VIPATHE Subsidiary 2,785,936.11 0.00 2,785,936.11 0.00 0.00    

TERNA MAG SA Subsidiary 128,855.59 7,638.52 121,217.07 0.00 0.00    

NEA ODOS SA Subsidiary 4,985.00 4,985.00 0.00 0.00 0.00    

CENTRAL GREECE MOTORWAY SA Subsidiary 4,960.00 4,960.00 0.00 0.00 0.00    

GEK TERNA MOTORWAYS SINGLE MEMBER SA Subsidiary 317,805.82 317,805.82 0.00 0.00 0.00    

GEK TERNA KASTELI SINGLE MEMBER SA Subsidiary 118,477.56 118,477.56 0.00 0.00 0.00    

AVLAKI I BV Subsidiary 3,916.43 3,916.43 0.00 0.00 0.00    

AVLAKI I BV Subsidiary 4,078.93 4,078.93 0.00 0.00 0.00    

AVLAKI I BV Subsidiary 4,034.45 4,034.45 0.00 0.00 0.00    

AVLAKI I BV Subsidiary 4,523.09 4,523.09 0.00 0.00 0.00    

KASSIOPI BV Subsidiary 4,909.20 4,909.20 0.00 0.00 0.00    

J/V CINTRA-GEK-IRIDIUM HELLAS TOLLS Subsidiary 70,034.06 70,034.06 0.00 0.00 0.00    

Wκ± 9¦whɹʁɿɹɮ Subsidiary 2,480.00 2,480.00 0.00 0.00 0.00    

CONSTRUCTION JOINT VENTURES Subsidiary 719,037.34 719,037.34 0.00 0.00 0.00    

AG. NIKOLAOS PIRAEUS CAR PARK S.A. Joint Venture 4,960.00 4,960.00 0.00 0.00 0.00    

HERON THERMOELECTRIC S.A. Joint Venture 51,280.00 51,280.00 0.00 0.00 0.00    

HERON II THERMOELECTRIC STATION OF VIOTIA SA Joint Venture 45,880.00 45,880.00 0.00 0.00 0.00    

PARKING OUIL SA Joint Venture 61,411.20 0.00 0.00 61,411.20 0.00    

KEKROPS SA Associate 809,433.34 0.00 809,433.34 0.00 0.00    

  105,199,492.75 2,959,816.31 102,178,265.24 61,411.20 0.00    
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Purchases - /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ hǳǘŦƭƻǿǎ          

(amounts in euros) Participation type Total Purchases of goods 
Revenues from 

Consulting 
services 

Purchases of 
administrative 

services 
Lease expenses Interest expenses 

Share capital 
increases 

Granted Loans 

ʆɳwɿɮ {! Subsidiary 184,494,751.04 0.00 0.00 1,652,451.80 30,000.00 2,312,299.24 0.00 180,500,000.00 

ʆɳwɿɮ 9b9wD¸ {! Subsidiary 94,433.40 0.00 0.00 63,167.88 31,265.52 0.00 0.00 0.00 

ILIOHORA S.A. Subsidiary 258,750.01 0.00 0,00 0.00 0.00 8,750.01 0.00 250,000.00 

IOANNINON S.A. Subsidiary 900,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 900,000.00 0.00 

NEA ODOS SA Subsidiary 40.80 40.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

GEK TERNA MOTORWAYS SINGLE MEMBER SA Subsidiary 66,014.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 41,014.51 25,000.00 0.00 

GEK TERNA KASTELI SINGLE MEMBER SA Subsidiary 20,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000,000.00 0.00 

KIFISIA PLATANOU SQ. CAR PARK SA Subsidiary 4,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,000,000.00 0.00 

TERNA MAG SA Subsidiary 20,465,395.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,465,395.00 0.00 

GEK SERVICES SA Subsidiary 1,270.00 1,270.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

HERON THERMOELECTRIC S.A. Joint Venture 445,915.14 128,915.14 317,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

KEKROPS SA Associate 800,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 800,000.00 

  231,526,569.90 130,225.94 317,000.00 1,715,619.68 61,265.52 2,362,063.76 45,390,395.00 181,550,000.00 

 
 
 
 

         

/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ [ƛŀōƛƭƛties          

(amounts in euros) Participation type Total From purchases 
From Loan and 

interest 

From dividends and 
Joint-Ventures 

results  

From share capital 
increases  

   

ʆɳwɿɮ {! Subsidiary 2,067,990.38 2,067,990.38 0.00 0.00 0.00    

ʆɳwɿɮ 9b9wD¸ {! Subsidiary 34,593.12 34,593.12 0.00 0.00 0.00    

NEA ODOS SA Subsidiary 238.60 238.60 0.00 0.00 0.00    

GEK SERVICES SA Subsidiary 1,574.80 1,574.80 0.00 0.00 0.00    

GEK TERNA MOTORWAYS SINGLE MEMBER SA Subsidiary 7,337,888.51 0.00 7,337,888.51 0.00 0.00    

HERON THERMOELECTRIC S.A. Joint Venture 18,599.81 18,599.81 0.00 0.00 0.00    

  9,460,885.22 2,122,996.71 7,337,888.51 0.00 0.00    
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Sales - Inflows of the Group          
          

(amounts in euros) Participation type Total 
Revenues from 

Goods/Consulting 
services  

Revenues from 
administration 

support services  

Income from 
leases  

Income from 
dividends and 
related profits  

Income from 
interest and 
related profit 

Share capital 
reductions  

Received 
Loans  

HERON THERMOELECTRIC S.A. Joint Venture 4,638,817.36 1,467,888.36 3,170,929.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

HERON II THERMOELECTRIC STATION OF VIOTIA SA Joint Venture 1,750,980.34 0.00 52,000.00 0.00 0.00 1,698,980.34 0.00 0.00 

INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT OF HERAKLION CRETE CONCESSION S.A. Joint Venture 15,124,972.31 14,726,397.31 385,135.00 13,440.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

AG. NIKOLAOS PIRAEUS CAR PARK S.A. Joint Venture 24,000.00 0,00 24,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

THESSALONIKI CAR PARK S.A. Joint Venture 4,495.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,495.00 0.00 0.00 

PARKING OUIL SA Joint Venture 161,161.02 0.00 0.00 0.00 161,161.02 0.00 0.00 0.00 

ELLINIKOU ENTERTAINMENT AND ATHLETIC PARKS S.A. Joint Venture 300.00 0.00 0.00 300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

KEKROPS SA Associate 9,433.00 0.00 0.00 0,00 0.00 9,433.00 0.00 0.00 

  21,714,159.03 16,194,285.67 3,632,064.00 13,740.00 161,161.02 1,712,908.34 0.00 0.00 

          

          

          

          

Receivables of the Group          

(amounts in euros) Participation type Total From revenue 
From Loan and 

interest 

From dividends 
and Joint-

Ventures results  

Share capital 
reductions  

   

HERON THERMOELECTRIC S.A. Joint Venture 3,383,737.98 3,383,737.98 0.00 0.00 0.00    

HERON II THERMOELECTRIC STATION OF VIOTIA SA Joint Venture 17,486,175.88 17,486,175.88 0.00 0.00 0.00    

INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT OF HERAKLION CRETE CONCESSION S.A. Joint Venture 476,343.99 476,343.99 0.00 0.00 0.00    

AG. NIKOLAOS PIRAEUS CAR PARK S.A. Joint Venture 4,960.00 4,960.00 0.00 0.00 0.00    

PARKING OUIL SA Joint Venture 61,411.20 0.00 0.00 61,411.20 0.00    

KEKROPS SA Associate 809,433.34 0.00 809,433.34 0.00 0.00    

  22,222,062.39 21,351,217.85 809,433.34 61,411.20 0.00    
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Purchases - Outflows of the Group          

          

(amounts in euros) Participation type Total Purchases of goods 
Revenues from 

Consulting services 
Lease expenses 

Share capital 
increases 

Granted Loans   

HERON THERMOELECTRIC S.A. Joint Venture 8,745,110.00 8,745,110.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00   

INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT OF HERAKLION CRETE CONCESSION S.A. Joint Venture 426,483.32 0.00 426,483.32 0.00 0.00 0.00   

KEKROPS SA Associate 800,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 800,000.00   

  9,971,593.32 8,745,110.00 426,483.32 0.00 0.00 800,000.00   

 
 
 
 

       
 
 

 

Liabilities of the Group          

(amounts in euros) 
Participation 

type 
Total 

From Purchases 
and Advances 

From Loan 
and interest 

     

HERON THERMOELECTRIC S.A. Joint Venture 3,627,018.85 3,627,018.85 0.00      

INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT HERAKLION CRETE 
CONCESSION SA 

Joint Venture 115,202,508.29 115,202,508.29 0.00      

ATTIKAT SA Associate 5,658.47 5,658.47 0.00      

  118,835,185.61 118,835,185.61 0.00      
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The remuneration of members of the Board of Directors and senior executives of the Group 

and the Company for 2020 as well as the relative balances on 31.12.2020, is as follows:   

 

 GROUP COMPANY 

 
1.1-

31.12.2020 
1.1-

31.12.2019 
1.1-

31.12.2020 
1.1-

31.12.2019 

Remuneration for services rendered 5,463 3,654 347 141 

Remuneration of employees 814 868 295 244 

Remuneration for participation in Board 
meetings  

1,863 1,609 990 860 

Stock options expense 3,257 0 2,778 0 

Total 11,397 6,131 4,410 1,245 

     

 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Liabilities 373 192 180 28 

Receivables 15 31 0 8 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT   

 

1. Corporate Governance Code     

The Company applies all the rules and procedures established by  the legal, regulatory, and 

other relevant authorities regarding the total of its activities and operations without deviation. 

Moreover, it has adopted internal regulations and business practices that contribute to 

adherence to transparency principles, professional ethics, and prudent management of all the 

Company resources at all management levels, to the benefit of its shareholders and related 

parties.   

 

These practices are briefly outlined in the Company's Corporate Governance Code (CGC), 

which is the basis and reference point of the Group's integrated governance system. By 

implementing the CGC and separate thematic regulations, the Management ensures  efficient 

management and utilization of the company's resources and promotes corporate 

responsibility as a core value of the course of its    development.   

 

The separate thematic regulations and operating guidelines of the company are as follows: 

 

1)  Company's Internal Regulation (CIR). It includes all the measures, regulations and 

guidelines adopted by the Management, in addition to the mandatory provisions and/or 

regulations imposed by the competent institutions and the relative Authorities. 

2)   Code of conduct 

3)   Audit Committee Charter 

4)   Internal Audit Activity Charter 

5)  General Data Protection Regulation 

6)   Corporate Responsibility Report 

7)   Anti-bribery management system.   

  

Any new relevant provision, measure, rule, etc is incorporated into the CIR, in order to 

maintain the required completeness and to adapt directly to the changing conditions of the 

company's economic, social, and business environment. 

 

The Corporate Governance Code (CGC),  prepared by the Company, in line with the provisions 

of Law 3873/2010 and posted on the ComǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ www.gekterna.com, records all the 

aforementioned regulations and practices.   

 

2. Corporate governance regulations and practices  

The CGC analytically records, with clarity and accuracy, the following corporate governance 

regulations  and practices: 

 

 

http://www.gekterna.com/
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Board of Directors   

Its role is defined clearly, in line with its responsibilities and duties to set and apply the 

ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ōŀǎƛŎ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƻŦ ǇǊƻǘŜŎǘƛƴƎ the interest of all its Shareholders. 

!ǎ ǘƘŜ ƘƛƎƘŜǎǘ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΣ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ŘŜŎƛŘŜǎ ƻƴ ŀƭƭ 

the corporate affairs, apart from those falling within the responsibility of the General Meeting 

of Shareholders. 

 

Specifically, the responsibilities of the Board of Directors include:  

ü long-term strategic and mid-term business planning of the company 

ü decisions of strategic importance, such as acquisitions, mergers, liquidations, high budget 

investments 

ü planning of general, as wŜƭƭ ŀǎ ǎǇŜŎƛŦƛŎΣ ōŀǎƛŎ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ ǊŜƎǳƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ 

ü approval, supervision and evaluation of the implementation of annual projects and 

budgets 

ü ensuring  reliability and completeness of the accounting ς financial systems and data and 

the compaƴȅΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŘŜǊƛǾŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜƳ 

ü ensuring smooth and proper operation of the appropriate systems and mechanisms for 

ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŀǳŘƛǘΣ ŀŘƘŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƭŜƎŀƭ ς operational framework, 

as well as assessing and managing the business risks it faces 

ü continuous effort for  avoidance or prudent handling of a potential conflict of interest of 

the Board of Directors or its members or basic shareholders with the interests of the 

company, by adopting transparency and monitoring rules on its transactions 

ü selection of the Chief Executive Officer and the other members of the Board, who are also 

evaluated on their overall performance 

ü defining the remuneration of the BoD members and proposing their approval by the 

General Meeting of the Shareholders, as well as deciding on the remuneration of the 

ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎŜƴƛƻǊ ŜȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜǎ 

ü ŘŜŎƛŘƛƴƎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻǊƎŀƴƛȊŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜΣ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǎȅǎǘŜƳǎ ŀƴŘ 

ǇǊƻŎŜŘǳǊŜǎΣ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ŀƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǎǳŎƘΣ ǿƘŜƴ ŘŜŜƳŜŘ ƴŜŎŜǎǎŀǊȅ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

internal and external operation conditions 

ü establishment and effort to ensure the proper operation of the committees specified by 

the Corporate Governance Principles (Audit Committee and Committee for Election of 

Nominee Board Members and Remuneration) 

ü establishment of collective bodies, when deemed necessary for the improvement of the 

ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŜŦŦƛŎƛŜƴŎȅ ŀƴŘ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ 

ü definition and effort to lay out and apply basic company values and principles, including 

those of corporate governance, throughout its overall relationship with all the related 

parties.     

 

¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΣ ŜƭŜŎǘŜŘ  ŀǘ ǘƘŜ wŜƎǳƭŀǊ DŜƴŜǊŀƭ aŜŜǘƛƴƎ ƘŜƭŘ ƻƴ 

28.06.2017, had a four-year tenure and was comprised of 12 members -  7 executive members, 
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5 non-executive members and 3 independent, non-exertive members  within the meaning of 

Article 4, Law 3016/2002.   

On 26.06.2019, the Regular General Meeting of the Company, aiming to achieve completeness 

and balance of expertise, experience and administrative skills at the top level of the Company 

decided to expand the Board of Directors, following the recommendation of the Nomination 

and Remuneration Committee , decided to increase the minimum number from three (3) to 

seven (7) and the maximum - from twelve (12) to thirteen (13).   

Furthermore, the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 09.12.2019, following the 

recommendation of the the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, of the teem of service 

equal to that of the other members of the Board of Directors, elected Mrs Penelope Lazaridou, 

ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ name - Sophocles, as a new executive member of the Board of Directors and Mr. 

!ǘƘŀƴŀǎǎƛƻǎ {ƪƻǊŘŀǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ς Ioannis as new independent non-executive member of 

the Board of Directors, who meets the conditions of independence as stated in the provisions 

of article 4 of Law 3016/2002.   

Therefore, the current Board of Directors, with a term of service until 30.06.2021, extended 

until the end of the term, within which the next Regular General Meeting of the Company  

must convene, consists of 13 members,  8  - executive members, 5 non-executive members,  

4 of whom are independent non-executive members, within the meaning of the provisions of 

Law 3016/2002.    

Therefore, at its meeting held on 18.12.2019, the Board of Directors  composition was decided 

as follows:  

 

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

NAME/SURNAME  POSITION 

DŜƻǊƎƛƻǎ tŜǊƛǎǘŜǊƛǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Theodoros 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ς 

Executive Member 

Konstantinos Vavaletskos, ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Theodosios 
Vice Chairman ς Executive Member  

aƛŎƘŀŜƭ DƻǳǊȊƛǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Alexandros  
Vice Chairman ς Executive Member  

!ƎƎŜƭƻǎ .ŜƴƻǇƻǳƭƻǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Ioannis 
Vice Chairman ς Executive Member 

!Ǉƻǎǘƻƭƻǎ ¢ŀƳǾŀƪŀƪƛǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Stavros 

Vice Chairman ς Independent non-Executive 

Member 
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DiƳƛǘǊƛƻǎ !ƴǘƻƴŀƪƻǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Georgios  
Executive Member 

9ƳƳŀƴǳŜƭ ±ǊŀƛƭŀǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Nikolaos  
Executive Member 

tŜƴŜƭƻǇŜ [ŀȊŀǊƛŘƻǳΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Sofocles  
Executive Member 

9ƳƳŀƴǳŜƭ aƻǳǎǘŀƪŀǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Michael 
Executive Member 

Georgios PerdƛƪŀǊƛǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Gerasimos  
Non-Executive Member  

{ǇȅǊƛŘƻƴ YŀǇǊŀƭƻǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Ioannis  
Independent non-Executive Member 

!ǘƘŀƴŀǎƛƻǎ {ƪƻǊŘŀǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

Ioannis  
Independent non-Executive Member 

Gagik Apkarian ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ Serop Independent non-Executive Member 

 

During the exercise of their duties and the Board meetings held in 2020, the Board members 

ŜȄƘƛōƛǘŜŘ άŘƛƭƛƎŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ ŀ ǇǊǳŘŜƴǘ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎƳŀƴέΣ ŘŜŘƛŎŀǘŜŘ ǎǳŦŦƛŎƛŜƴǘ ǘƛƳŜ ƴŜŜŘŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 

efficient management of the Company, acted with integrity, accountability and proper 

ƧǳŘƎƳŜƴǘΣ ŀǾƻƛŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŎƻǳƭŘ ŜƴŘŀƴƎŜǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎƻƳǇŜǘƛǘƛǾŜƴŜǎǎ ƻǊ ŎƻƴŦƭƛŎǘ ƛǘǎ 

interests. Also, they protected the confidentiality of information they had privileged access to 

and ensured the prompt and simultaneous provision of information to all shareholders and 

interest investors on issues that could affect their decision to realize any transaction on 

company shares.        

 

The Board of Directors convened fourteen (14) times during 2020. 

The dates of the Board meetings were scheduled in advance in order to ensure the maximum 

possible quorum.   
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NAME/ 

SURNAME 

NUMBER OF 

MEETINGS 

THAT TOOK 

PLACE 

DURING 

HIS/HER 

TENURE 

NUMBER OF 

MEETINGS IN 

WHICH THE 

MEMBER 

PARTICIPATED 

NUMBER OF 

MEETINGS IN 

WHICH THE 

MEMBER WAS 

REPRESENTED  

NUMBER OF 

MEETINGS IN 

WHICH THE 

MEMBER WAS 

ABSENT AND 

NOT 

REPRESENTED 

Konstantinos 

Vavaletskos 

14 13 1 - 

Michail Gourzis 14 14 - - 

Aggelos 

Benopoulos 

14 14 - - 

Georgios 

Peristeris 

14 14 - - 

Dimitrios 

Antonakos 

14 14 - - 

Emmanuel Vrailas 14 13 1 - 

Emmanuel 

Moustakas 

14 14 - - 

Georgios 

Perdikaris 

14 14 - - 

Apostolos 

Tamvakakis 

14 14 - - 

Gagik Apkarian 14 14 - - 

Spyridon Kapralos 14 13 1 - 

Penelope 

Lazaridou 

14 14 - - 

Athanassios 

Skordas 

14 14 - - 

 

During the meetings and the proceedings of the Board of Directors, the Members were 

supported by the Secretary, Mrs. Dimitra Chatziarseniou.     
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Chairman of the Board of Directors   

The Chairman represents the basic means for applying Corporate Governance Principles in the 

Company, with responsibility, among others, for efficient operation of the Board of Directors 

and  active participation of all its members in making and reviewing the application of business 

decisions, as well as for regular communication between the Company and its shareholders. 

¢ƘŜ /ƘŀƛǊƳŀƴΩǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ ŎƻƴǾŜƴƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘŘǊŜǎǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ 

ƛǎǎǳŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Řŀƛƭȅ ŀƎŜƴŘŀ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ /ƘŀƛǊƳŀƴ ƘƛƳǎŜƭŦ ŀŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

needs and the relevant requests by other Board members, making efforts for the efficient 

coordination and smooth communication between all Board members, as well as between the 

Company and shareholders ς investors, which is based on the prompt, clear and reliable 

provision of information towards Board members on the total activities and operation of the 

Company, as well as ensuring the smooth incorporation of other members to the Board of 

Directors and their motivation in order to encourage their active and substantial participation 

in corporate affairs and the decision making process. 

The Board of Directors is supported by Committees, which have an advisory role, but which 

are of particular significance in the decision making procedures of the Board. The Committees 

are as follows:   

 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee     

The Nomination ŀƴŘ wŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜΩǎ Ƴŀƛƴ ǊƻƭŜ ƛǎ ǘƻ ŜȄǇƭƻǊŜ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŜ ǇǊƻǇŜǊ 

nominees for election to ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΣ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŜ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ 

systems that define remuneration at all the Company levels.  

The /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜΩǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎΣ ƛƴ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǇƻǎƛƴƎ ƴƻƳƛƴŜŜǎΣ Ƴŀƛƴƭȅ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ ŘŜŦƛƴƛƴƎ 

ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀǎ ǊŜƎŀǊŘǎ ǘƘŜ ǎƛȊŜ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƳǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΣ 

defining the role, responsibilities and skills of every position within the Board of Directors, the 

ǇŜǊƛƻŘƛŎ ǊŜǾƛŜǿ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘΩǎ ǎƛȊŜ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƳǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǎǳōƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŀƭǎ ŦƻǊ 

changes ς improvements when deemed necessary.  

In relation to its responsibilities for remuneration issues, the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee convenes at least twice a year and whenever else deemed necessary. It processes 

and proposes the system that defines remuneration of employees, Board members and senior 

executives, it prepares and submits to the Board proposals for the corporate remuneration 

policy and assesses its application according to the relevant annual remuneration report, and 

it prepares the proposals that must be submitted by the Board to the General Meeting of 

shareholders for approval.    

In  2020, the Committee convened four (4) times. 

The Code of Corporate Governance,  approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 

18.03.2011 and  in operation since then, made provisions for a three-member committee  in 

Article 2.3.1. 

The Board of Directors elected by the Regular General Meeting on 28.06.2017 set up a 
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee, consisting of the following Members: 

Angelos Benopoulos,  Vice-Chairman, executive member 

Georgios Perdikaris,  non-executive member 

Apostolos Tamvakakis,  Vice-Chairman, independent non-executive member 

   

At its meeting on 27.09.2017, the Board of Directors decided to amend article 2.3.1 of the 

Code of Corporate Governance and expand the composition of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee s so that it is now a committee of four members, consisting of one 

executive member and  three non-executive, two of whom are independent. The Chairman of 

the Committee is an independent, non-executive member. 

The full composition of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee is now as follows: 

 

Apostolos Tamvakakis -  independent non-executive member of the Board of Directors and 

Chairman of the Committee, 

Angelos Benopoulos -  executive member of the BoD, 

Georgios Perdikaris -    non-executive member of the Board of Directors, and 

Gagik Apkarian -  independent non-executive member of the Board of Directors 

 

The Extraordinary General Meeting  held on 9 December 2019 approved the proposed 

Remuneration Policy for Members of the Board of Directors in accordance with Directive (EU) 

2017/828 of the European Parliament and  of the Council as of 17th May 2017 as regards  the 

rights of shareholders as incorporated into Greek legislation under Law 4548/2018 and, in 

particular, under article 110.   

Following the above decision, the full text of the Policy was posted on the Company's website.  

 

Investment Committee     

The mid-long-ǘŜǊƳ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎƛŎ ǇƭŀƴƴƛƴƎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎΣ ŀƳƻƴƎǎǘ 

others, the following investment policy in order to achieve and maintain its business 

objectives through time. 

¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜ ōƻŘȅ ǘƘŀǘ ǎŜǘǎ ŀƴŘ ŀǇǇƭƛŜǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ 

policy. In this context the Board bases its decisions on the appropriate proposals submitted 

by the Investment Committee ((IC) as regards to acquisitions, mergers, strategic alliances, high 

budget investments, liquidation of assets and  any other action of strategic importance that 

may affect the capital structure and future development of the Company. The Investment 

Committee convenes at any time deemed necessary for the Board to make investment 

decisions.    
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As is the case for other company committees, the I.C. has the character of recommending 

proposals and not making decisions. Its basic responsibilities include preparation of the 

investment policy and long-term investment plan of the Company, evaluation and approval of 

the implementation of the annual investment plan, as well as any new investment that is 

ǎŜǇŀǊŀǘŜƭȅ ǎǳōƳƛǘǘŜŘΣ ŜȄŀƳƛƴŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭƛȊŀǘƛƻƴ 

of its investment proposal, evaluation of the corporate risks which are linked with its 

materialization, documentation of its objective and  confirmation that its implementation is 

included in the application of measures of the /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ approved corporate strategy.    

The Investment Committee consists of five members - ǘƘǊŜŜ όоύ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

BoD and two (2) senior executives or advisors of the Company, depending on the issue to be 

discussed. The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer can become members of the I.C. 

The Board of Director, elected by the General Meeting on 28.06.2017, set up an Investment 

Committee comprising the following members: 

 

Konstantinos Vavaletskos Executive member 

Emmanuel Vrailas  Executive member 

Emmanuel Moustakas  Executive member 

And two (2) executives or directors of the Company depending on the issue under the 

/ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜΩǎ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŀǘƛƻƴΦ     

 

In compliance with the decision of the Board of Directors as of 18.12.2019, from now on Ms. 

tŜƴŜƭƻǇŜ [ŀȊŀǊƛŘƻǳΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ - Sophocles, in her capacity as a Director and the General 

Financial Manager of the Company, is one of two Directors composing the five-member 

LƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ ŘŜǇŜƴŘƛƴƎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƛǎǎǳŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜΩǎ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŀǘƛƻƴΦ      

Within the year, the Committee  reviewŜŘ ǘƘŜ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻƎǊŜǎǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

planned investments.   

 

Audit Committee  

The Audit Committee supports the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibility to ensure 

ŎƻƳǇƭƛŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ōƻŘƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ ǘƘe legal ς institutional 

ς regulatory framework and the Corporate Governance Principles that govern its operation, 

completeness and reliability o͊ accounting, IT and administrative systems of the Company and 

the publicized financial statements and other reports, extracted through such systems, as well 

as regular ŀƴŘ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀƭƭ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ƳŜŎƘŀƴƛǎƳǎ ƛƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ to 

promptly identify, apart from the above, business risks and handle them in a prudent and 

effective way.  

The Audit Committee convenes at least four times a year and whenever else deemed 

necessary. It invites to its meeting the statutory auditor at least twice a year to provide 
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clarifications ς explanations ǊŜƎŀǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘȅ and comments ς conclusions on 

the financial statements and the general financial reporting of the Company.   

The Audit Committee has the following key responsibilities, per subject:   

It oversees the preparation ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǊŜǇƻǊǘǎΣ 

examines their reliability and takes care of sound  operation of the internal control, providing 

its support, and periodically reviewing adequacy and reliability of internal control  and 

mechanisms for business risks management mechanisms based on the  criteria of prompt 

identification of business risks and quick response to address them. It analytically examines 

potential transactions of the Company with any related party and submits the relevant reports 

to the Board of Directors in order to evaluate the possibility of present conflicts of interest 

with complete transparency and prevent potential damage or loss for the Company.    

Moreover, the Audit Committee receives the reports of the Internal Audit Division, assesses 

their contents and proposes the candidacy of the Head of the Division to the Board of 

Directors, evaluates their effectiveness and efficiency, and based on the above, proposes the 

continuity or termination of his/her duties.   

The Audit Committee monitors the work of the statutory auditor and assesses whether it is in 

accordance with the relevant legal ς regulatory framework, the international standards and 

best practices. It also examines and evaluates the adequacy of knowledge, professional 

consistency, independence, and effectiveness of the statutory auditor, and on this basis, 

proposes to the Board of Directors,  continuance or termination of the relationship with the 

statutory auditor.    

Pursuant to provisions of article 44 of Law 4449/2017, which the Board of Directors 

incorporated into the current Corporate Governance Code, the Audit Committee is composed 

of non-executive members of the Board of Directors and the members, elected by the General 

Meeting of Shareholders and those, who are not members of the Board of Directors, but 

comply with the provisions of Law 3016/2002 regarding independence.     

On 26.06.2019, the Regular General  Meeting of the Shareholders elected a new, three-

member Audit Committee, consisting of  independent non-executive member of the Board of 

Directors Mr. Apostolos TamvakakiǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ς Stavros, appointed the Chairman of the 

/ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜΣ {ǇȅǊƛŘƻƴ YŀǇǊŀƭƻǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ -   Ioannis, independent, non-executive member 

of the Board of Directors and Mr. Aggelos Tagmatarchis, who is not a member of the Board of 

Directors and meets the conditions of independence as provided for in the provisions of Law 

3016/2002.     

The above composition of the Audit Committee is in accordance with the provisions of Article 

44 of Law 4449/2017, i.e. all members of the Audit Committee meet the conditions of 

independence under Article 4 of Law 3016/2002, and all members have sufficient knowledge 

in the domain, within which the Company operates. Moreover, Messrs. Tamvakakis and 

Tagmatarchis have sufficient knowledge in the field of audit and accounting.    

The Audit Committee convened eleven (11) times during 2020, exercised all its responsibilities 

and tasks, ŎƻƻǇŜǊŀǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ LƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ !ǳŘƛǘ Divisions and provided the 

appropriate guidance for the continuation of the audit per subject and priority.  
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It discussed with the HŜŀŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŀǳŘƛǘ ƛǘǎ ŦƛƴŘƛƴƎǎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴŎƭǳǎƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ 

confirmed the correctness of the preparation procedure for the financial statements.       

 

Regulatory Compliance Committee   

The Regulatory Compliance Committee includes the following members: 

¶ 5ƛƳƛǘǊƛƻǎ !ƴǘƻƴŀƪƻǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ς Georgios, Chairman, executive member of BoD    

¶ 5ƛƳƛǘǊŀ /ƘŀǘȊƛŀǊǎŜƴƛƻǳΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ς Nikolaos, Lawyer 

¶ !ǘƘŀƴŀǎǎƛƻǎ {ƪƻǊŘŀǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ς Ioannis, Independent, non-executive member 

of the BoD. 

 

The CommiǘǘŜŜΩǎ main responsibilities include, among others: 

¶ Recognizing the framework of regulatory compliance of the Company and adapting it 

in cooperation with the competent executives regarding procedures and policies. 

¶ Timely identifying new regulatory compliance requirements through the appropriate 

methodology (e.g. base registration). 

¶ Ensuring through mechanisms, the dissemination of regulatory obligations, values, 

and principles of the Company Code to the competent executives and providing the 

appropriate advice to them as well as to the management.  

¶ Monitoring the implementation of the relevant procedures and holding responsibility 

for updating them.      

¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ŎŜǊǘƛŦƛŜŘ L{h отллм ά!ƴǘƛ-.ǊƛōŜǊȅέ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ǘƘŜ following 

procedures and policies that have been established:  

Business Environment Analysis, Risk Management, Internal Audit, Objectives Failure 

Management - Corrective Actions, Documentation and Files Control, Staff Training,  Changes 

Management, Management Review, Regulatory Framework Monitoring, Complaints 

Management, Due Diligence, System Monitoring and Control, Energy Planning, Energy 

Footprint and Review, Energy Monitoring, Measurements, Objectives: Policy for Combating 

Unhealthy Competition, Information Security Policy, Policy for Travel and Hospitality 

Expenses.   

The members of the Regulatory Compliance Committee were appointed following as of  

нуΦммΦнлму ŀƴŘ муΦмнΦнлмф ŘŜŎƛǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΦ    

 

Strategic Planning Committee   

According to as of 27.04.2018 decision of the Board of Directors of the Company, a seven-

member Strategic Planning Committee was established, including the following members:  

¶ DŜƻǊƎƛƻǎ tŜǊƛǎǘŜǊƛǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ - Theodoros, Executive Member  
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¶ Apostolos TŀƳǾŀƪŀƪƛǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ς Stavros, Independent, Non-executive Member 

¶ Gagik Apkarian ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ - Serop, Independent, Non-executive Member  

¶ Spyridon Kapralos, ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ -   Ioannis, Independent, Non-executive Member  

¶ 5ƛƳƛǘǊƛƻǎ !ƴǘƻƴŀƪƻǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀme ς Georgios, Executive Member  

¶ 9ƳƳŀƴǳŜƭ aƻǳǎǘŀƪŀǎΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ -  Michail, Executive Member  

¶ And a Senior Financial Officer, on  case basis or subject matter, as follows: Penelope 

[ŀȊŀǊƛŘƻǳΣ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ - Sophocles and, if deemed necessary,  Christos Zaribas, 

ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ - Theodosius, Panagiotis Kazantzis, ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ - Nikolaos, Aristoteles 

Spiliotis, ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ - Nikolaos.  

 

Internal Control and Risk Management   

Since 29.05.2014, Ms. Aggeliki Nika holds the position of the Internal Auditor. 

The internal control system is defined by the total of regulations and procedures applied by 

the Company, which aim at preventive and restrictive control of operations and procedures 

ŀǘ ŀƭƭ ƭŜǾŜƭǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƘƛŜǊŀǊŎƘȅ ŀƴŘ ƻǊƎŀƴƛzation, in order to ensure: legality and 

security of management and transactions, accuracy and reliability of published financial 

statements and any other financial information and announcement, as well as effectiveness 

ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ ǎȅǎǘŜƳǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΦ   

The Board of Directors applies ǘƘŜ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ ǎƻ ŀǎ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǘŜŎǘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

assets, estimate the evident risks arising from its operations and provide accurate and 

complete information to shareholders as regards the actual condition and prospects of the 

Company, as well as the manner in which the detected risks are addressed.     

To implement the above, the Board of Directors defines the operational context of the internal 

control, approves the conduct and evaluation procedures of its results, and decides on its 

composition, adhering to the relevant legal and regulatory framework and the Corporate 

Governance Code. It establishes a special internal audit division, which is independent, is not 

subject to any hierarchy in relation to any other organizational unit, and is supervised by the 

/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǳŘƛǘ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜΦ   

With the contribution of the Audit Committee, it evaluates adequacy and effectiveness of the 

special internal audit division and the extent to which its reports are utilized by the Board to 

facilitate on-going ƛƳǇǊƻǾŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴs at all levels and effective 

management of business risks. Moreover, the Audit Committee maintains direct and regular 

contact with the external auditors, in order to be systematically informed about adequacy and 

reliability of the internal control and risk management systems, as well as accuracy and 

reliability of financial reporting.   

Evaluation and management of risks during 2020 is described in the relevant paragraph of the 

/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ƴƴǳŀƭ Cinancial Report.   
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Shareholders Relations ς Corporate Announcements Department    

The Board of Directors places particular significance on protecting the rights of all the 

Company Shareholders, updating them about the development of corporate affairs and 

encouraging their participation in the General Meetings, where they have the opportunity to 

communicate directly with the Management, submit questions they may have and contribute 

to the final formation ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎƛŎ development directions.  

TƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ Ƙŀǎ ŀ ǎǇŜŎƛŀƭ LƴǾŜǎǘƻǊ wŜƭŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ {ŜǊǾƛŎe Department, which 

ensures direct, responsible, and complete provision of information, as well as assisting  

shareholders to exercise their rights.   

In the same context, the Chairman of the Board of Directors and/or the Chief Executive Officer 

may carry out separate meetings with the /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ, holding a significant share 

of its capital, so that such shareholders could be provided with more analytical information 

on corporate governance issues. They also collect the views expressed by the shareholders, 

transfer this information to the other members of the Board of Directors and ensure that the 

principles and procedures of corporate governance and any other information useful for 

shareholders and investors are promptly available and easily accessible through modern 

means.  

Following as of 31.0оΦнлнл ŘŜŎƛǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΣ aǊΦ DŜƻǊƎƛƻǎ YƻǳŦƛƻǎ 

was appointed the Head of the Shareholders Relations ς Corporate Announcements 

Department.   

 

General Meeting of Shareholders  

The Company adheres to the total of relevant terms, clauses and procedures stipulated by the 

effective legal ς regulatory framework as regards to the General Meeting of its Shareholders, 

with particular dedication to ŜƴǎǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊΩǎ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ exercise their rights, based 

on completeness, accuracy and clarity of the information they timely receive from the relevant 

corporate bodies, through all the means available to the Company.    

Aiming at the broadest possible presence of its shareholders (institutional and private) at the 

General Meeting, the Company timely announces, through any appropriate means, the daily 

agenda issues, the date, and location where the General Meeting will convene. To facilitate 

the ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ active participation in the General Meeting, the Company provides 

complete information about the way and deadline for exercising the right to list issues on the 

daily agenda, as well as to submit questions. Moreover, it informs the shareholders about the 

number of shares and voting rights, the voting procedures and makes available to them any 

ƻǘƘŜǊ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘ ǎǳǇǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŀǊȅ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘ ƛƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘ ǘƘŜ DŜƴŜǊŀƭ aŜŜǘƛƴƎΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ 

most effectively.  

Members of the Board of Directors, the Company auditors and any other senior company 

executive, who are considered essential for the provision of detailed information and 

ŎƭŀǊƛŦƛŎŀǘƛƻƴǎ ƻƴ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ ƛƴǉǳƛǊƛŜǎΣ ŀǊŜ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ DŜƴŜǊŀƭ aŜŜǘƛƴƎǎΦ      
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Disclosure of information required by items (c), (d), (f), (h) and (i) of par. 1 article 10 of the 

directive 2004/25/EC  

The required information is already included in another section of the Management Report 

that refers to the additional information under article 4 par. 7 of Law 3556/2007.   

 

Compliance with the provisions of the Code 
 
The Board of Directors has complied with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code 
during the year 2020.   
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EXPLANATORY REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ACCORDING TO ARTICLE 4 OF L. 

3556/2007   

The present Explanatory Report of the Board of Directors is submitted to the Regular General 

Meeting of Shareholders, according to paragraph 8 article 4 of L. 3556/2007 and has been 

prepared according to the provisions of paragraph 7, article 4 of the aforementioned Law.  

 

a) Structure of Share Capital  

 

¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ {ƘŀǊŜ /ŀǇƛǘŀƭ ŀƳƻǳƴǘǎ ǘƻ ŦƛŦǘȅ ŜƛƎƘǘ ƳƛƭƭƛƻƴΣ ƴƛƴŜ ƘǳƴŘǊŜŘ ŦƛŦǘȅ ƻƴŜ ǘƘƻǳǎŀƴŘΣ 

two hundred seventy five euro and eighty seven cents (Euro 58,951,275.87), is fully paid and 

is divided into one hundred and three million, four hundred twenty three thousand and two 

hundred and ninety one (103,423,291) common registered shares of a nominal value of fifty 

seven cents (Euro 0.57) each. 

 

¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƭƛǎǘŜŘ ŀƴŘ ǘǊŀŘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ {ŜŎǳǊƛties Main Market of the Athens 

Exchange.  

 

!ƭƭ ǘƘŜ ǊƛƎƘǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƻōƭƛƎŀǘƛƻƴǎ ǎǘƛǇǳƭŀǘŜŘ ōȅ [ŀǿ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴ 

emanate from each share.  

 

b) Limitations on transfer of Company shares 

 

Transfer of Company shares takes place according to Law and there is no limitation on their 

transfer according to the Articles of Association. 

 

 

c) Significant direct or indirect participations according to the  provisions of L. 3556/2007 

 

The following Table of Shareholders holding a percentage over 5% as at 31.12.2020 is 

presented below as follows: 

 
 

NAME/TITLE No of shares % 

Reggeborgh Invest B.V. 31,401,600 30,362% 

Georgios Peristeris  16,531,307 15,984% 

Gek Terna S.A.    5,245,229   5,072% 

 
 
d) Shares providing special control rights 
 
According tƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜǊŜ ŀǊŜ ƴƻ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ǎǇŜŎƛŀƭ 
control rights.  
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e) Limitations on voting rights 
 
!ŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜǊŜ ŀǊŜ ƴƻ ƭƛƳƛǘŀǘƛƻƴǎ on voting rights 
emanating from its shares.  
 
f) Agreements between Shareholders  
 
The Company is not aware of any agreements between its Shareholders, which imply 

limitations on  transfer of its shares or exercise of voting rights emanating from its shares.   

 

g) Rules for appointment and replacement of BoD Members and amendments to the Articles 

of Association  

 

¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴ are in compliance with the provisions of L. 3604/2007 

and their provisions do not differ from those stipulated by L. 4548/2018  as in effect, both as 

regards   appointment and replacement of Board Members and  amendments to its articles.   

 

h) Board of Directors authority  issuing new shares or acquiring treasury shares   

 

According to the provisions of par. 2 article 5 of the Articles of Association, the General 

Meeting may  - through its decision - assign authority to the Board of Directors to increase - 

through its decision - the share capital in compliance with the provisions of  L. 4548/2018. 

According to the provisions of article 113 of L. 4548/2018, as in effect, the Board of Directors 

may increase the share capital by issuing new shares in the context of implementing the Stock 

Option Plan, approved by the General Meeting, for acquisition of Company shares by the 

beneficiaries. 

According to the provisions of article 49 of L. 4548/2018, as in effect, following approval of 

the General Meeting, the CompanyΩǎ Board of Directors may decide to acquire, through 

ATHEX, its treasury shares provided that the nominal value of the acquired shares, including 

the shares acquired previously and maintained by the Company, does not exceed 10% of its 

paid up share capital.    

 

The Regular General Meeting as of July 8, 2020 decided to renew the share buyback program 

by the Company through ATHEX until the completion of 10% of the paid up share capital of 

the Company, for the purpose, established in  article 49,  L. 4548/2018 as amended and 

effective, Regulation (EU)596/2014 of the European Parliament and authorised Regulation 

(EU)2016/1052 of the European Committee, until July 7, 2022, at a minimum purchase price 

of thirty cents (Euro 0.30) and a maximum price of thirty (Euro 30) per share and authorized 

the Board of Directors to implement the aforementioned decision.   

 

i) Significant agreements put into effect, amended or terminated in case of change in control 

following a takeover bid.  

 

There are no agreements, which are put into effect, amended, or terminated in case of change 

ƛƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ŀ ǘakeover bid.  
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j) Agreements with the Members of the Board ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 9ƳǇƭƻȅŜŜǎ  

 

There are no agreements of the Company with members of its Board of Directors or its 

employees, which include  payment of indemnity, specifically in case of resignation or 

termination without reasonable cause or termination of term or employment due to a 

takeover bid.  
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Dear Shareholders, 
 
2020 was a year during which the Group continued its stable trend of development. Moreover, 
the Group carefully continues implementing its investment plan,  simultaneously maintaining 
adequate liquidity. 
 
We would like to express our thanks to the Board or Directors, our Staff, Executives and 
Partners for their contribution to our work. 
 
We also thank our Customers, Suppliers and cooperating Banks and of course you, our  
Shareholders, for your trust in us. 
 
The Board of Directors unanimously approves the above Management Report to be submitted 
to the Annual Regular General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
 
 
Athens, 27 April 2021 
On behalf of the Board of Directors, 
 
 
 
George Peristeris 
Chairman of the Board of Directors & Chief Executive Officer   
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III. Lb59t9b59b¢ !¦5L¢hwΩ{ w9thw¢   

(This report has been translated from the Greek Original Version) 

 

To the Shareholders of ñGEK TERNA SOCIETE ANONYME HOLDING REAL ESTATE 

CONSTRUCTIONSò  

 

Report on the Audit of the separate and consolidated Financial Statements  

Opinion  

We have audited the accompanying separate and consolidated financial statements of 

GEK TERNA SOCIETE ANONYME HOLDING REAL ESTATE CONSTRUCTIONS (the 

Company) and its subsidiaries, which comprise the separate and consolidated statements 

of financial position as at December 31, 2020, the separate and consolidated statements 

of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and cash flow statements for 

the year then ended, including a summary of significant accounting policies and selected 

explanatory notes. 

In our opinion, the accompanying separate and consolidated financial statements present 

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries 

(the Group) as of December 31, 2020, and of their financial performance and their cash 

flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), as 

incorporated into the Greek Legislation. Our responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the ñAuditorôs Responsibilities for the Audit of the separate and 

consolidated Financial Statementsò section of our report. We were independent of the 

Company and its subsidiaries, during the whole period of our audit, in accordance with the 

International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants ñCode of Ethics for Professional 

Accountantsò as incorporated into the Greek Legislation and we have fulfilled our ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with current legislation requirements and the aforementioned 

Code of Ethics.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of materï Event after the reporting date 

We draw your attention to Note 51 ñEvents after the reporting date of the Statement of 

Financial Positionò of the accompanying financial statements, which describes the 

unprecedented extreme weather conditions on February of 2021 in Texas USA and their 

effects in the Groupôs operations. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter. 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 

significance in our audit of the separate and the consolidated financial statements of the 

current year. These matters and the related risks of material misstatement were addressed 

in the context of our audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements as a whole, 

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 

matters. 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Revenue from construction contracts 

The Group's turnover amounted to ú 971.3 million 

for the year ended as at 31st December 2020 and is 

derived from different operating segments. Each 

operating segment includes different revenue 

streams whose recognition involves different level 

of complexity and judgements by Management.  

Revenue from operating segment ñConstruction 

Contractsò amounted to ú 498.3 million and it has 

been identified as an area of particular audit interest 

due to the significance of the item in the financial 

statements, as it involves complexity associated 

with particular accounting treatment in accordance 

with IFRS, judgments and Managementôs 

estimates, which involve a degree of uncertainty.   

Revenue from construction contracts are 

recognized in accordance with IFRS 15 using the 

completion rate method, calculated on the basis of 

the contractual cost incurred up to the date of the 

Statement of Financial Position in relation to the 

total estimated cost of construction of every project.  

Groupôs disclosures regarding the accounting 

policies of revenue recognition and Managementôs 

judgements and estimates used for revenues, as 

well as the assessment of the impact of the 

application of IFRS 15 as well, are included in the 

notes 3.2(i), 4.20 and 6 of the financial statements. 

The key audit procedures we carried out included, 

among others:  

Å Understanding of the internal controls which 

have been designed by Management, relating 

to the revenue recognition of each operating 

segment.  

Å  Evaluation of the terms of contracts and 

budget data used for calculations of revenue 

recognition from construction contracts. 

Å Evaluation of assumptions used for revenue 

recognition from construction contracts and 

reassessment of the completion rate of the 

performance obligations 31st December 2020.  

Å Testing on a sample basis of the actual 

construction costs recognized during the 

current year, with the relevant documents. 

Å  Assessment of adequacy of the disclosures 

included in the notes to financial statement 

regarding this matter.  

 

Assessment of impairment of non-current assets 

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recognized 

goodwill of ú 3.0 million, intangible assets with 

definite useful life of ú 740.8 million and property, 

plant and equipment of ú 1,493.6 million. Also, as 

at 31 December 2020, the Company holds 

investments in subsidiaries of ú 282.8 million and 

investments in associates and joint ventures 

amounting to ú 4.8 million and ú 4.9 million 

respectively.   

In accordance with IFRS, intangible assets with 

definite useful life, property, plant and equipment 

and investments in subsidiaries, associates and 

joint ventures are tested for impairment whenever 

there are relevant indications.  The 

The key audit procedures we carried out included, 

among others:   

Å Evaluation of procedures used by the 

Management to identify indications of 

impairment of non-current assets. 

Å Evaluation of the procedures used by the 

Management in order to prepare reliable 

business plans. 

Å For those CGUs that impairment indications 

existed, evaluation of: i) the appropriateness of 

the methods applied for the identification of 

recoverable amount and ii) the reasonableness 

of the key assumptions and estimates of future 

cash flows. 
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abovementioned assessment requires significant 

level of judgement. 

The impairment test requires the identification of 

the recoverable amount of each Cash Generating 

Unit (CGU) as the higher of the fair value less 

costs to sell and value in use. Fair value 

calculation is based on acceptable valuation 

methods while the assessment of value in use is 

derived from the discounted cash flow method 

based on business plans which include key 

assumptions and Management estimates such as 

revenue growth, capital and operating costs and 

discount rates used. 

The assessment requires judgement by 

Management regarding the future cash flows of 

each CGU (relating to variables as revenue 

growth rate, capital and operating expenditures 

and the requirements of the relevant legal 

framework affecting their operation) and the 

discount rates applied to future cash flows. 

Given the significance of the aforementioned 

items and the use of the Management's 

assumptions and estimates, we consider the 

assessment of impairment of those non-current 

assets to be one of the key audit matters.  

The Groupôs and Companyôs disclosures 

regarding the accounting policy and assumptions 

and estimates used in assessing any impairment 

of these assets are included in Notes 3.1(ii), 

3.2(vi), 4.9, 7.5, 8, 10, 12, 13 and 14 to financial 

statements.  

Å Review of the mathematical precision of 

discounted cash flow models. 

Å For the abovementioned procedures where it 

was deemed appropriate, we used Grant 

Thorntonôs specialist contribution. 

Å Assessment of adequacy of the disclosures 

included in the notes to financial statements 

regarding this matter.   
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Provisions and contingent liabilities   

As at 31 December 2020, the Group and the 

Company are involved (under their capacity 

as defendant and plaintiff) in various and 

complex court cases and arbitration 

procedures during their normal operations. 

The recognition and measurement of 

provisions , as well as the measurement and 

disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities related to court cases and 

arbitration procedures includes significant 

judgements made by Management which 

take into consideration the estimates of its 

legal advisors. The estimates relate to the 

outcome and the possible financial impact of 

each case to the Group and the company. 

As a result we considered this area as one 

of the key audit matters. 

 The Groupôs and Companyôs disclosures 

regarding provisions and contingent 

liabilities are included in Notes 3.2(xii)), 

4.19, 28 and 50 to financial statements.  

The key audit procedures we carried out 

included, among others:  

Å Evaluation of the Managementôs procedures 

regarding collecting, monitoring and 

evaluating the outcome of pending litigations.  

Å Review and evaluation of the legal 

consultantsô letters and discussions with the 

Management and legal consultants where 

necessary.  

Å Evaluation of Managementôs conclusions 

regarding the impact of pending litigations on 

the financial statement of the Group and the 

Company.   

Å Assessment of adequacy of the disclosures 

recorded in financial statements regarding 

this matter.  

 

Other Information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information, included in 

the Annual Management Report of the Board of Directors, for which reference is also made 

in section ñReport on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirementsò, and the Representations 

of the Members of the Board of Directors, but does not include the financial statements 

and the auditorôs report thereon. 

Our opinion on the separate and consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements, our 

responsibility is to read the other information, and in doing so, consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent with the separate and consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If we conclude, based on our audit, that there is a material misstatement therein, 

we are required to communicate that matter. We have nothing to report, regarding the 

aforementioned matter.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the separate 
and consolidated Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate and 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with the IFRSs as adopted by the 

European Union and for such internal control as Management determines is necessary to 
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enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

 In preparing the separate and consolidated financial statements, Management is 

responsible for assessing the Companyôs and Groupôs ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to liquidate the Company or the 

Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Audit Committee (art. 44 Law 4449/2017) of the Company is responsible for 

overseeing the Companyôs and Groupôs financial reporting process.  

 

Auditorôs Responsibilities for the Audit of the separate and consolidated Financial 
Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate and 

consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditorôs report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs, as incorporated into the Greek Legislation, will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users, taken on the basis of these separate and 

consolidated financial statements. 

 As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, as incorporated into the Greek Legislation, 

we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 

audit. We also: 

Å Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate and 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

Å Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companyôs and Groupôs 

internal control.  

Å Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by Management. 

Å Conclude on the appropriateness of Managementôs use of the going concern basis 

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Companyôs or Groupôs ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditorôs 

report to the related disclosures in the separate and consolidated financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
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auditorôs report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company of 

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

Å Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate and 

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 

separate and consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Å Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 

of the entities or business activities within the Group to express audit opinion on 

the separate and consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 

all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

 From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the separate and consolidated 

financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

1.Management Report of the Board of Directors  

Taking into consideration that Management is responsible for the preparation of the 

Management Report of the Board of Directors which also includes the Corporate 

Governance Statement, according to the provisions of paragraph 5 of article 2 of Law 

4336/2015 (part B), we note the following:  

a. The Management Report of the Board of Directors includes a Corporate 

Governance Statement that provides the information required by Article 152 of 

Codified Law 4548/2018.  

b. In our opinion, the Management Report of the Board of Directors has been 

prepared in accordance with the legal requirements of articles 150-151 and 153-

154 and paragraph 1 (cases c and d) of Article 152 of the Codified Law 4548/2018 

and the content of the report is consistent with the accompanying financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2020.  

c. Based on the knowledge we obtained during our audit of the Company ñGEK 

TERNA SOCIETE ANONYME HOLDING REAL ESTATE CONSTRUCTIONSò and 

its environment, we have not identified any material misstatements in the 

Management Report of the Board of Directors. 
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2. Complementary Report to the Audit Committee  

Our audit opinion on the accompanying separate and consolidated financial statements is 

consistent with the complementary report to the Companyôs Audit Committee, in 

accordance with Article 11 of the European Union (EU) Regulation 537/2014. 

3.Non-audit Services  

We have not provided to the Company and its subsidiaries any prohibited non-audit 

services referred to in Article 5 of EU Regulation 537/2014. The permitted non-audit 

services that we have provided to the Company and its subsidiaries during the year ended 

December 31, 2020, are disclosed in note 38 of the accompanying separate and 

consolidated financial statements. 

4. Auditorôs Appointment 

We have been appointed as joint statutory auditors by the Annual General Meeting of the 

Company on 28.06.2017. Since then, we have been appointed as joint statutory auditors 

for a total period of four (4) years based on the decisions of the shareholderôs Annual 

General Meetings. 

   

Athens, 27st April 2021 

The Chartered Accountant 

 

 

Dimitra Pagoni 

I.C.P.A. Reg. No 30821 
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IV. ANNUAL SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED FOR THE PERIOD ENDED AS AT 

DECEMBER 31 2020 (1 January - 31 December 2020) 

 

Under the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European 

Union   

 

The attached  Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors of GEK TERNA 

SOCIETE ANONYME HOLDINGS REAL ESTATE CONSTRUCTIONS at its meeting held as at 27 

April, 2021 and have been posted on the internet at the website   http:// www.gekterna.com 

ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ !ǘƘŜƴǎ {ǘƻŎƪ 9ȄŎƘŀƴƎŜΩǎ ǿŜōǎite. 

The Annual Financial Statements of the consolidated subsidiaries, as provided by the Hellenic 

Capital Market Commission decision 8/754/14.04.2006, are available on the Internet at the 

website   http:// www.gekterna.com.    
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS OF 31 DECEMBER 

2020 

  GROUP  COMPANY 

 Note 31.12.2020 31.12.2019  31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

       

Non-current assets       

Intangible fixed assets 8 740,768 754,958  111 140 

Right of use assets 9 20,692 34,664  370 458 

Tangible fixed assets 10 1,493,649 1,670,747  8,339 8,777 

Goodwill 7 3,025 3,025  0 0 

Investment property 11 36,043 40,916  8,347 9,536 

Participations in subsidiaries 5,12 0 0  282,767 264,731 

Participations in associates 5,13 1,126 1,152  4,800 4,800 

Participations in joint ventures 5,14 90,131 49,394  4,896 5,104 

Financial Assets - Concessions 15 46,952 44,408  0 0 

Investment in equity interests 21 66,620 65,434  65,362 64,752 

Other long-term assets 16 63,968 88,977  118,816 178,964 

Receivables from derivatives 32 191,734 188,635  0 0 

Deferred Tax Assets 35 81,594 71,228  0 0 

Total non-current assets  2,836,302 3,013,538  493,808 537,262 

       
Current assets       

Inventories 17 51,125 57,609  2,771 3,710 

Trade receivables 18 231,046 297,595  2,978 2,636 

Receivables from contracts with 
customers 

19 117,988 98,538  50 177 

Advances and other receivables  20 242,892 194,274  25,868 55,681 

Income tax receivables  20,921 30,772  4,222 3,757 

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit & loss 

22 7,811 3,407  5,598 3,407 

Short-term part of receivables from 
derivatives 

32 19,220 18,865  0 0 

Cash and cash equivalents 6,23 1,108,417 594,671  466,094 77,939 

Total current assets  1,799,420 1,295,731  507,581 147,307 

TOTAL ASSETS  4,635,722 4,309,269  1,001,389 684,569 

       
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       

Share capital 33 58,951 58,951  58,951 58,951 

Share premium account  381,283 381,283  202,774 202,774 

Reserves 34 474,523 408,005  55,850 54,877 

Retained earnings  (402,514) (352,318)  36,156 (24,616) 

Total equity attributable to the 
owners of parent 

 512,243 495,921  353,731 291,986 

Non-controlling interests  311,625 270,954  0 0 

Total equity  823,868 766,875  353,731 291,986 
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Non-current liabilities       

Long-term loans 24 2,198,693 1,788,773  615,008 339,241 

Liabilities from leases 25 15,295 13,614  297 383 

Equity investments equivalent to 
financial liabilities 

26 236,184 324,407  0 0 

Other long-term liabilities 31 161,225 75,335  14,972 13,934 

Other provisions 28 33,095 35,316  0 0 

Provisions for staff leaving 
indemnities  

27 6,483 7,402  156 164 

Grants 29 102,266 154,699  0 0 

Liabilities from derivatives 32 214,066 202,559  0 0 

Deferred tax liabilities 35 42,959 41,777  2,727 4,838 

Total non-current liabilities  3,010,266 2,643,882  633,160 358,560 

       

Current liabilities       
Suppliers 30 222,749 264,344  1,983 1,870 

Short term loans 24 116,505 130,598  0 0 

Long term liabilities payable during 
the next financial year 

24 109,958 105,123  8,538 12,118 

Short-term part liabilities from leases 25 3,700 10,175  89 83 

Liabilities from contracts with 
customers 

19 186,813 203,658  131 564 

Short-term part of equity interests 
having a substance of financial 
liability 

26 45,079 51,365  0 0 

Accrued and other short term 
liabilities 

31 79,003 99,599  3,743 19,388 

Short-term part of liabilities from 
derivatives 

32 27,023 29,578  0 0 

Income tax payable  10,758 4,072  14 0 

Total Liabilities 
 801,588 898,512  14,498 34,023 

       
Total Liabilities  3,811,854 3,542,394  647,658 392,583 

       

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
4,635,722 4,309,269  1,001,389 684,569 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  2020 

  GROUP  COMPANY 

 Note 
1.1-

31.12.2020 
1.1-

31.12.2019  
1.1-

31.12.2020 
1.1-

31.12.2019 

       

Turnover 6,36 971,305 1,155,739  6,266 5,721 

Cost of sales 37 (756,476) (919,263)  (7,697) (4,866) 

Gross profit/(loss)  214,829 236,476  (1,431) 855 

Administrative and distribution expenses 37 (79,489) (75,658)  (11,864) (6,478) 

Research and development expenses 37 (4,516) (3,931)  (439) (641) 

Other income/(expenses) 39 14,283 (3,162)  1,192 (1,357) 

Results before taxes, financing and investing 
activities 

 145,107 153,725  (12,542) (7,621) 

Net financial income/(expenses) 43 (99,467) (72,267)  (3,204) (7,346) 

Profit / (loss) from sale of participations and 
securities 

40 27,194 (520)  73,438 172 

Profit / (loss) from valuation of participations 
and securities 

41 (1,808) 3,386  (23,598) (4,547) 

Income / (losses) from participations and other 
securities 

42 856 1,408  24,354 1,824 

Profit / (loss) from the consolidation of 
associates under the equity method 

5,13 (1) (214)  0 0 

Profit / (loss) from the consolidation of joint 
ventures under the equity method 

5,14 (452) (7,700)  0 0 

Earnings/(Losses) before taxes 6 71,429 77,817  58,448 (17,518) 

Income tax 35 (13,358) (22,086)  2,324 5,307 

Net Earnings/(losses) after taxes 6 58,071 55,731  60,772 (12,211) 

       
Other Comprehensive Income/(Expenses)       

a) Amounts that will be reclassified in the 
Income Statement of subsequent periods 

      

Proportion in Other comprehensive income of 
joint ventures 

5,14 0 16  0 0 

Cash flow hedges       

-Gain/(Losses) current period 32 (7,533) (25,592)  0 0 

-Reclassifications adjustments in Income 
Statement 

7.3,32 6,511 0  0 0 

Translation differences from incorporation of 
foreign entities 

      

-Gain/(Losses) current period  (7,556) 214  0 0 

-Reclassifications adjustments in Income 
Statement 

 (65) 0  0 0 

Tax corresponding to the above results 35 3,024 2,751  0 0 

Total  (5,619) (22,611)  0 0 
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b) Other Comprehensive Income/(expenses)  
that will be  not transferred to Income 
Statement in subsequent periods 

      

Valuation of investments  in equity interests 21 646 16,703  844 16,703 

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit 
pension plan 

27 121 (333)  (4) (22) 

Proportion in Other comprehensive income of 
associates 

5,13 (25) (533)  0 0 

Proportion in Other comprehensive income of 
joint ventures 

5,14 37 (5)  0 0 

Tax corresponding to the above results 35 (175) (2,799)  (202) (3,072) 

Total  604 13,033  638 13,609 

Net Other Comprehensive Income  (5,015) (9,578)  638 13,609 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  53,056 46,153  61,410 1,398 

       

Net earnings/(losses) attributed to:       

Shareholders of the parent 33 12,461 23,457    

Non-controlling interests  45,610 32,274    

       

Total comprehensive income/(losses) 
attributed to: 

      

Shareholders of the parent  8,004 15,487    

Non-controlling interests  45,052 30,666    

       
Basic Earnings/(losses) per share (in Euro) 33 0.12854 0.23937    

Diluted Earnings/(losses) per share (in Euro) 33 0.12854 0.23937    

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 












































































































































































































































































































































































































































